SARCOPENIA - AGREEMENT AND ASSOCIATION WITH FALLS

SARCOPENIA IN THE CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL STUDY ON AGING: THE IMPACT OF DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA ON THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN DEFINITIONS AND THE ASSOCIATION OF SARCOPENIA WITH FALLS

By ALEXANDRA J. MAYHEW, BASc, MSc

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Alexandra J. Mayhew, December 2019

McMaster University

DOCTOR OF PHILOSPHY (2019)

Hamilton, Ontario (Health Research Methodology)

TITLE: Sarcopenia in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging: The impact of diagnostic criteria on the agreement between definitions and the association of sarcopenia with falls

AUTHOR: Alexandra J. Mayhew, BASc (University of Guelph), MSc (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Parminder Raina

NUMBER OF PAGES: xx, 240

Lay Abstract

Definitions for sarcopenia differ in terms of which muscle variables are included, how muscle mass is adjusted, and which cut offs to use for each variables. This thesis assessed the impact of different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia on the proportion of sarcopenic participants, agreement between definitions, and the strength of the association between sarcopenia and falls. The variables used to operationalize sarcopenia as well as different techniques for adjusting muscle mass resulted in poor agreement between definitions. In males, these factors impacted which definitions were significantly associated with falls, and in females, sarcopenia was not associated with falls for any definition. For all definitions, sarcopenia status poorly discriminated between those that would or would not fall. Together, these results show that different sarcopenia definitions are not equivalent and that a standard definition is required. However, this thesis also shows that more work is required to determine the clinical utility of sarcopenia.

Abstract

Objectives: Sarcopenia is defined using a variety of different muscle variables, muscle mass adjustment techniques and cut offs for each variable. The objectives of this thesis were to assess how operational differences in sarcopenia definitions impact the agreement between definitions and the association between sarcopenia and health outcomes such as falls.

Methods: A list of sarcopenia definitions was developed which captured the combinations of muscle variables, muscle mass adjustment techniques, and cut offs used in the literature based on a systematic review conducted for this thesis. These definitions were applied to participants taking part in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging, a national study of participants aged 45 to 85 years at baseline. The agreement between the definitions and the association of each definition with falls was assessed.

Findings: Both the combination of muscle variables as well as the different muscle mass adjustment techniques generally had limited agreement. Sarcopenia definitions including muscle mass and muscle strength were associated with falls in males, but none of the sarcopenia definitions were associated with falls in females. Area under the curve analyses revealed that even sarcopenia definitions associated with more than two times the odds of falling in males, had a small impact on identifying fallers with values ≤ 0.56 .

Conclusions: The results of this thesis show that the existing range of definitions used to define sarcopenia are not equivalent based on the limited agreement and inconsistent association of sarcopenia with falls. The results also show that sarcopenia may have limitations as clinically useful diagnosis for identifying fallers with area under the curve values for all definitions showing that the identification of fallers based on sarcopenic status was at best, modestly better than chance alone.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Dr. Raina for his outstanding mentorship and commitment to my professional and personal growth. It has been a privilege to work with a supervisor so dedicated to providing the environment required for his students to achieve their full potential. I thank him for the generosity of his time, sharing his incredible wealth of knowledge, and for never letting me compromise my standards.

I am grateful to all of those with whom I have had the pleasure to work with during this time. Each member of my thesis committee, Dr. Russell de Souza, Dr. Gianni Parise, Dr. Lehana Thabane, and Dr. Paul McNicholas, has provided me with an abundance of guidance and strengthened my understanding of research methods and statistical analyses. I would also like to thank my colleagues, Dr. Stuart Phillips for lending his muscle expertise to these projects, Dr. Lauren Griffith for the countless conversations about statistical techniques and for being a wonderful role model, Dr. Nazmul Sohel for sharing his knowledge of coding, and both Krystal Amog and Donna Fitzpatrick-Lewis for their invaluable assistance with my systematic review. I thank my colleagues at the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging for the stimulating discussions and for making the office such an enjoyable place to work. I am thankful for Dr. Steven Hanna for helping me to navigate the early challenges in my career and to Lorraine Carroll and Kristina Vukelic for the administrative support.

Thank you to my parents who provided me with the foundation necessary to have enjoyed the opportunity of pursuing a doctorate and for their continued support throughout my time as a student. I am appreciative of my brother, extended family, and in-laws for taking a sincere interest in my work and for cheering me on every step of the way. The years have been far more enjoyable thanks to my dear friends who have provided ample advice and many welcome distractions.

I would like to express my most heartfelt appreciation to Alexander Jensen for being my partner during my graduate school journey and in life. Words will never adequately capture how grateful I am for his endless encouragement and for the sacrifices he has so willingly made to support me as I pursue my dreams. Lastly, thank you to Logan Jensen for being a source of immeasurable joy.

Table of Contents

Lay Abstract	iii
Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	
List of Figures	xiii
List of Tables	xiv
List of Appendices	
List of Abbreviations	
Declaration of Academic Achievement	xviii

Chapter 1 - Introduction
Literature Review
Sarcopenia definitions
Development of muscle cut offs10
Prevalence of sarcopenia according to different definitions14
The agreement between sarcopenia definitions18
Association between sarcopenia and falls
References
Table 1. Measures included in the sarcopenia expert group consensus definitions42
Figure 1. Overview of how individual chapters support overall thesis objectives

Chapter 2: A systematic review and meta-analyses of sarcopenia prevalence44

Abstract	47
Introduction	49
Methods	50
Data sources and searches	

Study selection	.51
Results	.53
Discussion	.57
Conclusions	.61
References	.62
Table 1. Summary of study characteristics	.66
Table 2. Overall sarcopenia prevalence estimates	.74
Table 3. Sarcopenia prevalence stratified by definition and age groups	.75
Table 4. Sarcopenia prevalence stratified by definition and muscle mass measure groups	576
Supplementary Appendices	.77

Chapter 3: Proportion of sarcopenic participants and agreement between sarcopenia definitions

sarcopenia definitions
Context and background
Abstract
Introduction
Methods
Results
Discussion
Table 1. Participant characteristics 105
Table 2. Agreement between low muscle mass and grip strength versus low muscle massand gait speed for different methods of adjusting muscle mass107
Figure 1. Percentage of males with sarcopenia using 20th percentile cut offs
Figure 2. Percentage of females with sarcopenia using 20th percentile cut offs
Figure 3. Agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass for different combinations of muscle mass variables in males
Figure 4. Agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass for different combinations of muscle mass variables in females
Supplementary Material

Supplementary Table 1. The percentage of male participants identified as sarcopenic for each combination of muscle variables, adjustment techniques for muscle mass, and the 10 th , 20 th , and 40 th percentile cut offs, stratified by age group112
Supplementary Table 2. The percentage of female participants identified as sarcopenic for each combination of muscle variables, adjustment techniques for muscle mass, and the 10 th , 20 th , and 40 th percentile cut offs, stratified by age group115
Supplementary Table 3. Agreement (Cohen's kappa) between sarcopenia definitions including muscle mass and grip strength and muscle mass and gait speed by each muscle mass adjustment technique
Supplementary Table 4. Agreement between muscle mass adjustment techniques in males stratified by age and muscle variables used to operationalize sarcopenia120
Supplementary Table 5. Agreement between muscle mass adjustment techniques in females stratified by age and muscle variables used to operationalize sarcopenia123
Supplementary Figure 1. Percentage of males with sarcopenia using 10 th percentile cut offs
Supplementary Figure 2. Percentage of males with sarcopenia using 40 th percentile cut offs
Supplementary Figure 3. Percentage of females with sarcopenia using 10 th percentile cut offs
Supplementary Figure 4. Percentage of females with sarcopenia using 40th percentile cut offs

Chapter 4: The association of sarcopenia with falls	
Context and background	131
Abstract	133
Introduction	135
Methods	137
Results	141
Discussion	143
Conclusions	147
Table 1. Low muscle mass cut offs	157

Table 2. Participant characteristics 158
Table 3. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia
Table 4. Association between sarcopenia and falls in females using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia
Supplementary Material161
Supplementary Table 1. Participant characteristics – weighted data161
Supplementary Table 2. Area under the curve statistics for sarcopenia definitions using the outcomes of one or more falls and two or more falls
Supplementary Table 3. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia
Supplementary Table 4. Association between sarcopenia and falls in females using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia
Supplementary Table 5. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia – males, completers only anaylses without multiple imputation
Supplementary Table 6. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia, completers only anaylses without multiple imputation
Supplementary Table 7. Percentage of underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obese participants for each method of adjusting for low muscle mass using the 20 th percentile cut offs
Supplementary Table 8. Number of male participants with zero, one, or two or more falls stratified by sarcopenia status
Supplementary Table 9. Number of female participants with zero, one, or two or more falls stratified by sarcopenia status

Chapter 5: Age stratification using the residual adjustment technique for muscle

mass	
Context and background	
Abstract	
Background	

Methods196
Results
Discussion
Conclusions
Acknowledgements
References
Table 1. Strategies for operationalizing low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass 212
Table 2. Participant characteristics 213
Figure 1. Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in males by age group when the residuals are calculated in all participants
Figure 2. Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in males by age group when the residuals are calculated after age stratification
Figure 3. Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in females by age group when the residuals are calculated in all participants
Figure 4. Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in females by age group when the residuals are calculated after age stratification
Figure 5. Percentage of participants with low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass

Chapter 6: Conclusions	218
Overview	218
Selection of sarcopenia definitions	220
Key findings	223
Clinical implications	227
Strengths and limitations	228
Opportunities for future research	231
References	235
Table 1. Mean values for anthropometric measures, grip strength, and gait speed in European and non-European males and females	240

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Overview of how individual chapters support overall thesis objectives	43
Figure 3.1	Percentage of males with sarcopenia using 20 th percentile cut offs	108
Figure 3.2	Percentage of females with sarcopenia using 20 th percentile cut offs	109
Figure 3.3	Agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass for different combinations of muscle mass variables in females	110
Figure 3.4	Agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass for different combinations of muscle mass variables in females	111
Figure 5.1	Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in males by age group when the residuals are calculated in all participants	215
Figure 5.2	Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in males by age group when the residuals are calculated after age stratification	215
Figure 5.3	Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in females by age group when the residuals are calculated in all participants	216
Figure 5.4	Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height ² and fat mass in females by age group when the residuals are calculated after age stratification	216
Figure 5.5	Percentage of participants with low muscle mass adjusted for height ² and fat mass	217

List of Tables

Table 1.1	Measures included in the sarcopenia expert group consensus definitions	42
Table 2.1	Summary of study characteristics	66
Table 2.2	Overall sarcopenia prevalence estimates	74
Table 2.3	Sarcopenia prevalence stratified by definition and age groups	75
Table 2.4	Sarcopenia prevalence stratified by definition and muscle mass measure groups	76
Table 3.1	Participant characteristics	105
Table 3.2	Agreement between low muscle mass and grip strength versus low muscle mass and gait speed for different methods of adjusting muscle mass	107
Table 4.1	Low muscle mass cut offs	157
Table 4.2	Participant characteristics	158
Table 4.3	Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia	159
Table 4.4	Association between sarcopenia and falls in females using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia	160
Table 5.1	Strategies for operationalizing low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass	212
Table 5.2	Participant characteristics	213
Table 6.1	Mean values for anthropometric measures, grip strength, and gait speed in European and non-European males and females	240

List of Appendices

Supplementary Appendices 2.1	Reference provided to tables and figures online	. 77
Supplementary Table 3.1	The percentage of male participants identified as sarcopenic for each combination of muscle variables, adjustment techniques for muscle mass, and the 10 th , 20 th , and 40 th percentile cut offs, stratified by age group	112
Supplementary Table 3.2	The percentage of female participants identified as sarcopenic for each combination of muscle variables, adjustment techniques for muscle mass, and the 10 th , 20 th , and 40 th percentile cut offs, stratified by age group	115
Supplementary Table 3.3	Agreement (Cohen's kappa) between sarcopenia definitions including muscle mass and grip strength and muscle mass and gait speed by each muscle mass adjustment technique	118
Supplementary Table 3.4	Agreement between muscle mass adjustment techniques in males stratified by age and muscle variables used to operationalize sarcopenia	. 120
Supplementary Table 3.5	Agreement between muscle mass adjustment techniques in females stratified by age and muscle variables used to operationalize sarcopenia	. 123
Supplementary Figure 3.1	Percentage of males with sarcopenia using the 10 th percentile cut offs	126
Supplementary Figure 3.2	Percentage of males with sarcopenia using the 40 th percentile cut offs	127
Supplementary Figure 3.2	Percentage of females with sarcopenia using the 20 th percentile cut offs	128
Supplementary Figure 3.4	Percentage of females with sarcopenia using the 40 th percentile cut offs	. 129
Supplementary Table 4.1	Participant characteristics – weighted data	161

Supplementary Table 4.2	Area under the curve statistics for sarcopenia definitions using the outcomes of one or more falls and two or more falls
Supplementary Table 4.3	Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia 167
Supplementary Table 4.4	Association between sarcopenia and falls in females using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia 171
Supplementary Table 4.5	Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia – males, completers only analyses without multiple imputation
Supplementary Table 4.6	Association between sarcopenia and falls in females using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia – females, completers only analyses without multiple imputation
Supplementary Table 4.7	Percentage of underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obese participants for each method of adjusting for low muscle mass using the 20 th percentile cut offs
Supplementary Table 4.8	Number of male participants with zero, one, or two or more falls stratified by sarcopenia status
Supplementary Table 4.9	Number of female participants with zero, one, or two or more falls stratified by sarcopenia status

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation Definition

ALM	Appendicular lean mass
AWGS	Asian Working Group on Sarcopenia
AUC	Area under the curve
BIA	Bioelectric impedance analysis
BMI	Body mass index
CI	Confidence interval
CLSA	Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging
СТ	Computed tomography
DXA	Dual x-ray absorptiometry
EWGSOP	European Working Group on Sarcopenia
FNIH	Foundation for the National Institutes of Health
IL6	Interleukin 6
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IWGS	International Working Group on Sarcopenia
kg	Kilogram
m	Meter
m/s	Meters per second
MOOSE	Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
SPPB	Short Physical Performance Battery
ROB	Risk of bias

Declaration of Academic Achievement

This thesis has been conducted as a *sandwich thesis* and consists of four individual manuscripts. At the time of writing (October 2019), one of the four individual manuscripts (**Chapter 2**) has been accepted for publication and the remaining three individual manuscripts (**Chapters 3 through 5**) have been submitted for publication in peer-reviewed journals. The journal to which each paper has been submitted has been specified in the beginning of each chapter. The studies reported in these manuscripts were performed during the author's PhD program.

Alexandra Mayhew was the principal contributor to the conception of the research question and the design of the studies included in this thesis. The first manuscript included in this thesis (**Chapter 2**), a systematic review and meta-analyses of sarcopenia definition involved the following work: developing the research question, writing of the systematic review protocol, designing the systematic review search strategy, study eligibility criteria and data extraction forms, reviewing the studies for inclusion in the systematic review, data extraction, risk of bias assessment, qualitative and quantitative pooling of individual study data, and preparation and revisions of the manuscript. The work is primarily the undertaking of Alexandra Mayhew with guidance from Dr. Parminder Raina throughout the project. Donna Fitzpatrick Lewis provided support for the design of the systematic review search strategy, study eligibility criteria and data extraction forms. Krystal Amog completed study screening, data extraction, and risk of bias assessment in duplicate with Alexandra Mayhew. Thesis committee members, Drs. Russell de Souza, Paul McNicholas, Gianni Parise, and Lehana Thabane, as well as Dr. Stuart Phillips provided feedback throughout the project.

For the remainder of the manuscripts included in this thesis (**Chapters 3 through 5**), the following work was involved: Developing the research question and study protocols, applying for data, analyzing data, writing and revising the drafts of the manuscripts. The work is primarily the undertaking of Alexandra Mayhew with guidance from Drs. Parminder Raina and Stuart Phillips throughout the project. Dr. Nazmul Sohel assisted with coding for the data analyses. Thesis committee members, Drs. Russell de Souza, Paul McNicholas, Gianni Parise, and Lehana Thabane provided feedback throughout the project. **Chapters 1 and 6** are unpublished works for which Alexandra Mayhew is the sole author.

Given the common focus on sarcopenia definitions throughout this thesis, the reader will encounter some overlap between chapters. Specifically, the rationale for conducting each study was similar as all chapters seek to explore the similarities and differences in sarcopenia definitions. The methods regarding the development of the sarcopenia definitions overlap, as the technique for operationalizing sarcopenia was specifically developed for this thesis and was applied in **Chapters 3 through 5**. Data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging was used for analyses in **Chapters 3 through 5**, therefore there is overlap in the description of the study sample.

Following the introduction, each paper is included in a separate chapter focusing on a specific study. A concluding chapter summarizes the key findings of the study, the overall

implications for sarcopenia research, strengths and limitations of the work included in this thesis, and suggestions for directions for future research.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

Sarcopenia is the progressive decline in muscle mass, muscle strength, and muscle function that occurs with age. [1] Beginning in approximately the fifth decade of life, muscle mass declines 0.8% annually and strength between 1% and 3% annually. [2–4] The decrease in muscle mass, strength, and function characterized by sarcopenia is associated with significantly greater risk for poor health outcomes such as disability and functional impairments [5], falls [6–8], longer hospital stays [9], and mortality. [10, 11]

Since the term "sarcopenia" was first used in 1989, sarcopenia has transformed from an almost unheard of condition to being considered a significant health concern in older adults. [1, 12] Over the past three decades, one of the goals of sarcopenia researchers has been to have the condition recognized as a diagnosis distinct from other age related diseases. [13] In 2016, sarcopenia was introduced into the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, a critical step towards the ultimate goal of having physicians routinely diagnose and treat sarcopenia. [13, 14] Although sarcopenia is now recognized as a unique disease, there is a lack of consensus on how it should be defined, which impedes consistent clinical assessment, and complicates cross-study comparisons of published studies of incidence and prevalence.

Sarcopenia was originally defined as muscle mass only. [5, 15] Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is considered by many to be the reference standard for muscle mass measurement in sarcopenia studies. [16] Though the measures from DXA are referred to as muscle mass by the majority of the sarcopenia literature, DXA does not actually estimate

muscle mass. Instead DXA measures lean mass which includes not only muscle mass, but also water, organs, and all other non-bone and non-fat soft tissues and therefore is only a surrogate of muscle mass. [17] Using DXA, or alternatively bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA), the value of interest is appendicular lean mass (ALM) which refers to the lean mass present in the arms and legs. [5, 15] Based on evidence that muscle strength and physical function are more strongly associated with disability and mortality than muscle mass measured using ALM [5, 15], more recent expert group consensus definitions of sarcopenia have included measures of strength and/or function. [18-22] In addition to recommending the inclusion of different variables, the definitions also recommend different methods of adjusting muscle mass including dividing ALM by height, weight, and body mass index (BMI), as well as using the residual values after regressing ALM on height and fat mass. The cut offs recommended for identifying people with low muscle mass, strength, and physical function also differ by definition. [18–22] The sarcopenia definitions can therefore be categorized based on three components 1) which muscle variables are included; 2) the technique used to adjust muscle mass; and 3) the cut offs used for muscle mass.

Several studies have found that the prevalence of sarcopenia within the same sample differs based on which sarcopenia definition is used and that there tends to be low to modest agreement between definitions. [23–30] It also appears that the strength of the association between sarcopenia and health outcomes such as falls, is dependent on which definition of sarcopenia is used. [31–35] The majority of the sarcopenia definitions differ by more than one of the three components which makes it impossible for these studies to determine to

what extent each component of the definitions are influencing prevalence, agreement, and the strength of the association between sarcopenia and health. An additional challenge of comparing sarcopenia definitions is that not all methods of operationalizing sarcopenia are commonly used. Specifically, few studies have adjusted muscle mass for fat mass and height using regression, likely because interpreting the residuals is not as intuitive as the other muscle mass adjustment techniques. It is therefore not well understood how the regression adjustment technique compares to the other methods. [36] Furthermore, there is a paucity of guidance on how to use the regression technique when there are planned subgroup analyses. Greater understanding of this technique and how to apply it is necessary.

The lack of agreement between sarcopenia definitions is problematic from a research perspective because it is unclear how to interpret and synthesize results from studies using different definitions. It also makes translating research to clinical care difficult as it is unknown if a treatment shown to be effective based on one sarcopenia definition will have the same beneficial effect if a patient is diagnosed using a different definition. Working towards a unified definition for sarcopenia is a top priority in the sarcopenia research community. [22] To better understand how to interpret and synthesize results from studies using different definitions and work towards a unified definition of sarcopenia, it is necessary to understand the biological meaning of the individual components making up sarcopenia definitions.

The overall objectives of this thesis are to provide a greater understanding of how the operationalization of sarcopenia, specifically muscle measures and methods of adjusting

muscle mass, impact prevalence, agreement between definitions, and the strength of the association of sarcopenia with relevant health outcomes. **Figure 1** provides an overview of how each chapter of this thesis addresses the research objectives. The information in this thesis will provide a framework for the sarcopenia community as we move towards a unified definition of sarcopenia.

To accomplish these objective, a systematic review and meta-analyses was conducted to identify sarcopenia definitions currently used to characterise sarcopenia in communitydwelling older adults and to document the similarities and differences between prevalence estimates derived using different definitions. Using the combinations of muscle variables and methods of adjusting muscle mass captured by the systematic review, we developed a list of sarcopenia definitions that captured the range of ways sarcopenia has been operationalized in the literature. Sarcopenia was operationalized as low muscle mass alone, low muscle mass and low grip strength, and low muscle mass and low gait speed. For each combination, muscle mass was adjusted for height squared, weight, body mass index, and regressed on height and fat mass. Sex-specific cut offs corresponding to the 10th, 20th, and 40th percentiles of muscle mass in adults identifying as European and aged 65 years and older were included to capture the range of cut offs commonly used in the literature. Grip strength cut offs of <30kg, <27kg, and <26kg for males and <20kg and <16kg for females, and gait speed cut offs of <0.8 meters per second and <1.0 meters per second were selected based on the expert group consensus definition recommendations.

Data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) were used to assess the impact of different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia on the prevalence of sarcopenia,

the agreement between sarcopenia definitions, and the association of sarcopenia with falls. CLSA data were also used to explore different techniques of age stratification when using regression analyses to adjust muscle mass by height and weight. The CLSA is a national, longitudinal research platform that includes 51,338 participants aged 45 to 85 years at baseline from the ten Canadian provinces. Details on the study design have been described elsewhere. [37] Participants had to be physically and cognitively able to participate on their own and not living in institutions such as long term care. Of these participants, there are 21,241 participants in the Tracking cohort who were randomly selected from all ten provinces and were interviewed by phone. The remaining 30,097 participants are a part of the Comprehensive cohort and were randomly selected from participants living within 25 to 50 km of one of 11 Data Collection Sites located in seven provinces. The Comprehensive cohort participants are interviewed in-person and complete in-depth physical assessments at the Data Collection Sites as well as provide blood and urine samples. Data from the 30,907 participants in the Comprehensive cohort at baseline who provided physical assessment data were included in the analyses. The specific objectives of this thesis are:

- To assess the impact of different combinations of muscle mass, muscle strength, and muscle function, as well as different muscle mass adjustment techniques on the prevalence of sarcopenia
- 2. To determine the agreement between sarcopenia definitions operationalized using different combinations of muscle mass, muscle strength, and muscle function as well as the agreement using different muscle mass adjustment techniques

- 3. To assess the impact of different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia on the strength of the association between sarcopenia and falls
- 4. To provide guidance about how to stratify a sample by age when using the regression technique to adjust muscle mass for height and weight

Literature Review

Sarcopenia definitions

Muscle mass only definitions - Sarcopenia was first defined by Baumgartner in 1998 using appendicular lean mass (ALM) (kg/m²). ALM values of less than two standard deviations below a young, healthy population of approximately 30 years of age was considered sarcopenic. [15] In 2002, Janssen proposed that individuals be considered sarcopenic if ALM divided by weight (kg) values were one standard deviation below the sex-specific mean for young adults. [5] Based on the evolving evidence that muscle strength and function are more strongly associated with health outcomes [38], subsequent definitions of sarcopenia have included measures of strength and function.

Expert group consensus definitions

A summary of the measures recommended by each of the expert groups, the European Working Group on Sarcopenia (EWGSOP), the International Working Group on Sarcopenia (IWGS), the Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (FNIH), and the Asian Working Group on Sarcopenia (AWGS) consensus definitions are available in **Table 1**.

European Working Group on Sarcopenia - In 2010, the first of four sarcopenia consensus definitions was released by the EWGSOP. The EWGSOP definition recommends that low muscle mass as well as either low muscle strength or low physical performance be used to identify sarcopenia. The definition includes multiple different methods for measuring each muscle component. In research settings, the EWGSOP criteria recommend that muscle mass be measured using computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), DXA, BIA, or total or partial body potassium per fat-free soft tissue. It is recommended that muscle mass be adjusted by dividing by height² or regressing on fat mass and height. Muscle strength can be measured using one of three options; hand grip strength, knee flexion/extension or peak expiratory flow, and physical performance can be measured using the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB), usual gait speed, the timed get-upand-go test or the stair climb power test. However, in practice, the majority of studies applying the EWGSOP definition only include muscle mass measured using BIA or DXA, grip strength, and gait speed. [36] The EWGSOP definition includes references to commonly used cut offs in the literature, but also acknowledges that it may be more appropriate for studies to determine their own cut offs and references several studies which defined the lowest sex-specific quintile of the study sample as having low muscle mass. [19, 22]

In 2019, the EWGSOP guidelines were updated to better reflect the greater understanding of the role of muscle in health as well as in consideration of practical considerations for how sarcopenia can be measured in research and clinical settings. Specifically, based on substantial evidence that muscle strength is more strongly associated with function than

muscle mass, the revised EWGSOP2 definition considers people with low muscle strength as having probable sarcopenia which is then confirmed if low muscle mass is also present. [33] In contrast, the original EWGSOP definition defines pre-sarcopenia as having low muscle mass and sarcopenia when either low muscle strength or low physical performance are also present. This change has substantial benefits to clinicians as muscle strength is less expensive and easier to measure in comparison to muscle mass. Based on the new EWGSOP algorithm, only people with low muscle strength, operationalized as low grip strength or impaired performance on the five-times sit to stand chair rise test, require muscle mass measures. Like the original EWGSOP definition, there are several options for the measurement of muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical performance. Muscle strength can be measured using grip strength or the chair rise test. BIA, DXA, CT, and MRI are all accepted methods of measuring muscle mass. Though the new EWGSOP guidelines do not recommend one specific strategy, it is recognized that muscle mass should be adjusted for body size by dividing ALM by height², weight, or BMI. To determine the severity of sarcopenia, gait speed, the short physical performance battery, the timed up and go, or a 400 meter walk test can be used as measures of physical performance.

International Working Group on Sarcopenia - The next sarcopenia consensus definition was released in 2011 by the IWGS. The IWGS definition operationalizes sarcopenia as low muscle mass and low physical function. DXA is specifically recommended to measure muscle mass, though urinary creatinine, anthropometry, BIA, CT, MRI, ultrasound, total body potassium, and neutron activation are mentioned as measurement options. The definition recommends adjusting muscle mass for height using the cut offs of ≤ 7.23 kg/m² for males and ≤ 5.67 kg/m² for females. Other adjustment options are also discussed and there is a list of cut offs used in previous studies provided. For physical function, only the gait speed test using a four meter course is recommended with a cut off of less than 1.0 meters per second. [20]

Foundation for the National Institutes of Health - The FNIH released their consensus definition in 2014. Recognizing that there is not a strong causal pathway between muscle mass to strength to function, the FNIH definition was developed with the goal of aiding clinicians in making a differential diagnosis of people who have low physical function due to low muscle mass and strength (sarcopenia) versus those with low physical function due to other causes. Based on this goal, sarcopenia was defined as low muscle mass and low muscle strength. Unlike the EWGSOP and IWGS definitions which determine low muscle mass and strength based on the distribution of values in a young, healthy population, the FNIH conducted analyses to determine the optimal cut offs. [21] The FNIH pooled data from nine studies of community-dwelling older adults. Classification and Regression Tree analysis was used to determine the grip strength values which best classified individuals with walking speeds of less than 0.8m/s. [39] The resulting grip strength cut offs of 26kg for males and 16kg for males were then used in Classification and Regression Tree analysis to determine what low muscle mass cut offs best classified individuals with poor grip strength. [40] Both ALM and leg lean mass measured using DXA were tested without adjustment as well as adjusted for height, weight, height², BMI, and total body fat. Based on these analyses, two measures of muscle mass were recommended based on their ability to discriminate those with low grip strength. The first was unadjusted ALM using the cut offs of 19.75kg for males and 15.02kg for females and the second was ALM adjusted for BMI with cut offs of 0.789 for males and 0.512 for females. Though both measures are included in the definition guidelines, ALM adjusted for BMI is the preferred method. The FNIH also recommends adjusting grip strength for BMI with cut offs of <1.0 in males and <0.56 in females, [21] though this technique is not commonly used in practice. [36]

Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia - The AWGS definition released in 2014 uses the same algorithm as the EWGSOP. [18] The cut off values suggested in the EWGSOP have been shown to not be appropriate in Asian populations due to differences in ethnicity, body size, lifestyles, and cultural backgrounds. Consequently, the AWGS recommends Asian-specific cut offs for their variables. DXA and BIA are the recommended methods of measuring muscle mass. The AWGS definition recommends adjusting ALM by height² and using cut offs of 7.0kg/m² for males and 5.4kg/m² for females using DXA, and cut offs of 7.0kg/m² for males and 5.4kg/m² for females using DXA, and cut offs of recommended methods are the values corresponding to two standard deviations below the mean muscle mass of a young reference group. Grip strength is recommended as the measure of muscle strength with cut offs of 26kg for males and 18kg for females. The six meter walk test is suggested as the measure of physical function with a cut offs of 0.8 meters per second.

Development of muscle cut offs

Muscle strength and muscle function - Each expert group consensus definition includes recommended cut offs for tests such as muscle mass, grip strength, and gait speed. [18–22] With the exception of the FNIH definition which used Classification and Regression Tree

analysis to determine optimal grip strength and muscle mass values [39, 40], the other studies report cut offs based on the results of previous literature. There are two common cut offs recommended for grip strength in European studies. The grip strength values of 30kg and 20kg are based on the findings of the InCHIANTI study which randomly recruited 1,453 participants aged 20 to 102 years from Tuscany, Italy. [41] Receiver operator characteristic curves were used to determine the hand grip strength cut offs which optimally identified participants with gait speed values below 0.8 meters per second and unable to walk for 1km without difficulty. The cut offs for both outcomes were approximately 30kg for males and 20kg for females. The other commonly reported cut offs are 26kg for males and 16kg for females based on the FNIH definition. [39] An infrequently used set of cut offs for grip strength stratified by BMI based on the lowest quintile of values in the Cardiovascular Health Study are also suggested in the original EWGSOP definition. [19, 42] Due to grip strength values being lower in Asian populations compared to Europeans, the AWGS recommends cut offs of 26kg for males and 18kg for females, or for studies to consider the lowest quintile of the study group as having impaired grip strength. [18]

For gait speed, there are also two commonly used cut offs. The cut point of 1.0 meters per second is recommended by the original EWGSOP definition as well as the IWGS. [19, 20] The EWGSOP cites the Health ABC study for developing the cut point, while the IWGS does not provided a citation. The Health ABC study included 2,031 participants and found that a gait speed of less than 1.0 meters per second best categorized participants based on the rate of incident persistent lower extremity limitation events over five years. [43] The InCHIANTI study is referenced as the source for the 0.8 meters per second cut point, but it

is unclear how data from this study were used to determine the cut point. [41] The AWGS also recommends the use of the 0.8 meters per second cut off. [18] The EWGSOP recommends gait speed cut offs stratified by height with cut offs corresponding to the lowest 20th percentile of the Cardiovascular Health Study, though these cut offs are rarely used in research. [19, 42]

Muscle mass - There are a substantially greater number of cut offs recommended for muscle mass compared to grip strength and gait speed. Nearly all the cut offs are based on values a set number of standard deviations below a healthy young reference population or the values corresponding to the lowest sex-specific quantile of a study. [15, 44, 45] One set of cut offs for ALM adjusted for height² were developed using receiver operator curve analysis in older adults from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey to determine the values which classified participants according to their risk of disability. [46] Another set of cut offs is based on the change in muscle mass annually estimated using unadjusted ALM from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. [47] Due to lower muscle mass values observed in Asian populations compared to Europeans populations [48], the AWGS recommends different cut offs from ALM adjusted for height based on values two standard deviations below a healthy young reference population, though it is unclear what young healthy reference group is being used. [18] Reviewing the literature, numerous studies use cut offs other than those recommended by the expert group consensus definitions. [49–68]

The strategies used to develop low muscle mass cut offs in the sarcopenia literature are problematic. Thresholds which rely on the distribution of the study sample such as the lowest quantile approach may lack generalizability to other samples because the cut point lacks any clinical meaning. This is particularly problematic for studies which use linear regression to adjust ALM for height and fat mass. This technique uses the residual values, calculated as the actual ALM value minus the estimated ALM value to determine if the participant has low muscle mass. The residual value for each person is influenced by the regression equation developed in the sample. Unless two samples have identical distributions of ALM, height, and fat mass, the residuals developed in one sample do not have the same meaning as the residuals developed in another sample. Consequently, cut offs developed in one study cannot be used in another. This also has implications for studies that are stratified by other variables such as age. If stratification occurs before the residuals are calculated, the residuals between the two samples are no longer comparable and therefore the same cut point cannot be applied. Further discussion of this issue is required to promote the use of the regression adjustment technique.

Using a healthy young reference population to develop low muscle mass cut offs may also be problematic. Several studies have noted that using this technique to determine low muscle mass cut offs had let to marked differences in prevalence between males and females. [23, 26] In the study by Lee et al., a young, healthy sample was recruited into the study for the purpose of developing low muscle mass cut offs. The cut offs corresponded to the sex-specific 20th percentile values in the young adults for ALM adjusted for height² and ALM adjusted for weight. Only 6.7% of older females had low muscle mass based on ALM adjusted for height² versus 42.9% of males. Similarly, 32.9% of older females had low muscle mass based on ALM adjusted for weight versus 67.3% of males. It is assumed that the amount of lean mass relative to height and weight would be lower in older than in younger adults. However, the older women were 8cm shorter on average than the young women. To have the same mean ALM adjusted for height² values as the younger women, the older women would have to have 1.65kg less ALM on average. However, the older women only had 0.5kg less ALM on average than the younger women, explaining why the prevalence of low muscle mass was only 6.7%. Ideally, cut offs developed based on their ability to predict future relevant outcomes should be used, however there are a paucity of these cut offs in the literature.

Prevalence of sarcopenia according to different definitions

Many studies have reported on the prevalence of sarcopenia. Generally sarcopenia is estimated to affect between 1% and 29% of community-dwelling older adults, though some studies have found prevalence estimates as high as 70%. [69, 70] Due to the differences in participant characteristics such as the distribution of age and health status and the wide range of methods used to operationalize sarcopenia, it is difficult to make meaningful comparisons of prevalence between studies. Consequently, the most informative studies for understanding the impact of the method of operationalizing sarcopenia on prevalence are those that use multiple definitions within the same sample. When the same sample of participants is used, any differences in sarcopenia prevalence can be attributed to the definitions rather than to differences in participant characteristics.

Sixteen studies have compared multiple sarcopenia definitions within a sample of community-dwelling older adults. [23, 24, 26–30, 32–34, 71–76] In general, these studies

have found that even within the same sample, the difference in sarcopenia prevalence between definitions was quite large. Twelve out of Fourteen studies that included composite definitions (EWGSOP, FNIH, IWGS, and AWGS) generally found that prevalence was between 0% and 19%. [23, 24, 27-30, 32, 34, 71-76] One of the studies that fell outside of this range found that prevalence was between 7.5% and 45.6% which may be attributable to the unusually high percentage of participants with impaired muscle strength. [26] Approximately 50% of participants had low muscle strength using cut offs of <30kg for males and <20kg for females. This high prevalence may be attributable to the cut offs not being appropriate for Brazilians, or could be related to the specific protocol used to measure hand grip strength. [26] The other study found that prevalence was 31.9% for the EWGSOP definitions and 6.3 and 7.9% according to different FNIH definitions. [33] In this study, the mean gait speed was 0.79(0.25) meters per second which is lower than expected. A cut point of 0.8 m/s for gait speed was used with the EWGSOP definition which means that approximately 50% of participants would have been identified as having low gait speed. In combination with the more liberal muscle mass cut offs (≤ 7.26 kg/m² for males and ≤ 5.45 kg/m² for females) frequently used for the EWGSOP definition, the higher prevalence is accounted for.

Five studies operationalized sarcopenia as muscle mass only. [23, 30, 32, 34, 70] These studies found a wide range of prevalence estimates depending on how low muscle mass was operationalized. Bijlsma et al. found that between 0% and 31.4% of males and 0% and 19.8% of females were sarcopenic. [23] Of the eight definitions explored, the prevalence was lower than 5% for five of the definitions in males and six of the definitions in females,
even after limiting their sample to those aged 60 years and older. The low prevalence may be attributable to the use of BIA to measure muscle mass. Though the authors found that the intraclass correlation coefficients were >0.95 for muscle mass between DXA and BIA, this does not mean that the absolute values are comparable. Therefore applying DXA cut offs set at absolute (rather than relative measures) to BIA data may underestimate sarcopenia prevalence. Reijnierse et al. found that sarcopenia prevalence based on muscle mass only was between 0% and 14.9% for healthy older adults. [30] However, the recruitment strategy selected for healthier than average participants by excluding people with most co-morbidities. Consequently, lean mass, grip strength, and physical performance values were much higher than is typical within a population based sample of similarly aged adults. [77] The third study found that sarcopenia prevalence was between 17.6% and 61.4% for males and between 11.1% and 67.5% for females using nine different methods of operationalizing low muscle mass. [70] Unlike the other two studies, this study used a community-based sample of older adults and measured both DXA and BIA and used cut offs developed specifically for each measurement technique. The final two studies had more moderate estimates of sarcopenia prevalence of between 11.0% and 21.4. [32, 34]

Assessing prevalence across studies, it appears that sarcopenia prevalence is within a similar range regardless of if sarcopenia is operationalized as muscle mass only or as muscle mass with grip strength or gait speed. This is unexpected because the association between measures of grip strength and gait speed with muscle mass are relatively weak. [78, 79] Most of the composite definitions recommend the same muscle mass adjustment techniques and cut offs that are commonly utilized in muscle mass only definitions. [5, 15,

18–21] Therefore only a subset of participants with low muscle mass are also expected to have impaired strength or performance and it is expected that sarcopenia prevalence using composite definitions should be lower than muscle mass only definitions. Studies that have assessed both muscle only definitions as well as composite definitions show the expected trend and have found that sarcopenia prevalence is between 5% and 20% higher using muscle mass only definitions compared to composite definitions. [30, 32, 34, 70]

It is difficult to interpret sarcopenia prevalence estimates between studies for several reasons. Firstly, the study samples may not be comparable. Factors such as the age distribution and overall health of the study sample, as well as the ethnic groups included alter the expected values for measures of muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical function. [15, 80–82] Though we have limited our review to community-dwelling older adults, it is important to note that differences in sampling strategies such as convenience samples versus community-based samples may also influence prevalence. While both types of samples are susceptible to volunteer bias where the people who agree to participate are healthier on average than the population they are supposed to represent, the risk of underestimation of sarcopenia prevalence due to volunteer bias is higher in studies that use convenience samples. [83] For many sarcopenia studies, convenience samples are recruited by placing ads in places like community centres which may selectively recruit people with certain healthy behaviours.

Secondly, even within the same definition, there can be multiple methods of measuring the components of sarcopenia. For example, the new EWGSOP definition recommends using DXA, BIA, computerized tomography scans, or magnetic resonance imaging to measure

appendicular skeletal mass. Even if using the same method of measurement, problems may arise. Though DXA is used to estimate muscle mass by the majority of studies, estimates of body composition can differ depending on which brand of machine used. [84] Differences in body composition using the same machine brand have also been observed due to differ indicating challenges with calibration. [85] Muscle strength may be measured using grip strength or the chair rise test and gait speed and physical performance by the short physical performance battery, the timed up and go, or a 400 meter walk test. [22] Though in the literature each expert group consensus definition tends to be treated as a single method of operationalizing sarcopenia, there is poor agreement between who is considered sarcopenic using the different criteria. [24] Lastly, there are numerous cut offs suggested in the literature for identifying low muscle mass, strength, and physical function as well as many studies choosing their own. [18–22] Different cut offs have been shown to have a substantial impact on sarcopenia prevalence. [86] Multiple sources of differences in study samples and methods of operationalizing sarcopenia, are the reasons for differences in prevalence between studies.

The agreement between sarcopenia definitions

Many of the studies which have investigated the impact of different sarcopenia definitions on prevalence within the same cohort have simultaneously assessed the level of agreement between definitions. [23, 24, 26–30, 32–34, 76] The majority of the studies formally assessed agreement using Cohen's kappa. [24, 26–29, 76] For most comparisons, Cohen's kappa values were between 0.40 and 0.60 indicating moderate agreement. Two studies consistently found lower agreement between definitions. [27, 29]

Kim et al. found that the agreement between ALM adjusted for height² and ALM adjusted for BMI was 0.38 in males and 0.09 in females. Dam et al. found that with the exception of low ALM adjusted for BMI combined with low grip strength versus low ALM adjusted for height² with either low grip strength or low gait speed for which the Cohen's kappa value was 0.53, agreement between various expert group consensus definitions ranged from a Cohen's kappa of 0.04 to 0.23. [29] Two studies found that the agreement was markedly different dependent on definition. [70, 76] In the study by Pagotto et al. Cohen's kappa values were between 0.29 and 0.89 for the same techniques of measuring muscle mass with different cut offs when sarcopenia was operationalized as muscle mass only. When grip strength was included in the definition, the agreement improved marginally. Agreement was lower when comparing between different methods of measuring muscle mass. Of 21 comparisons with sarcopenia operationalized as muscle mass only, eight had negative Cohen's kappa values which can be interpreted as less agreement than would be expected by chance, 11 had values below 0.40 and only two had Cohen's kappa values between 0.4 and 0.5. Agreement modestly improved when grip strength was included. In the study by Locquet et al. agreement was between 0.14 to 0.22 for all definitions in comparison to the FNIH definition, between 0.44 to 0.48 for AWGS with EWGSOP and the Society of Sarcopenia definitions and the Society of Sarcopenia and EWGSOP definitions and between 0.56 and 0.71 for IWGS with EWGSOP, Society of Sarcopenia, and AWGS. [76] Two studies did not formally assess agreement but graphically showed the number of participants identified as having sarcopenia according

19

to multiple definitions. [23, 30] Both studies found that there was poor overlap between most of the definitions.

Based on the literature there is generally poor agreement between sarcopenia definitions with only a few exceptions. It is difficult to disentangle what drives the differences in the level of agreement between definitions. Of the studies assessing agreement, none of them assessed the same two definitions operationalized using the same technique. Some were close, for example Lee et al. and Locquet et al examined the agreement between the EWGSOP and IWGS definitions. [28, 76] However, Lee et al. operationalized the muscle strength component of the EWGSOP definition using grip strength, knee extensor strength, peak expiratory flow and the physical performance component with the SPPB, gait speed, timed up and go, and a stair climb tests. [28] In contrast, Locquet only used measures of grip strength and gait speed which means that the definitions, though labeled using the same terminology, are not comparable. [76]

Association between sarcopenia and falls

Approximately one third of adults aged 65 years and older fall each year. [87] Falls and injuries related to falls are one of the largest contributors to a loss of independence in older adults and are also associated with fractures, hospitalization and mortality. [31, 88–91]. The risk factors for falls are numerous and range from polypharmacy, history of previous falls, age, visual impairments, cognitive decline and environmental factors. [92] There is also a strong biological link between muscle strength and function with falls which has made them one of the outcomes of greatest interest for sarcopenia. [91]

The evidence to date about the association between sarcopenia and falls has been inconsistent. A recent systematic review and meta-analyses pooled the available evidence on the association of sarcopenia with falls. [31]. The systematic review searched the MEDLINE, EMBASE, Cochrane, and CINAHL databases from inception to May 2018. Inclusion criteria were studies in English, participants aged 65 years and older, sarcopenia diagnosed by any definition, and having falls as an outcome. The systematic review found 22 studies assessing the association of sarcopenia with falls. Overall, the meta-analyses of 20 studies with data suitable for pooling found that sarcopenia was associated with a 1.60 (95% CI 1.37 to 1.86, p<0.001) greater odds of falling in cross-sectional studies and a 1.89 (95% CI 1.33 to 2.68, p <0.001) greater odds of falling in prospective studies. When stratified by definition, sarcopenia defined by muscle mass only (ALM/height and ALM/weight) as well as three of four consensus definitions (AWGS, EWGSOP, IWGS), but not the FNIH definition, were associated with a significantly higher risk of falls when pooled across studies. [31]

In contrast to the meta-analyses, studies that compared definitions within the same population have found that definitions including muscle strength and/or muscle function, but generally not muscle mass only definitions, were significantly associated with falls. [32–34] The study by Schaap et al. was of particular interest as they compared the strength of the association between each component of the sarcopenia definitions with three year incidence of recurrent falls, adjusting for the other components. [33] In this study, there were 498 males and females aged 55 to 85 years from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. Low muscle mass operationalized as ALM adjusted for height² or as

unadjusted ALM, was not significantly associated with recurrent falls. In contrast, low muscle strength and slow gait speed were significantly associated with recurrent falls with hazard ratios between 1.36 and 2.06 depending on the sarcopenia definition. The results of the Osteoporotic Fractures in Men cohort study which includes 5,934 community dwelling males aged 65 years and older similarly found that muscle mass only definitions based on ALM adjusted for height² and the residuals of ALM regressed on height and fat mass were not associated with recurrent falls, but the IWGS, EWGSOP, and FNIH definitions were with odds ratios of between 2.23 and 2.38. [32] Bischoff-Ferrari et al. investigated seven sarcopenia definitions in 445 community-dwelling adults aged 65 years and older from the Boston STOP-IT cohort. [34] While their results generally showed that the odds of falling were greater for the definitions including strength or function in contrast to muscle mass only definitions, the confidence intervals were very wide, likely attributable to the low prevalence (<7.5%) for four of the five composite definitions.

Two other studies have investigated the association between sarcopenia defined using more than one definition and falls. [6, 93] However, unlike the other studies which used the outcomes of recurrent falls after one or three years, or the rate of falls over three years of follow up [32–34], these studies assessed falls risk after five years, [6] and falls-related hospitalizations after five years and 9.5 years of follow up. [93] The first study included 681 volunteers aged 50 to 79 years and assessed the risk of falls after five years based on different muscle mass only definitions. [6] In males, ALM adjusted for height, weight, and the regression technique were all associated with the falls risk score (assessed using the physiological profile assessment [94]) at follow up, whereas in women, only ALM adjusted

for weight was associated with the falls risk score at follow up. The study also assessed the change in the fall risks score over five years. ALM adjusted for height, weight, and the residual technique were associated with change in the falls risk score in males, but only the ALM adjusted using the residual technique was associated with change in falls risk in females. Sim et al. investigated the association between sarcopenia and falls-related hospitalization risk over five and 9.5 years in 903 Australian women aged 70 years and over at baseline. [93] Sarcopenia was defined using the FNIH and original EWGSOP definitions using the cut offs recommended by the expert group consensus definitions as well as cut offs specifically developed for Australians. [19, 21] In this study, none of the definitions were associated with fall-related hospitalization after five or 9.5 years. It is plausible that the different methods of operationalizing falls for these studies compared to the other studies in the litearture is the reason for the discrepant findings.

The inconclusive findings of the association between sarcopenia and falls is not surprising given the wide range of prevalence estimates and limited agreement between sarcopenia definitions. [23, 24, 27–30, 32–34, 76] The systematic review and meta-analyses by Yeung et al. attempted to account for the differences in methods of operationalizing sarcopenia by stratifying the studies by definition. However, this makes the erroneous assumption that each definition is applied the same way by different studies. Of the 14 studies that used the EWGSOP definition for sarcopenia, no two studies used identical techniques for operationalizing the variables. Four different methods of measuring muscle mass were utilized, DXA [34, 35, 95–100], BIA [8, 101, 102], the Lee equation based on anthropometric measures [103, 104], and mid upper arm muscle circumference. [7] Of the

studies using DXA, six adjusted muscle mass for height² [34, 35, 97–100], one adjusted for weight [96], and the last adjusted using the regression technique. [95] Physical function was measured using gait speed by all but three studies, two of which utilized the SPPB [101, 104] and one which used the timed up and go. [96] The 11 studies that used gait speed to operationalize physical function included different course lengths; three meters [35, 97], four meters [7, 103], 15 feet [34], five meters [8, 99, 100], six meters, [95, 98] and ten meters. [102] Nine of the studies used a cut off of 0.8 meters per second, [7, 34, 35, 95, 97– 99, 102, 103], while one used cut offs stratified by BMI [100] and the other considered the lowest quartile of the study population to have limited physical performance. [8] In addition to the differences in how sarcopenia was operationalized in each study, the studies also utilized different designs (cross-sectional versus longitudinal), had different study populations (community-dwelling, hospital inpatients, nursing home, or outpatient clinics), and were conducted in different countries. Yeung et al. stratified by study design (crosssectional and prospective), study population (community-dwelling, hospital, nursing home, and outpatient clinic), continent (Asia, Australia, Europe, North America, and South America) and found that the only groups for which the association between sarcopenia and falls did not hold was for nursing home residents, outpatient clinics, and studies conducted in South America. [31] The point estimates for the studies conducted in nursing home residents (two studies, pooled odds ratio 1.37, 95% CI 0.60 - 1.30) and studies conducted in South America (4 studies, pooled odds ratio 1.45, 95% CI 0.90 - 2.32) were only marginally lower compared to the other subgroups, but had wider confidence intervals.

Another consideration regarding the association between sarcopenia and falls is clinical utility of diagnosing sarcopenia. Based on the results of the systematic review and metaanalyses assessing the association between sarcopenia and falls, the odds of falling pooled across all cross-sectional studies was 1.60 (95% CI 1.37-1.86) and the odds of falling pooled across all prospective cohort studies was 1.89 (95% CI 1.33-2.68). The odds ratios were statistically significant (p < 0.05) as well as clinically relevant given that between approximately 6% of adults aged 65 years and older report an injury caused by a fall in the past 12 months. [105] However, odds ratios have limited clinical utility based on how they are calculated. Odds ratios compare the odds of falling if a participant is sarcopenic compared to the odds of falling if they are not sarcopenic. For outcomes with a low odds in the unexposed population, even a modest odds in the exposed group may result in a large odds ratio. Only one study has used area under the curve (AUC) to better understand the utility of sarcopenia clinically. [32] The study did not report AUC estimates for sarcopenia and falls, but rather the change in the AUC of a model including sarcopenia versus a model with age alone for the outcome of recurrent falls. The study observed that even for sarcopenia definitions that were significantly associated with falls with odds ratios between 2.24 and 2.38, the AUC changed by 0.010 or less. This can be interpreted as compared to a model containing only age, knowing if a participant is sarcopenic only improves the classification of fall status by 1%. This study indicates that the cost associated with measuring sarcopenia clinically may not be justified based on the minimal improvement in AUC values.

References

- [1] Rosenberg IH. Sarcopenia: origins and clinical relevance. *J Nutr* 1997; 127: 990S–911S.
- [2] Goodpaster B, Park S, Harris T, et al. The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. J Gerontol Biol Sci Med Sci 2006; 61: 1059–1064.
- [3] Daly RM, Rosengren BE, Alwis G, et al. Gender specific age-related changes in bone density, muscle strength and functional performance in the elderly: a 10 year prospective population-based study. *BMC Geriatr*; 13. Epub ahead of print 2013. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2318-13-71.
- [4] White DK, Neogi T, Nevitt MC, et al. Trajectories of gait speed predict mortality in well-functioning older adults: The Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2012; 68: 1–9.
- [5] Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairement and physical disability. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2002; 50: 889–896.
- [6] Scott D, Hayes A, Sanders KM, et al. Operational definitions of sarcopenia and their associations with 5-year changes in falls risk in community-dwelling middleaged and older adults. *Osteoporos Int* 2014; 25: 187–193.
- [7] Landi F, Liperoti R, Russo A, et al. Sarcopenia as a risk factor for falls in elderly

individuals: results from the ilSIRENTE study. Clin Nutr 2012; 31: 652–658.

- [8] Tanimoto Y, Watanabe M, Sun W, et al. Sarcopenia and falls in communitydwelling elderly subjects in Japan: Defining sarcopenia according to criteria of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* 2014; 59: 295–299.
- [9] Gariballa S, Alessa A. Sarcopenia: prevalence and prognostic significance in hospitalized patients. *Clin Nutr* 2013; 32: 772–776.
- [10] Kim JH, Lim S, Choi SH, et al. Sarcopenia: an independent predictor of mortality in community-dwelling older Korean men. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2014;
 69: 1244–1252.
- [11] Landi F, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Liperoti R, et al. Sarcopenia and mortality risk in frail older persons aged 80 years and older: results from ilSIRENTE study. *Age Ageing* 2013; 42: 203–209.
- [12] Beaudart C, Zaaria M, Reginster J. Health outcomes of sarcopenia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2017; 12: e0169548.
- [13] Vellas B, Fielding R, Bens C, et al. Implications of ICD-10 for sarcopenia clinical practice and clinical trials: Report by the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research Task Force. *J Frailty Aging* 2018; 7: 2–9.
- [14] The World Health Organization. *The International Classification of Diseases, Version 10*. 2016.

- [15] Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. *Am J Epidemiol* 1998; 147: 755–763.
- [16] Buckinx F, Landi F, Cesari M, et al. Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* 2018; 9: 269–278.
- [17] Evans WJ, Hellerstein M, Orwoll E, et al. D3 Creatine dilution and the importance of accuracy in the assessment of skeletal muscle mass. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* 2019; 10: 14–21.
- [18] Chen L-K, Liu L-K, Woo J, et al. Sarcopenia in Asia: consensus report of the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* 2014; 15: 95–101.
- [19] Cruz-Jentoft A, Baeyens J, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. *Age Ageing* 2010; 39: 412–423.
- [20] Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, et al. Sarcopenia: An undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: Prevalence, etiology, and conseuqences.
 International Work Group on Sarcopenia. *Am Med Dir Assoc* 2011; 12: 249–256.
- [21] Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project:
 Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates.
 Journals Gerontol Med Sci 2014; 69: 547–558.
- [22] Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: Revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing* 2019; 48: 16–31.

- [23] Bijlsma AY, Meskers CGM, Ling CHY, et al. Defining sarcopenia: The impact of different diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of sarcopenia in a large middle aged cohort. *Age (Omaha)* 2013; 35: 871–881.
- [24] Phu S, Vogrin S, Mphtm JZ, et al. Agreement between initial and revised European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People definitions. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* 2019; 20: 382–383.
- [25] Volpato S, Bianchi L, Landi F. Prevalence agreement and prognostic value of EWGSOP and FNIH sarcopenia definition: The GLISTEN Study. *Innov Aging* 2018; 2: 2018.
- [26] Pagotto V, Silveira EA. Applicability and agreement of different diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia estimation in the elderly. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* 2014; 59: 288–294.
- [27] Kim TN, Park MS, Lee EJ, et al. Comparisons of three different methods for defining sarcopenia : An aspect of cardiometabolic risk. *Sci Rep*; 7. Epub ahead of print 2017. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-06831-7.
- [28] Lee WJ, Liu LK, Peng LN, et al. Comparisons of sarcopenia defined by IWGS and EWGSOP criteria among older people: Results from the I-Lan Longitudinal Aging Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2013; 14: 1–7.
- [29] Dam TT, Peters KW, Fragala M, et al. An evidence-based comparison of operational criteria for the presence of sarcopenia. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2014; 69: 584–590.

- [30] Reijnierse EM, Trappenburg C, Leter J, et al. The impact of different diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of sarcopenia in healthy elderly participants and geriatric outpatients. *Gerontology* 2015; 61: 491–496.
- [31] Yeung SSY, Reijnierse EM, Pham VK, et al. Sarcopenia and its association with falls and fractures in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2019; 10: 485–500.
- [32] Cawthon PM, Blackwell TL, Francisco S, et al. An evaluation of the usefulness of consensus definitions of sarcopenia in older men: results from the observational Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) cohort study. *J Am Diet Assoc* 2016; 63: 2247–2259.
- [33] Schaap LA, Schoor NM Van, Lips P, et al. Associations of sarcopenia definitions, and their components, with the incidence of recurrent falling and fractures: The Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. *Journals Gerontol Med Sci* 2018; 73: 1199–1204.
- [34] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Orav JE, Kanis JA, et al. Comparative performance of current definitions of sarcopenia against the prospective incidence of falls among community-dwelling seniors age 65 and older. *Osteoporos Sarcopenia* 2015; 26: 2793–2802.
- [35] Clynes MA, Edwards MH, Buehring B, et al. Definitions of sarcopenia:Associations with previous falls and fractures in a population sample. *Calcif Tissue*

Int 2015; 97: 445–452.

- [36] Mayhew A, Amog K, Phillips S, et al. The prevalence of sarcopenia in communitydwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Age Ageing* 2019; 48: 48–56.
- [37] Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland S a, et al. The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). *Can J Aging* 2009; 28: 221–229.
- [38] Newman A, Kupelian V, Visser M, et al. Strength, but not muscle mass, is associated with mortality in the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study Cohort. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2006; 61: 72–77.
- [39] Alley DE, Shardell MD, Peters KW, et al. Grip strength cutpoints for the identification of clinically relevant weakness. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2014; 69: 559–566.
- [40] Cawthon PM, Peters KW, Shardell MD, et al. Cutpoints for low appendicular lean mass that identify older adults with clinically significant weakness. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2014; 69: 567–575.
- [41] Lauretani F, Russo CR, Bandinelli S, et al. Age-associated changes in skeletal muscles and their effect on mobility: an operational diagnosis of sarcopenia. J Appl Physiol 2003; 95: 1851–1860.
- [42] Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001; 56: M146–M156.

- [43] Cesari M, Kritchevsky SB, Penninx BW, et al. Prognostic value of usual gait speed in well-functioning older people - Results from the health, aging and body composition study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005; 53: 1675–1680.
- [44] Delmonico MJ, Harris TB, Lee J-S, et al. Alternative definitions of sarcopenia, lower extremity performance, and functional impairment with aging in older men and women. J Am Geriatr Soc 2007; 55: 769–774.
- [45] Wu CH, Chen KT, Hou MT, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of sarcopenia and severe sarcopenia in older Taiwanese living in rural community: The Tianliao Old People study 04. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* 2014; 14: 69–75.
- [46] Janssen I, Baumgartner RN, Ross R, et al. Skeletal muscle cutpoints associated with elevated physical disability risk in older men and women. *Am J Epidemiol* 2004; 159: 413–421.
- [47] Schaap LA, Pluijm SMF, Deeg DJ, et al. Inflammatory markers and loss of muscle mass (sarcopenia) and strength. *Am J Med*; 119. Epub ahead of print 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.10.049.
- [48] Lau E, Lynn H, Woo J, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for sarcopenia in elderly Chinese men and women. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2011; 60: 213–216.
- [49] Davison KK, Ford ES, Cogswell ME, et al. Percentage of body fat and body mass index are associated with mobility limitations in people aged 70 and older from

NHANES III. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002; 50: 1802–1809.

- [50] Loenneke JP, Loprinzi PD, Abe T. The prevalence of sarcopenia before and after correction for DXA-derived fat-free adipose tissue. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2016; 70: 1–3.
- [51] Jeon YK, Shin MJ, Kim MH, et al. Low pulmonary function is related with a high risk of sarcopenia in community-dwelling older adults: the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES) 2008-2011. *Osteoporos Int* 2015; 26: 2423–2429.
- [52] Wen X, An P, Chen WC, et al. Comparisons of sarcopenia prevalence based on different diagnostic criteria in chinese older adults. *J Nutr Heal Aging* 2015; 19: 342–347.
- [53] Moon MK, Lee YJ, Choi SH, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism has little influences on muscle mass or strength in elderly people. *J Korean Med Sci* 2010; 25: 1176– 1181.
- [54] Szulc P, Duboeuf F, Marchand F, et al. Hormonal and lifestyle determinants of appendicular skeletal muscle mass in men : the MINOS study. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004; 80: 496–503.
- [55] Gomez-Cabello A, Pedrero-Chamizo R, Olivares PR, et al. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in non-institutionalized people aged 65 or over from Spain: The elderly EXERNET multi-centre study. *Obes Rev* 2011; 12: 583–592.
- [56] Janssen I. Influence of sarcopenia on the development of physical disability: the

Cardiovascular Health Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006; 54: 56–62.

- [57] Stephen WC, Janssen I. Sarcopenic-obesity and cardiovascular disease risk in the elderly. *J Nutr Health Aging* 2009; 13: 460–466.
- [58] Bouchard DR, Dionne IJ, Brochu M. Sarcopenic/obesity and physical capacity in older men and women: data from the Nutrition as a Determinant of Successful Aging (NuAge) the Quebec Longitudinal Study. *Obesity* 2009; 17: 2082–8.
- [59] Tyrovolas S, Koyanagi A, Olaya B, et al. The role of muscle mass and body fat on disability among older adults: A cross-national analysis. *Exp Gerontol* 2015; 69: 27–35.
- [60] Tyrovolas S, Koyanagi A, Olaya B, et al. Factors associated with skeletal muscle mass, sarcopenia, and sarcopenic obesity in older adults: a multi-continent study. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2016; 7: 312–321.
- [61] Huh JH, Song MK, Park KH, et al. Gender-specific pleiotropic bone-muscle relationship in the elderly from a nationwide survey (KNHANES IV). Osteoporos Int 2014; 25: 1053–1061.
- [62] Kim SH, Kim TH, Hwang HJ. The relationship of physical activity (PA) and walking with sarcopenia in Korean males aged 60 years and older using the Fourth Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES IV-2, 3), 2008-2009. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2013; 56: 472–477.
- [63] Kim YS, Lee Y, Chung YS, et al. Prevalence of sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity

in the Korean population based on the fourth Korean National Health and Nutritional Examination Surveys. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2012; 67: 1107–1113.

- [64] Song DS, Chang UI, Choi S, et al. Heavy alcohol consumption with alcoholic liver disease accelerates sarcopenia in elderly Korean males: The Korean national health and nutrition examination survey 2008-2010. *PLoS One* 2016; 11: 1–14.
- [65] Kim JE, Lee YH, Huh JH, et al. Early-stage chronic kidney disease, insulin resistance, and osteoporosis as risk factors of sarcopenia in aged population: The Fourth Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES IV), 2008-2009. *Osteoporos Int* 2014; 25: 2189–2198.
- [66] Hong S, Choi WH. The effects of sarcopenia and obesity on femur neck bone mineral density in elderly Korean men and women. *Osteoporos Sarcopenia* 2016; 2: 103–109.
- [67] Baek SJ, Nam GE, Han KD, et al. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity and their association with dyslipidemia in Korean elderly men: The 2008-2010 Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *J Endocrinol Invest* 2014; 37: 247–260.
- [68] Kim S, Won CW, Kim BS, et al. The association between the low muscle mass and osteoporosis in elderly Korean people. *J Korean Med Sci* 2014; 29: 995–1000.
- [69] Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Landi F, Schneider SM, et al. Prevalence of and interventions for

sarcopenia in ageing adults: a systematic review. Report of the International Sarcopenia Initiative (EWGSOP and IWGS). *Age Ageing* 2014; 748–759.

- [70] Pagotto V, Silveira EA. Methods, diagnostic criteria, cutoff points, and prevalence of sarcopenia among older people. *Sci World J*. Epub ahead of print 2014. DOI: 10.1155/2014/231312.
- [71] Sim M, Prince RL, Scott D, et al. Sarcopenia definitions and their associations with mortality in older Australian women. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* 2019; 20: 76-82.e2.
- [72] Jang I, Lee CK, Yu S, et al. Comparisons of predictive values of sarcopenia with different muscle mass indices in Korean rural older adults : a longitudinal analysis of the Aging Study of PyeongChang Rural Area. *Clin Interv Aging* 2018; 13: 91– 99.
- [73] Petermann-Rocha F, Chen M, Gray SR, et al. New versus old guidelines for sarcopenia classification: What is the impact on prevalence and health outcomes?
 Age Ageing 2019; epub ahead: 1–5.
- [74] Locquet M, Beaudart C, Petermans J, et al. EWGSOP2 Versus EWGSOP1: Impact on the prevalence of sarcopenia and its major health consequences. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2019; 20: 384–385.
- [75] Kemmler W, Teschler M, Weißenfels A, et al. Prevalence of sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in older German men using recognized definitions : high accordance but low overlap ! Osteoporos Int 2017; 28: 1881–1891.

- [76] Locquet M, Beaudart C, Reginster JY, et al. Comparison of the performance of five screening methods for sarcopenia. *Clin Epidemiol* 2018; 10: 71–82.
- [77] McPhee JS, Hogrel JY, Maier AB, et al. Physiological and functional evaluation of healthy young and older men and women: Design of the European MyoAge study. *Biogerontology* 2013; 14: 325–337.
- [78] Clark BC, Manini TM. Sarcopenia \neq Dynapenia. J Gerontol 2008; 63: 829–834.
- [79] Hayashida I, Tanimoto Y, Takahashi Y, et al. Correlation between muscle strength and muscle mass, and their association with walking speed, in community-dwelling elderly Japanese individuals. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: 1–6.
- [80] Capistrant BD, Glymour MM, Berkman LF. Assessing mobility difficulties for cross-national comparisons: Results from the World Health Organiation Study on Global AGEing and Adult Health. J Am Geriatr Soc 2015; 62: 329–335.
- [81] Leong DP, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, et al. Prognostic value of grip strength: findings from the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study. *Lancet* 2015; 386: 266–273.
- [82] Silva AM, Shen W, Heo M, et al. Ethnicity-related skeletal muscle differences across the lifespan. *Am J Hum Biol* 2010; 22: 76–82.
- [83] Šimundić A-M. Lessons in biostatistics Bias in research. *Biochem Medica* 2013;
 23: 12–15.

- [84] Tothill P, Reid DM, Avenell A, et al. Comparisons between Hologic, Lunar and Norland DXA and other techniques. In: Ellis K, Eastman J (eds) *Human Body Composition, Basic Life Sciences*. Boston, MA: Springer, 1993, pp. 385–388.
- [85] Lantz H, Samuelson G, Bratteby LE, et al. Differences in whole body measurements by DXA-scanning using two Lunar DPX-L machines. *Int J Obes* 1999; 23: 764–770.
- [86] Masanes F, Rojano I Luque X, Salva A, et al. Cut-off points for muscle mass, not for grip strength or gait speed, determine variability in the prevalence of sarcopenia. *Eur Geriatr Med* 2017; 21: 825–829.
- [87] Tromp A., Pluijm SM., Smit J., et al. Fall-risk screening test. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2002; 54: 837–844.
- [88] Stel VS, Smit JH, Pluijm SMF, et al. Consequences of falling in older men and women and risk factors for health service use and functional decline. *Age Ageing* 2004; 33: 58–65.
- [89] Stevens JA, Mack KA, Paulozzi LJ, et al. Self-reported falls and fall-related injuries among persons aged ≥ 65 Years - United States. J Safety Res 2008; 39: 345–349.
- [90] Stevens JA, Corso PS, Finkelstein EA, et al. The costs of fatal and non-fatal falls among older adults. *Inj Prev* 2006; 12: 290–295.
- [91] Tinetti ME, Williams CS. The effect of falls and fall injuries on functioning in

community- dwelling older persons. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci* 1998; 53: 112–119.

- [92] Ambrose AF, Paul G, Hausdorff JM. Risk factors for falls among older adults: A review of the literature. *Maturitas* 2013; 75: 51–61.
- [93] Sim M, Prince RL, Scott D, et al. Utility of four sarcopenia criteria for the prediction of falls-related hospitalization in older Australian women. *Osteoporos Int* 2019; 30: 167–176.
- [94] Lord SR, Menz HB, Tiedemann A. A physiological profile approach to falls risk assessment and prevention. *Physi* 2013; 83: 237–252.
- [95] Chalhoub D, Cawthon PM, Ensrud KE, et al. Risk of nonspine fractures in older adults with sarcopenia, low bone mass, or both. J Am Geriatr Soc 2015; 63: 1733– 1740.
- [96] Gadelha AB, Neri SGR, Oliveira RJ de, et al. Severity of sarcopenia is associated with postural balance and risk of falls in community-dwelling older women. *Exp Aging Res* 2018; 44: 1–12.
- [97] Lera L, Albala C, Sánchez H, et al. Prevalence of sarcopenia in communitydwelling Chilean elders according to an adapted version of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) Criteria. *J Frailty Aging* 2017; 6: 12–17.
- [98] Menant JC, Weber F, Lo J, et al. Strength measures are better than muscle mass

measures in predicting health-related outcomes in older people: time to abandon the term sarcopenia? *Osteoporos Int* 2016; 1–12.

- [99] Meng NH, Li CI, Liu CS, et al. Comparison of height- and weight-adjusted sarcopenia in a Taiwanese metropolitan older population. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* 2015; 15: 45–53.
- [100] Trajanoska K, Schoufour JD, Darweesh SKL, et al. Sarcopenia and its clinical correlates in the general population: The Rotterdam Study. *J Bone Miner Res* 2018; 33: 1209–1218.
- [101] Buckinx F, Croisier JL, Reginster JY, et al. Predition of the incidence of falls and deaths among elderly nursing home residents: The SENIOR Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2018; 19: 18–24.
- [102] Yamada M, Nishiguchi S, Fukutani N, et al. Prevalence of sarcopenia in community-dwelling Japanese older adults. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* 2013; 14: 911– 915.
- [103] Benjumea A-M, Curcio C-L, Duque G, et al. Dynapenia and sarcopenia as a risk factor for disability in a falls and fractures clinic in older persons. *Open Access Maced J Med Sci* 2018; 6: 344–349.
- [104] Martinez BP, Batista AKMS, Gomes IB, et al. Frequency of sarcopenia and associated factors among hospitalized elderly patients. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2015; 16: 1–7.

[105] Public Health Agency of Canada. Seniors' falls in Canada: Second report, http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/seniors-aines/publications/public/injuryblessure/seniors_falls-chutes_aines/assets/pdf/seniors_falls-chutes_aines-eng.pdf (2014).

Definition	Muscle Mass				Muscle strength				Physical performance			
	Bioelectrical impedance analyses (BIA)	Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA)	Cat scan (CT)	Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)	Grip strength	Chair rise	Knee flexion	Peak expiratory flow	Short physical performance battery	Timed up and go	Stair climb test	Gait speed
EWGSOP	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus		\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus
EWGSOP (revised 2019)	Ð	Ð	\oplus	Ð	Ð	Ð			Ð	\oplus		\oplus
IWGS		\oplus										\oplus
FNIH		\oplus			\oplus							
AWGS	\oplus	\oplus			\oplus							\oplus

Table 1. Measures included in the sarcopenia expert group consensus definitions

Figure 1. Overview of how individual chapters support overall thesis objectives

Overall objective: How does the operationalization of sarcopenia, specifically which muscle measures are included and which method of adjusting muscle mass is used, impact the prevalence of sarcopenia, the agreement between different sarcopenia definitions, and the strength of the association of sarcopenia with health?

 How is sarcopenia defined in the literature? Chapter 1 provides a summary of the history of sarcopenia definitions and how the expert group consensus definitions recommend to measure sarcopenia. Chapter 2 is a systematic review of the literature and meta-any which captures how sarcopenia is defined in 109 studies invest sarcopenia prevalence in community dwelling older adults. 	 →	Based on how sarcopenia is defined in the literature, a list of sarcopenia definitions that capture the breadth of how sarcopenia is defined in the literature was developed					
▼			•				
 Does the proportion of participants identified as sarcopenic differ depending on the definition? Chapter 2 – Based on a systematic review and meta-analyses of sarcopenia prevalence in community dwelling older adults, between 9.9% and 40.4% of individuals are sarcopenic depending on which definition is used. Chapter 3 – Using data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging and the list of sarcopenia definitions developed based on the literature, the proportion of sarcopenic participants was found to differ depending on which combination of muscle variables were used and which cut offs were used to identify low muscle mass. 	In developing the list of sarcopenia definitions, it was observed that stratifying the sample by age posed problems when using the residual adjustment technique in which lean muscle mass is regressed on height and fat mass. Chapter 5 – Discusses the implications of calculating the residual values for muscle mass before versus after stratifying the sample by age and concluded that all residuals must be calculated before stratification.						
Based on the results of Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 which show that the proportion of sarcopenic							

Based on the results of **Chapter 2** and **Chapter 3** which show that the proportion of sarcopenic participants is different depending on definition used, what is the agreement between different sarcopenia definitions?

Chapter 3 – Using data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging and the list of sarcopenia definition developed based on the literature, the agreement between sarcopenia definitions tended to be modest with Cohen's kappa values of ≤ 0.60 .

Chapter 2 and **Chapter 3** found that the proportion of sarcopenic participants varied depending on which sarcopenia definition was used and that there was limited agreement between definitions. Given that the definitions identify largely different groups of people as sarcopenic, what is the impact of different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia on the strength of the association between sarcopenia and falls?

Chapter 4 – The results of this chapter using data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging and the list of sarcopenia definitions developed based on the literature indicated that different combinations of muscle variables and different methods of adjusting muscle mass were not equally associated with falls. In males, definitions including grip strength but not gait speed, and adjusting muscle mass for weight, body mass index, or using the residual technique, but not height were associated with falls. In females, sarcopenia was not associated with falls regardless of the definition used.

Chapter 2: A systematic review and meta-analyses of sarcopenia prevalence

This chapter is published in *Age and Ageing*, 2019; 48(1), 48-56. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy106. Alexandra Mayhew and Parminder Raina conceived the research question and designed the review protocol with input from Stuart Phillips, Russell de Souza, Paul McNicholas, Gianni Parise, and Lehana Thabane. Donna Fitzpatrick Lewis provided support for the design of the systematic review search strategy and development of the study eligibility criteria and data extraction forms. Krystal Amog completed study screening, data extraction, and risk of bias assessment in duplicate with Alexandra Mayhew. Thesis committee members, Russell de Souza, Paul McNicholas, Gianni Parise, and Lehana Thabane, as well as Stuart Phillips provided feedback throughout the project. All authors contributed to manuscript revisions. All authors approved the version of the manuscript before submission. Age and Ageing provided permission for the manuscript to be included in this thesis.

Context and background

Previous studies have observed a wide range of prevalence estimates for sarcopenia between studies as well as within the same study using different definitions. However, based on the existing literature it was unclear how much of the variability in prevalence estimates was due to the operationalization of sarcopenia, the use of different cut points for measures of muscle mass, muscle strength, and muscle function and differences in study methodologies and participant populations. The purpose of this study was to identify the definitions used in the literature to measure sarcopenia in community-dwelling older adults and to assess the similarities and differences in prevalence estimates by definition. By capturing the range of definitions used in the literature for sarcopenia, this study set the foundation for the development of a list of sarcopenia definitions that would allow for the impact of changing each of the three components of sarcopenia to be investigated individually in the following chapters.

Chapter 2: A systematic review and meta-analyses of sarcopenia prevalence

Title: The prevalence of sarcopenia in community dwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: A systematic review and meta-analyses

Authors: Alexandra J Mayhew ^{1,2,3}, Krystal Amog ^{1,2,3}, Stuart Phillips ⁴, Gianni Parise ⁴, Paul D McNicholas ⁵, Russell J de Souza ^{1,6}, Lehana Thabane ^{1,7}, Parminder Raina ^{1,2,3}

Affiliations: 1. Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 2. Labarge Centre for Mobility in Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 3. McMaster Institute for Research on Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 4. Department of Kinesiology, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 5. Department of Mathematics & Statistics, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 6. Population Genomics Program, Chanchlani Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 7. Biostatistics Unit, Research Institute at St Joes, St. Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton, 50 Charlton Avenue E, Hamilton, ON, L8N 4A6, Canada.

Published in: Age and Ageing, 2019; 48(1), 48-56. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy106

Abstract

Background: Sarcopenia in aging is a progressive decrease in muscle mass, strength and/or physical function. This review aims to summarize the definitions of sarcopenia in community-dwelling older adults and explore similarities and differences in prevalence estimates by definition.

Methods: A systematic review was conducted to identify articles which estimated sarcopenia prevalence in older populations using search terms for sarcopenia and muscle mass. Overall prevalence for each sarcopenia definition was estimated stratified by sex and ethnicity. Secondary analyses explored differences between studies and within definitions, including participant age, muscle mass measurement techniques, and thresholds for muscle mass and gait speed.

Results: In 109 included articles, eight definitions of sarcopenia were identified. The lowest pooled prevalence estimates came from the European Working Group on Sarcopenia/Asian Working Group on Sarcopenia (12.9%, 95% confidence interval: 9.9-15.9%), International Working Group on Sarcopenia (9.9%, 3.2-16.6%), and Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (18.6%, 11.8-25.5%) definitions. The highest prevalence estimates were for the appendicular lean mass (ALM)/weight (40.4%, 19.5-61.2%), ALM/height (30.4%, 20.4-40.3%), ALM regressed on height and weight (30.4%, 20.4-40.3%), and ALM / body mass index (24.2%, 18.3-30.1%) definitions. Within definitions, the age of study participants and the muscle mass cut-points used were substantive sources of between-study differences.

47

Conclusion: Estimates of sarcopenia prevalence vary from 9.9 to 40.4%, depending on the definition used. Significant differences in prevalence exist within definitions across populations. This lack of agreement between definitions needs to be better understood before sarcopenia can be appropriately used in a clinical context.

Introduction

Sarcopenia is a progressive decrease in muscle mass, strength, and physical function that occurs with age. Beginning in approximately the fifth decade of life, muscle mass and strength decline at annual rates of 0.8% and 1-3%, respectively. Functional declines, culminating in a loss of independence in self-care abilities, are not evident until later in life, but are related to decreases in strength and physical function. Sarcopenia is associated with a significantly greater risk for poor health outcomes including disability and functional impairments ⁵, increased risk of falls ⁶, longer hospital stays ⁷, and an increased risk of mortality. ^{8,9} In 2000, it was estimated that the United States incurred \$18.5 billion in direct health care costs related to sarcopenia alone. ¹⁰

Sarcopenia was first defined by Baumgartner using appendicular lean mass (ALM) adjusted for height (kg/m²). ¹¹ Subsequent definitions of sarcopenia include measures of either muscle strength or function because muscle strength declines more rapidly than muscle mass during aging ² and muscle strength and function are more strongly associated with outcomes such as mortality. ¹² The International Working Group on Sarcopenia (IWGS) defined sarcopenia as a combination of low muscle mass and low muscle function ¹³, while the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (EWGSOP) suggested that low muscle mass and either low muscle strength or low physical performance must be present. ¹⁴

Depending on the definition used, sarcopenia is estimated to affect between 1% and 29% of community-dwelling older adults ¹⁵ though some estimates are as high was 60%. ¹⁶ The

wide range of prevalence estimates suggest that different sarcopenia definitions are not measuring the same underlying construct. Studies using the same population have found that sarcopenia estimates vary up to 40% by definition.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ It is unclear how much of the prevalence variability is due to the operationalization of sarcopenia, the use of different cut-points, and/or the different techniques used for muscle measurement, study methodologies and participant populations. However, the lack of a standardized sarcopenia definition makes it challenging to accurately estimate the burden of the disease, thus limits the clinical usefulness of a sarcopenia diagnosis. With the introduction of sarcopenia into the International Classification of Disease ²⁰, there is an even greater urgency to arrive at a unified definition for sarcopenia. The aims of this review are: 1) to identify definitions currently used to characterize sarcopenia in community-dwelling older adults; and 2) to document the similarities and difference between prevalence estimates by definition.

Methods

This review was conducted in accordance with the Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) guidelines (**Supporting Information S1**). Ethics approval was not required for this research. The protocol for this systematic review has been published on PROSPERO (ID: CRD42016043777).

Data sources and searches - An electronic search strategy was developed to identify human studies with estimates of sarcopenia prevalence in community-dwelling older adults without specific health conditions. No restrictions on study design were imposed. Studies were limited to original English language articles. MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL,

AgeLine, and SPORTDiscus were searched from inception to 19 December 2016 (**Supporting Information S2**). The bibliographies of the retrieved articles were reviewed for additional studies.

Study selection - The title, abstract, and full-text screenings were performed in duplicate by two independent reviewers. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion. A third author was consulted to reach consensus when necessary. Studies were excluded if they were a review, meeting abstract, commentary, letter to the editor, study protocol without data, exclusively used animal models, were not English language, had participants exclusively under the age of 60, or if the mean age minus one standard deviation was below 55 years. Other exclusion criteria include participants living in hospitals, long-term care facilities, nursing homes, or retirement homes, the use of convenience sampling to recruit participants, sarcopenia measured at only a specific area of the body such as the thigh or tongue, and sarcopenia exclusively defined as a change in muscle parameter(s).

Data extraction and quality assessment - Two authors independently extracted details of the study design, country the study was conducted in, sarcopenia definition including details of measures of muscle mass, muscle strength and physical function, and participant characteristics such as age, sex, and ethnicity. For each study, prevalence was calculated as the number of participants with sarcopenia divided by the entire sample size. If this information was not provided, the prevalence reported in the paper was extracted. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion.
The *Joanna Briggs Institute Prevalence Critical Appraisal Tool*²² was used to assess risk of bias (ROB). Manuscripts and additional documentation referenced by the study were reviewed for the ROB assessment. Studies were categorized as low, moderate, high or very high ROB. Studies at low ROB scored all responses as either "yes" or "not applicable" with an allowance for one "unclear" response for a total score of 8.5 or 9. Moderate ROB studies could have three "unclear" responses or one response of "no" and one response of "unclear" for a score of 7.5 or 8.0.ROB. High ROB studies had scores between 5.0 and 7.5 and very high ROB studies had scores of less than 5.0.

Data synthesis and analysis - All studies were stratified by ethnicity and, when possible, by sex. Ethnicity was categorized as European if the study took place in North America, Europe, or Australia/New Zealand or non-European. For all analyses, the EWGSOP/AWGS were included together because they used identical algorithms for determining sarcopenia status. In cases where at least two studies provided combinable data, a DerSimonian and Laird's random effects meta-analysis was performed which yields conservative confidence intervals (CI) around the prevalence estimates in the presence of heterogeneity. Heterogeneity was detected using Cochran's *Q* test (significant at *P*<0.10) and quantified using the I^2 statistic (ranging from 0 to 100%). All analyses were completed using Review Manager (version 5).

In the primary analyses, overall prevalence for each sarcopenia definition was estimated, stratified by sex and ethnicity. A subgroup analyses was conducted after removing studies that were poor or very poor quality. Four sensitivity analyses were conducted to assess the impact of age, muscle mass cut-offs, the method of measuring muscle mass, and gait speed/course length on sarcopenia prevalence. Studies were first stratified by sarcopenia definition, sex, and ethnicity, then further categorized by the sensitivity analyses variable. For age and muscle mass cut offs, studies were categorized by approximate tertiles for each sex and ethnicity group and the results of groups were pooled together. The method of muscle mass determination was categorized as DXA, BIA, or other. Only the EWGSOP/AWGS definitions had sufficient data on gait speed/course length. Categories included all possible combinations of speed and length. For each sensitivity analysis, prevalence estimates for each of the sensitivity analyses categories within each age/ethnicity strata were calculated. These estimates were then pooled together to determine the overall prevalence for that category across all age/ethnicity strata for a given definition.

Results

Literature Flow - Of the 13,191 potentially eligible articles, 777 remained after removing duplicates and screening the titles and abstracts, and 109 after the full-text review (**Supporting Information S3**).

Study Characteristics - **Table 1** summarizes the characteristics and results of the 109 articles categorized by definition. The articles represented 58 unique cohorts from 26 countries with 656 individual estimates of sarcopenia prevalence. Across all studies, the minimum age was 55 years, and the earliest year of data collection was 1988. Sarcopenia estimates were available for eight common definitions-ALM/body mass index (BMI), AWGS, ALM divided by weight, ALM regressed on height and weight, ALM divided by

height, EWGSOP, FNIH, and IWGS-and three uncommon definitions that measured sarcopenia using absolute muscle mass, fat mass, handgrip strength, or knee extensor strength (**Supporting Information S4**).

Risk of Bias Assessment - According to the *Joanna Briggs Institute Prevalence Critical Appraisal Tool*, 10.6% (n=10) of studies were at low ROB, 20.4% (n=29) were at moderate risk, 52.8% (n=75) of studies were at high risk, and 16.2% (n=23) were at very high risk.

Overall sarcopenia prevalence estimates - After merging studies where two or more manuscripts provided an estimate for sarcopenia using identical measurement methods in the same population, 227 individual prevalence estimates remained. The most frequently used definitions were the EWGSOP/AWGS criteria (n=83), ALM/height (n=68), and ALM/weight (n=27). The remaining definitions had fewer than 20 estimates. The lowest pooled prevalence estimates were for the EWGSOP/AWGS (12.9%, 95% CI: 9.9, 15.9%), IWGS (9.9%, 95% CI: 3.2, 16.6%), and FNIH (18.6%, 95% CI: 11.8, 25.5%) definitions. The highest prevalence estimates were for the ALM/weight (40.4%, 95% CI: 19.5, 61.2%), ALM/height (30.4%, 95% CI: 20.4, 40.3%), ALM regressed on height and weight (30.4%, 95% CI: 20.4, 40.3%), and ALM/BMI (24.2%, 18.3, 30.1%) definitions. All definitions except for IWGS had a significant between study heterogeneity (I² > 87%, Cochrane's Q, *P*-value <0.00001) (**Supporting Information S5**).

Prevalence estimates varied between males and females. In Europeans and non-Europeans, prevalence was higher in males for EWGSOP/AWGS, ALM/height, and ALM/BMI. For FNIH, ALM/weight, and ALM/BMI, sarcopenia prevalence was higher in females. For

ALM regression, prevalence was higher in European males than European females, but equal in non-European males and females. When comparing Europeans versus non-Europeans, sarcopenia prevalence was similar (<5% difference) for EWGSOP/AWGS and ALM/BMI in males and females. Compared to non-Europeans, prevalence was higher in Europeans for ALM/height, ALM/weight, and ALM regression and lower for FNIH. For IWGS, sarcopenia prevalence was higher in European males compared to non-European males but lower in European females compared to non-European females. When studies with high or very high ROB were removed, 76 studies remained. Prevalence estimates decreased for the EWGSOP/AWGS, FNIH, ALM/height, ALM/weight, ALM/weight,

Prevalence estimates stratified by age groups - After including all age categories, there were 363 unique estimates of sarcopenia prevalence. Prevalence increased across age groups from youngest to oldest for EWGSOP/AWGS, FNIH and ALM/BMI. For the ALM/height, ALM/weight and ALM/regression definitions, prevalence estimates differed by 10% between age groups, but did not increase across increasing age groups. The prevalence of IWGS varied by 13.8% between age groups but did not demonstrate an increase with age (**Table 3**).

Prevalence estimates stratified by muscle mass threshold - 123 estimates of sarcopenia from the EWGSOP/AWGS, IWGS, ALM/height, and ALM/weight definitions were included in this analysis. Definitions with less than three cut-points were excluded. Two definitions (EWGSOP/AWGS and ALM/height) had studies in different muscle mass groups depending on whether the prevalence was ranked according to the cut offs in males

or females for the pooled analyses. When groups were based on female cut-points, EWGSOP/AWGS and ALM/height as well as ALM/weight showed trends for sarcopenia prevalence increasing as muscle mass increased ALM (**Table 4**).

Comparison of gait speed, length of gait speed test - Only the EWGSOP/AWGS definitions provided sufficient data for gait speed analysis. For European males and females, a gait speed cut off of 0.8m/s was used for course lengths of 3m, 4m and 6m. Prevalence was lowest for the 3m distance (12.1% (95% CI: 0.0, 24.3%) males, 4.8% (95% CI: 0.0, 9.9%), females) and highest for the 4m distance (20.4% (95% CI: 17.3, 23.4% males, 32.1% (26.8, 37.4%, females). Pooled estimates for European males and females used a cut-point of 0.8m/s with course lengths of 3m, 4m, 6m, and 10m. Prevalence ranged from 4.5% (95% CI: 3.3, 5.6%) for the 10m course to 21.5% (95% CI: 17.5, 25.5%) for the 6m course. In non-Europeans, the shortest course length was 2.4m and the longest course length was 20m and gait speed cut offs were between 0.8m/s and 1.26m/s. As the course length increased for a given cut-point, the prevalence of sarcopenia decreased in both sex strata with the exceptions of the 20m walk course in males and females and the 4.0m to 4.572m/s gait speed for females only.

Comparison of methods of measuring muscle mass - Across all definitions, 158 sarcopenia estimates used DXA to measure muscle mass, 39 used BIA, and 21 used methods such as muscle circumference or a formula based estimate of muscle mass. Of the definitions using both BIA and DXA, the prevalence of sarcopenia was between 2.0% (EWGSOP/AWGS) and 8.5% (IWGS) higher when measured by BIA than DXA.

Discussion

Recognizing and screening for sarcopenia and developing steps for its treatment has become an important public health challenge in light of the recent development of the International Classification of Disease code. This review critically evaluated 656 individual estimates of sarcopenia from 109 articles, representing 58 unique cohorts from 26 countries. Eight common definitions of sarcopenia used in community-dwelling older adults (ALM/BMI, AWGS, ALM/weight, ALM regressed on height and weight, ALM divided by height, EWGSOP, FNIH, and IWGS) were identified. Surprisingly, sarcopenia prevalence was markedly dependant on the operationalized definition, ranging from 9.9% to 40.4%. This more than fourfold difference suggests that there are crucially important differences between the definitions of sarcopenia in regard to muscle parameters, the operationalization of variables, and study populations. We explored some of these differences in this review.

The clinical implications of a lack of standardized definition for sarcopenia are of particular concern with the introduction of the International Classification of Disease code for sarcopenia in 2016. ²⁰ With issuance of the code came no guidance for clinicians about which definition to use or how to treat individuals identified as sarcopenic, which appears to encompass many different phenotypic presentations and pursuant treatment strategies. ²⁴ It is also unknown if the participant characteristics vary in those considered sarcopenic and if different treatment strategies may be more or less effective based on the sarcopenia definitions used. Understanding which interventions to employ for composite definitions is further complicated by the inclusion of multiple variables and an absence of an outcome

for treatment. From a public health perspective, the lack of a standard definition makes it impossible to understand the burden of sarcopenia.

A key difference between definitions was whether sarcopenia was operationalized using a single measure of muscle mass (ALM/BMI, ALM/weight, ALM regressed on height and weight, and ALM/height) or a composite measure of muscle mass and muscle strength and/or physical function (AWGS, EWGSOP, FNIH, IWGS). Sarcopenia prevalence was between 24.2 and 40.4% for single measure definitions and 9.9 and 18.6% using composite definitions (**Table 3**). This suggests that there are more people with lower indices of muscle mass but fewer with lower muscle mass in conjunction with poor strength or function. However, people with low muscle mass and poor strength or function are more likely to experience disability compared to those with low muscle mass alone. ^{25,26}

Within definitions, muscle mass thresholds and the use of BIA versus DXA may explain some of the difference in prevalence estimates. For most definitions, prevalence increased across increasing age groups indicating studies including older participants are likely to report a higher prevalence. Twenty of the 22 studies with different age groups within the same population reported increased prevalence in the older age groups. However, it is unlikely that potential differences in age distribution of participants by definition explains the difference in prevalence estimates between definitions. The difference in prevalence within definition by age tertiles tended to be smaller than the difference between definitions for the same age tertile. Prevalence also increased as muscle mass cut offs increased within definitions. The same trend was found in studies that used multiple cut-points. For all definitions with both BIA and DXA measures, BIA yielded higher prevalence estimates than DXA. Conclusions about gait speed and course length were less clear due to lack of evidence. However, the results suggested that for a given gait speed, prevalence of sarcopenia generally increases with increasing course length. However, the cause of this trend is unclear and may be attributable to differences in methods of measurement such as when timers are started or the speed at which participants are instructed to walk.

A challenge encountered in this review was that subsets of the same population were used to estimate sarcopenia in multiple publications. This occurred when either a single study such as National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey or the Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey had multiple publications using overlapping but not identical participant populations. Whenever possible, sample size estimates were adjusted to better reflect the number of unique estimates contributing to the pooled data.

Our review provides a comprehensive synthesis of the literature, building upon previous systematic reviews which have only included a subset of definitions, have been restricted to specific diseases, or looked at sarcopenia in relation to another outcome. This is the first systematic review that has investigated prevalence estimates for sarcopenia definitions in community-dwelling older adults, which allows for comparisons to be made between and within definitions. Our subgroup analyses revealed factors that may contribute to differences in prevalence estimates within studies including the age distribution of the study population, muscle mass cut-points, the use of BIA versus DXA, and gait speed cut offs that require further investigation.

Our study has limitations. First, the literature search was last updated in December 2016 and does not reflect the most recent literature. Secondly, though this review highlights variables that potentially contribute to differences in prevalence, it is impossible to isolate the unique contribution of these variables due to other between-study differences including variables not investigated in this review such as study inclusion and exclusion criteria for physical performance tasks. Another limitation is the use of sex and ethnicity specific tertiles for muscle mass cut points and age opposed to the same cut points for each sarcopenia definition. This was done to allow for internal comparisons to be made for these variables within a definition by maximizing the number of studies included in each of the groups. More primary research is required to better understand what drives the differences in study prevalence. In addition to the current literature ^{27,28}, more studies are required to empirically test which sarcopenia definitions are predictive of future health status. There is also a need for further exploration of the effect of different methods of adjusting lean mass for body size on sarcopenia. Four methods of adjustment were captured in this review, ALM/height, ALM/weight, ALM regression and ALM/BMI. Adjustment of muscle parameters for body size has been shown to increase the strength of the association between muscle with function and disability, but it is unknown which of the four adjustment techniques is most appropriate. This review provides evidence that the prevalence of sarcopenia is also impacted by the method of adjustment with prevalence estimates ranging from 24.2% to 40.4%. This research will provide the information necessary for researchers and clinicians to determine what the standard definition of sarcopenia might be.

Conclusions

In this review, the pooled prevalence of sarcopenia pooled ranged between 9.9% and 40.4%, depending on the definition used. The differences in sarcopenia prevalence suggests that the definitions are not measuring the same underlying construct. In general, definitions that include measures of muscle function or physical performance in addition to muscle mass provide lower estimates of sarcopenia compared to measures of muscle mass only. Our findings also suggest that, within definitions, there are multiple sources of between study differences including participant age, the muscle mass cut-points used in definitions, and the use of DXA versus BIA. Most importantly, this review emphasizes the need for further development and refinement of the definition of sarcopenia to allow for greater comparability between future studies examining sarcopenia and its treatment.

References

- Rosenberg IH. Symposium : Sarcopenia : Diagnosis and Mechanisms Sarcopenia : Origins and Clinical Relevance 1. 1997;990–991.
- Goodpaster B, Park S, Harris T, et al. The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. *J. Gerontol. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 2006;61(10):1059–1064.
- 3. Daly RM, Rosengren BE, Alwis G, et al. Gender specific age-related changes in bone density, muscle strength and functional performance in the elderly: a-10 year prospective population-based study. *BMC Geriatr.* 2013;13(71).
- White DK, Neogi T, Nevitt MC, et al. Trajectories of gait speed predict mortality in well-functioning older adults: The Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 2012;68(4):1–9.
- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 2002;50(5):889–896.
- 6. Scott D, Hayes A, Sanders KM, et al. Operational definitions of sarcopenia and their associations with 5-year changes in falls risk in community-dwelling middle-aged and older adults. *Osteoporos. Int.* 2014;25(1):187–193.
- Gariballa S, Alessa A. Sarcopenia: prevalence and prognostic significance in hospitalized patients. *Clin. Nutr.* 2013;32(5):772–776.
- 8. Kim JH, Lim S, Choi SH, et al. Sarcopenia: an independent predictor of mortality

in community-dwelling older Korean men. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 2014;69(10):1244–1252.

- Landi F, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Liperoti R, et al. Sarcopenia and mortality risk in frail older persons aged 80 years and older: results from ilSIRENTE study. *Age Ageing*. 2013;42(2):203–209.
- Janssen I, Shepard DS, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. The healthcare costs of sarcopenia in the United States. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 2004;52(1):80–5.
- 11. Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 1998;147(8):755–763.
- 12. Newman A, Kupelian V, Visser M, et al. Strength, but not muscle mass, is associated with mortality in the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study Cohort. *Journals Gerontol. Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 2006;61(1):72–77.
- Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, et al. Sarcopenia: An undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International Working Group on Sarcopenia. *J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc.* 2011;12(4):249–256.
- Cruz-Jentoft A, Baeyens J, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. *Age Ageing*. 2010;39(4):412–423.
- 15. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Landi F, Schneider SM, et al. Prevalence of and interventions for sarcopenia in ageing adults: a systematic review. Report of the International

Sarcopenia Initiative (EWGSOP and IWGS). Age Ageing. 2014;(43):748–759.

- Pagotto V, Silveira EA. Methods, diagnostic criteria, cutoff points, and prevalence of sarcopenia among older people. *Sci. World J.* 2014;2014.
- Bijlsma AY, Meskers CGM, Ling CHY, et al. Defining sarcopenia: The impact of different diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of sarcopenia in a large middle aged cohort. *Age (Omaha)*. 2013;35:871–881.
- Pagotto V, Silveira EA. Applicability and agreement of different diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia estimation in the elderly. *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.* 2014;59:288– 294.
- Moon MK, Lee YJ, Choi SH, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism has little influences on muscle mass or strength in elderly people. *J. Korean Med. Sci.* 2010;25(8):1176–1181.
- The World Health Organization. The International Classification of Diseases, Version 10. 2016.
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA*. 2000;283(15):2008–2012.
- 22. Munn Z, Moola S, Lisy K, et al. The systematic review of prevalence and incidence data. The Joanna Briggs Institute. 2014 37 p.
- DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Control. Clin Trials*. 1986;7(3):177–188.

- Morley JE. Pharmacologic Options for the Treatment of Sarcopenia. *Calcif. Tissue* Int. 2016;98(4):319–333.
- 25. Da Silva Alexandre T, De Oliveira Duarte YA, Ferreira Santos JL, et al. Sarcopenia According To the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People (Ewgsop) Versus Dynapenia As a Risk Factor for Disability in the Elderly. J. Nutr. Heal. Aging. 2014;18(8):751–756.
- 26. Hirani V, Blyth F, Naganathan V, et al. Sarcopenia Is Associated With Incident Disability, Institutionalization, and Mortality in Community-Dwelling Older Men: The Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 2015;16(7):607–613.
- 27. McLean RR, Shardell MD, Alley DE, et al. Criteria for clinically relevant weakness and low lean mass and their longitudinal association with incident mobility impairment and mortality: The Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (FNIH) sarcopenia project. *Journals Gerontol. Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 2014;69 A(5):576–583.
- Cesari M, Rolland Y, Van Kan GA, et al. Sarcopenia-related parameters and incident disability in older persons: Results from the "Invecchiare in Chianti" study. *Journals Gerontol. - Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 2015;70(4):457–463.
- Baker JF, Long J, Leonard MB, et al. Estimation of Skeletal Muscle Mass Relative to Adiposity Improves Prediction of Physical Performance and Incident Disability. *Journals Gerontol. Ser. A.* 2017;0(0):1–7.

Table 1. Summary of study characteristics

Definition, year that	Cohorts included	Countries represented			Range of ages	Number of participants,	Range of measures of sarcopenia	Range of measures of
definition was developed			estimates	collection	included	total number, (lowest – highest)		sarcopenia prevalence
EWGSOP, 2009	AGES Reykjavik ¹ BEFRAIL ² BRHS ³ EPIC ⁴ Hertfordshire Cohort Study ^{5,6} Hertfordshire Sarcopenia Study ⁵ HSHD ⁷ Sumukadas, 2015 – Scotland ⁸ COMO VAI? ^{9,10} Quilombola Elderly ¹¹ Lafaiete Coutinho- BA ¹² SABE – Brazil ^{13,14} COURAGE/SAGE	Belgium Great Britain	210	1998 - 2014	50+	17,655)	Muscle mass: thigh muscle surface area (<116.5cm ² males, <83.2cm ² females), mid arm muscle circumference area (lowest 40% of participants at risk for sarcopenia, or <21.1cm males and <19.2cm in females), calf circumference (31 - 34cm males, 31 - 33cm females), skinfold thickness (lowest third), ALM/height ² measured with DXA and BIA (5.58 – 10.75kg/m ² males, 4.32 - 6.75kg/m ² females), ALM/BMI (country specific lowest quintile), unadjusted lean body mass (lowest	Males: 0% - 36.7% Females: 0% - 62.2%

	Mexico		tertile), ALM/body	
	Poland		weight (< 27.1% - 29.9%)	
	Russia		males, <22.3% - 25.1%	
	South Africa		females), ALM	
	Spain		regressed on height and	
15	France		weight (lowest tertile),	
I-Lan ¹⁸	Taiwan		total ASM (<19.75kg	
Lin, 2014 –			males).	
Taiwan ¹⁹			,	
Taichung			Muscle strength: HGS (<	
Community Health			25 - 30kg males, < 16 -	
20,21			20kg females or <33nm,	
TOP Study ²²			or BMI based cut points,	
			or <0.75Nm males,	
IlSirente ²³⁻²⁷	Italy		<0.79 Nm females, or	
InCHIANTI Study			lowest quantiles,).	
28,29				
Kashiwa Cohort	Japan		Physical performance:	
Study ³⁰⁻³³			Walk speed (<0.8m/s,	
Japan Murakami ³⁴			<1.0m/s, 1.26m/s,	
OSHPE ³⁵			age/sex or height	
ROAD Study ³⁶			specific cut offs, course	
	Korea		distance of $2.44 - 10m$)	
	Netherlands		or SPPB (score of less than 8)	
Wen, 2015 –	China		ulali oj	
China ⁴²				
	Mexico			
	United			
	States			

	SABE – Colombia 46 SARIR ^{47,48} SMAS ⁴⁹ CHAMP ⁵⁰ The FORMoSA Project ^{51,52}	Colombia Iran Australia Germany	-					
AWGS, 2014	Chinese Elderly Study ⁵³ No-Name China ⁴² I-Lan ⁵⁴ ROAD Study, (n=2) ^{36, 55}	China Taiwan Japan	30	2010 – 2013		2835 (286 – 1149)	circumference (cut off of 31cm), DXA measured ALM/height (cut offs of	
IWGS, 2009	EPIDOS ¹⁷ Hertfordshire Cohort Study ⁶ NHANES (1988 – 1994) ⁵⁶ Wen, 2015 – China ⁴²	France Britain United States China	37	1988 – 2015	60+		Muscle mass: DXA or BIA measured ALM/height ² (<7.23kg/m ²	Males: 0% - 35.9% Females: 0% - 24.2%

	Tramontano – Peru ⁵⁷ FORMoSA Project ⁵² Gouveia, 2016 - Portugal ⁵⁸		_				 (<0.789 males, <0.512 females). Muscle strength: handgrip strength (<26kg males, <12kg females) Physical function: gait speed (<0.8m/s or 1.0m/s, course length 4m, 6m, 10m, or 50 feet) 	
FNIH, 2014	2004) ^{59, 60} CHAMP ^{50, 61}	Britain United States Australia	85	1999 – 2013		10,979 (290 – 4984)	Muscle mass: DXA measured ALM/height ² (7.23kg/m ² males, 5.67kg/m ² females), unadjusted ALM (<19.75kg males, <15.02kg females), ALM/BMI (<0.789 males, <0.512 females). Muscle strength: handgrip strength <26kg males, <16kg females. Physical function: gait speed (<0.8m/s or <1.0m/s)	Males: 3.1% - 72.8% Females: 0% - 63.6%
	SMAS ⁴⁹	Australia	147	1988 – 2013	50+	32,732	Muscle mass: measured by DXA or BIA with cut	Males: 9.9% - 70.7%

ASM divided			I	<u> </u>	$(70 1652)^{3}$	points ranging from	
							F 1
by height,						6.52kg/m ² to 10.65 kg/m ²	
1998						for males and 4.59 kg/m ²	
	NHANES (1988 –	United				to 8.5 kg/m ² for females.	58.1%
	1994) ^{62, 63}	States					
	NHANES (1999 –						
	2000) 64						
	Cardiovascular						
	Health Study 65, 66						
	Health ABC 67, 68						
	NMAPS ⁵⁹						
	Buehring, 2013 -						
	US ⁷⁰						
	STORM ⁷¹						
	The Framingham						
	Study ⁷²						
	New Mexico Elder						
	Health ⁷³						
	WHAS II ⁷⁴						
	KNHANES (2008	Korea					
	$-2009)^{75-78}$						
	KHNAES (2008 –						
	2010)						
	KNHANS (2008 –						
	2011) 82, 83						
	KLoSHA 37, 84						

^a Assumed that the 2008 - 2010 KNHANES study included all participants in the 2008 - 2009 grouping. The sample size for KNHANES 2008 - 2011 was disregarded (n=463) because of the small sample size an impossibility of knowing which participants were included in other samples. Therefore this is an underestimation of the sample size.

	Angen Comistri							
	Ansan Geriatric							
	Study ⁸⁵	Claire a						
	No-Name China ⁴²							
	Taichung	Taiwan						
	Community Health							
	MINOS ⁸⁷	France						
	EPIDOS	Tance						
	Portuguese	Portugal						
	centenarians 91	C						
	No-Name	Germany						
	Germany ⁹²							
	EXERNET 93	Spain						
	NuAge ⁹⁴	Canada						
	Quilombola	Brazil						
	Elderly ¹¹							
	SPAH ^{95, 96}							
ASM/weight,	KLoSHA ^{37, 84}	Korea	56		60+	21,219 ^b		Males: 3.1%
2002	KNHANES (2008			2013			measured using DXA,	- 56.1%
	- 2009)					(286 – 6949)	BIA, or densitometry	
	KNHANES (2008						5 0	Females:
	- 2010) 37,99,100						1 0	3.2% -
	KNHANES (2008							52.3%
	- 2011) ⁸³						males and 19.43% to	
	KHNAES (2009 –						37.0% in females.	
	2010) ⁹⁹							
	KHANES (2009 -							
	2011) 101							

^b Assumes that the 6949 participants reported for KNHANES (2008 – 2011) encompasses the participants from all KNHANES studies using a subset of that data. This will be resulted in an underestimation of the number of participants

	KNHANES (2009) ¹⁰² KNHAES (2010 – 2011) ¹⁰³ KNHANES (2010) ¹⁰⁴ NHANES (1999 – 2004) ¹⁰⁵ NHANES (1988 – 1994) ¹⁰⁶ Wen, 2015 – China ⁴² SMAS ⁴⁹							
ASM regressed on height and weight, 2003	EPIDOS ¹⁷ Health ABC ^{67, 68} Mr OS ¹⁰⁷ The Framingham Study ⁷² SMAS ⁴⁹	France United States (n=4) Australia	31	1992 – 2011	65+	15,289 (419 – 5993)	Muscle mass: measured by DXA and regressed on weight and height. Lowest quintile considered sarcopenic.	Males: 8.2% - 27.1% Females: 8.1% - 30.5%
ALM/BMI, 2014	TASOAC ¹⁰⁸ SPAH (n=2) ^{95, 96} NHANES 1999 – 2004 ⁶⁰	Brazil United States	60	1999 – 2004	60 +	3880	Muscle mass: ALM/BMI. Cut off of <0.789 for males and <0.512 for females.	Males: 4.0% - 47.3% Females: 3.6% - 51.2%

Other	Cardiovascular	United	6	1988 –	55+	8,824	Muscle mass: BIA fat	Males:
	Health Study 65	States		2011			free mass of <47.9kg for	6.2,% no
	Rancho Bernardo					(733 – 3366)	men and <34.7kg for	upper
	Study ¹⁰⁹						women.	estimate
	EPIDOS ¹⁷	France						
							Muscle strength:	Females:
	SMAS ⁴⁹	Australia					Handgrip strength	5.9%, no
							adjusted for height using	upper
							regression (lowest	estimate
							tertile), handgrip	
							strength only (<30kg	
							males, <20kg females),	
							knee extensor strength	
							(<23.64 males, <15.24	
							females)	

Definition	Number of	Participants	Fo	orest plot		Prevalence	95% CI	Heterogeneity
	studies	(n)		_		estimate		
EWGSOP/AWGS	83	58283				12.9%	9.9, 15.9%	93% (P<0.001)
IWGS	12	10381	_			9.9%	3.2, 16.6%	52% (P =0.100)
FNIH	16	6467				18.6%	11.8, 25.5%	75% (<i>P</i> =0.003)
ALM/height	68	39135		—		30.4%	20.4%, 40.3%	87% (P <0.001)
ALM/weight	27	18985		_		40.4%	19.5, 61.2%	100% (P <0.001)
ALM regression	6	16899				30.4%	20.4, 40.3%	87% (P <0.001)
ALM/BMI	8	4984	_ B			24.2%	18.3, 30.1%	92% (<i>P</i> <0.001)
Other	6	9243	_			18.0%	7.3, 28.8%	100% (P <0.001)
			0%	40% 8	0%			

Table 2. Overall sarcopenia prevalence estimates

Abbreviations: ALM – appendicular lean mass; ALM – appendicular skeletal mass; AWGS – Asian Working Group on Sarcopenia; EWGSOP – European Working Group on Sarcopenia; FNIH – Foundation for the National Institutes of Health; IWGS – International Working Group on Sarcopenia

Definition	Age Group	Number of studies	Number of participants	Forest Plot		Prevalence Estimate	95% CI	Heterogeneity
	Youngest	48	24244			9.9%	5.4, 14.4%	94%, (<i>P</i> <0.001)
EWGSOP/	Middle	47	35553	-	-	15.1%	13.5, 16.7%	8%, (P=0.370)
AWGS	Oldest	46	12393		-	19.4%	15.6, 23.2%	70%, (<i>P</i> =0.006)
	Youngest	5	3143		ł	14.8%	3.7, 33.2%	0%, (<i>P</i> =0.360)
	Middle	6	4493	-	ŀ	1.0%	0.0, 3.3%	88%, (<i>P</i> =0.004)
IWGS	Oldest	5	3553		ŀ	6.7%	3.1, 10.3%	0%, (<i>P</i> =0.500)
	Youngest	15	8208			12.5%	7.6, 17.4%	0%, (<i>P</i> =0.650)
	Middle	15	4129	_		25.3%	11.3, 39.3%	79%, (P<0.001)
FNIH	Oldest	15	2911		-	29.0%	14.9, 43.0%	92%, (P<0.001)
	Youngest	33	14079		-	28.9%	16.8, 41.0%	87%, (P<0.001)
	Middle	31	24697	_	-	27.9%	14.7, 41.2%	92%, (P<0.001)
ALM/height	Oldest	32	15183	_	-	34.5%	24.0, 45.0%	30%, (P=0.220)
0	Youngest	11	8735	_		51.1%	38.0, 64.3%	94%, (P<0.001)
	Middle	11	5113	_		48.5%	33.6, 63.5%	96%, (<i>P</i> <0.001)
ALM/weight	Oldest	11	4266	B		51.1%	34.3, 67.8%	97%, (P<0.001)
0	Youngest	4	8976	•	ľ	20%	19.1, 20.9%	0%, (<i>P</i> =0.330)
	Middle	2	1401		ľ	27%	24.2, 19.9%	0%, (<i>P</i> =0.750)
ALM regression	Oldest	2	3299		ľ	19.1%	8.8, 29.3%	94%, (<i>P</i> <0.001)
3	Youngest	8	2129	— —	ľ	18.4%	12.0, 24.8%	98%, (<i>P</i> <0.001)
	Middle	8	1635	B	-	27%	18.1, 35.8%	92%, (P<0.001)
ALM/BMI	Oldest	8	1173	B	-	33.6%	22.5, 44.8%	71%, (P<0.020)
				0% 40%	80%			

Table 3. Sarcopenia prevalence stratified by definition and age groups

Abbreviations: ALM – appendicular lean mass; ALM – appendicular skeletal mass; AWGS – Asian Working Group on Sarcopenia; EWGSOP – European Working Group on Sarcopenia; FNIH – Foundation for the National Institutes of Health; IWGS – International Working Group on Sarcopenia

Definition	Muscle mass	Number	Number of	Forest Plo	t		Prevalence	95% CI	Heterogeneity
	group	of	participants				Estimate		
		studies							
EWGSOP/	Lowest	14	6573				9.4%	4.6, 14.1%	93%, (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
AWGS ^a	Middle	18	6763	-			10.2%	7.5, 12.9%	65%, (<i>P</i> =0.020)
AWGS	Highest	18	10644				18.4%	14.7, 22.1%	23%, (<i>P</i> =0.260)
EWGSOP/	Lowest	16	11355				8.7%	4.2, 13.2%	92%, (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
AWGS ^b	Middle	18	10642	-			9.5%	7.2, 11.9%	65%, (<i>P</i> =0.020)
AWGS	Highest	15	18045				18.4%	14.7, 22.1%	23%, (<i>P</i> =0.260)
	Lowest	2	3427				7.9%	0.0, 20.3%	100%, (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
	Middle	1	1325	•			3.3%	2.3, 4.3%	N/A
IWGS	Highest	1	2500	-			24.2%	22.5, 25.9%	N/A
	Lowest	15	12334	I			26.3%	0.0, 55.1%	100%, (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
	Middle	19	11619	_			17.2%	8.2, 26.2%	85%, (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
ALM/height ^c	Highest	15	18045				47.3%	22.1, 72.6%	93%, (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
	Lowest	15	6797		_		8.7%	4.2, 13.2%	92%, (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
	Middle	17	6572				9.5%	7.2, 11.9%	61%, (<i>P</i> =0.020)
ALM/height ^d	Highest	18	10611				18.4%	14.7, 22.1%	23%, (<i>P</i> =0.260)
	Lowest	7	6949	•			9.9%	8.0, 11.8%	0%, (<i>P</i> =0.390)
	Middle	9	3984	1			39.3%	35.4, 43.1%	0%, (<i>P</i> =0.640)
ALM/weight	Highest	4	3718	1	•		43%	40.8, 45.1%	93%, (<i>P</i> <0.001)
				0%	40%	80%			

Table 4. Sarcopenia prevalence stratified by definition and muscle mass measure groups

Abbreviations: ALM – appendicular skeletal mass; AWGS – Asian Working Group on Sarcopenia; EWGSOP – European Working Group on Sarcopenia; IWGS – International Working Group on Sarcopenia

^a Male ordered cut points were used.

^b Female ordered cut points were used.

^c Male ordered cut points were used.

^d Female ordered cut points were used.

Supplementary Appendices

Supplementary appendices are available online at:

https://academic.oup.com/ageing/article/48/1/48/5058979#supplementary-data

Chapter 3: Proportion of sarcopenic participants and agreement between sarcopenia definitions

This chapter has been submitted to *Journals of Gerontology – Medical Sciences*. Alexandra Mayhew was responsible for developing the research question and study protocols, applying for data, analyzing data, writing and revising the drafts of the manuscripts. The work is primarily the undertaking of Alexandra Mayhew with guidance from Drs. Parminder Raina and Stuart Phillips throughout the project. Dr. Nazmul Sohel assisted with coding for the data analyses. Thesis committee members, Drs. Russell de Souza, Paul McNicholas, Gianni Parise, and Lehana Thabane provided feedback throughout the project. As an author generated version of a submitted manuscript, no copyright license documentation is required.

Context and background

The results of **Chapter 2** of this thesis, A Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses of Sarcopenia Prevalence showed that sarcopenia prevalence varied from 9.9% to 40.4% in community dwelling older adults depending on the definition used for sarcopenia. Due to the differences in study populations and methods of operationalizing sarcopenia, it was impossible to determine what components of the sarcopenia definitions were driving the differences in prevalence estimates. The objective of this study was to better understand the impact of the method of operationalizing sarcopenia on the proportion of sarcopenic participants and to assess the agreement between definitions. To accomplish this objective, this study identified participants from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging as sarcopenic. A list of sarcopenia definitions was developed that not only captured the range of definitions in the literature, but also allowed for the impact of each sarcopenia component on the proportion of sarcopenic participants and agreement to be individually examined. By using the same sample for all analyses, differences in prevalence were attributable to the definitions rather than to differences in the study population.

Chapter 3: Proportion of sarcopenic participants and agreement between sarcopenia definitions

Title: Sarcopenia in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging: The impact of diagnostic criteria on the proportion of sarcopenic participants and the agreement between criteria

Authors: Alexandra J Mayhew ^{1,2,3}, Stuart M Phillips ⁴, Nazmul Sohel ^{1,2,3}, Lehana Thabane ^{1,5}, Paul D McNicholas ⁶, Russell J de Souza ^{1,7}, Gianni Parise ⁴, Parminder Raina ^{1,2,3}

Affiliations: 1. Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 2. Labarge Centre for Mobility in Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 3. McMaster Institute for Research on Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 4. Department of Kinesiology, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 5. Department of Mathematics & Statistics, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 6. Population Genomics Program, Chanchlani Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 7. Biostatistics Unit, Research Institute at St Joes, St. Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton, 50 Charlton Avenue E, Hamilton, ON, L8N 4A6, Canada.

Submitted to: Journals of Gerontology – Medical Sciences

Abstract

Background: Definitions for sarcopenia incorporate different combinations of muscle mass, strength, and function and utilize different methods of adjusting muscle mass. It is unclear how these operational differences impact prevalence and the agreement between definitions.

Methods: Appendicular lean mass, grip strength, and usual gait speed were measured in 25,399 participants from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Sarcopenia was operationalized as muscle mass alone, muscle mass and grip strength, and muscle mass and gait speed. Muscle mass was adjusted for height², weight, body mass index (BMI), and regressing muscle mass on height and fat mass. The sex-specific 20th percentile muscle mass values of participants aged ≥ 65 years were used as the threshold for low muscle mass. The proportion of sarcopenic participants was calculated for each definition and Cohen's kappa was used to measure agreement between definitions.

Results: The mean age was 62.9 ± 10.2 years and 49.9% of the sample was male. The agreement between definitions including muscle mass and grip strength and muscle mass and gait speed were modest with Cohen's kappa values of ≤ 0.41 . Limited agreement was observed between the methods of adjusting muscle mass with Cohen's kappa values of < 0.35 with the exception of ALM/weight and ALM/BMI with values of 0.60 in both males and females and ALM/height² and ALM/residuals with kappa values of 0.63 in males and 0.46 in females.

Conclusions: Sarcopenia defined using different muscle variables and muscle mass adjustment techniques have insufficient agreement to be used interchangeably.

Introduction

Sarcopenia is the progressive decrease in muscle mass, strength, and physical function that occurs with age. (1) The timing of the onset of sarcopenia is not known, but is usually measurable at approximately the fifth decade of life, from which time muscle mass typically declines 0.8% and strength 1% to 3% annually. (2–4) The consequences of sarcopenia such as functional declines, culminating in a loss of independence in self-care abilities, are not evident until later in life. Sarcopenia is associated with a significantly greater risk for poor health outcomes including disability and functional impairments (5), increased risk of falls (6–8), longer hospital stays (9), and an increased risk of mortality. (10,11) In 2000, it was estimated that the United States incurred \$18.5 billion in direct health care costs due to sarcopenia alone. (12)

Definitions of sarcopenia have evolved from the original measures including muscle mass only, measured using appendicular lean mass (ALM). (13–16) The inclusion of strength and function in the definition of sarcopenia recognizes the strong and important association these variables have with outcomes such as disability and mortality. (17) The International Working Group on Sarcopenia (IWGS) defines sarcopenia using low muscle mass and low muscle function (15) whereas both the revised European Working Group on Sarcopenia (EWGSOP) and the Foundation for the National Institute of Health (FNIH) recommend considering both low muscle mass and low muscle strength. (16,18) The various definitions, in addition to recommending the inclusion of different variables, recommend different method of adjusting muscle mass including dividing ALM by height

in meters squared (height²), weight in kilograms, body mass index (BMI), and using the residuals from a linear regression model adjusting ALM for fat mass and height. (13–16)

The use of different definitions and methods of adjusting ALM result in varying estimates of sarcopenia prevalence. A recent systematic review and meta-analyses showed that sarcopenia prevalence estimates varied widely between 9.9 to 40.4% in community dwelling older adults. (19) Studies assessing different sarcopenia definitions in the same population have similarly found a wide range of prevalence estimates as well as low to modest agreement between definitions. (20–27) This likely reflects variation across the components of each operationalized definition of sarcopenia. Consequently, the impact of changing a single sarcopenia definition criterion (e.g., the combination of muscle variables or the methods of adjusting ALM) impacts sarcopenia prevalence and agreement. The method used to develop muscle mass cut points further complicates comparisons. Cut points for the different adjustment techniques are recommended based on comparisons to healthy young reference populations, clinical evidence, or the lowest sex-specific quintile of the study population. (13–16) The choice of cut point will determine the proportion of participants classified as having low muscle mass. When cut points differ, the comparability between muscle mass adjustment techniques across studies is limited.

Understanding how combinations of muscle mass, muscle strength, and/or muscle function as well the muscle mass adjustment techniques impact sarcopenia prevalence and agreement is vital for interpreting and comparing results between studies using

different sarcopenia definitions. Using data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA), the objectives of this study were to assess 1) the impact of different sarcopenia definitions on the prevalence of sarcopenia; and 2) the agreement between different sarcopenia definitions.

Methods

Setting and study population

The CLSA is a national, longitudinal research platform that includes 51,338 participants aged 45 to 85 years at baseline from the ten Canadian provinces. Details on the study design have been described elsewhere. (28) Participants had to be physically and cognitively able to participate on their own and not living in institutions such as long term care. Of these participants, there are 21,241 participants in the Tracking cohort who were randomly selected from all ten provinces and were interviewed by phone. The remaining 30,097 participants are a part of the Comprehensive cohort and were randomly selected from participants living within 25 to 50 km of one of 11 Data Collection Sites located in seven provinces. The Comprehensive cohort participants are interviewed in-person and complete in-depth physical assessments at the Data Collection Sites as well as provide blood and urine samples. The present study uses data from the 30,907 participants in the Comprehensive cohort who provided physical assessment data and identified as European between 2011 and 2015. We limited our analysis to Europeans only, because standards for muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical function have been derived from this population. (29–31) De-identified data was provided by the Canadian Longitudinal Study

on Aging. Ethics approval for this study was provided by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Boards (#2686).

Clinical measurements

Trained research assistants conducted all measurements. Height was measured with a stadiometer, taking the mean value of two measurements; and weight using a digital scale (Rice Lake, Model 140-10-7). BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height squared. Muscle mass was measured by Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) using Hologic Discovery ATM, which was calibrated daily using a spine phantom, weekly using a whole body step phantom, and yearly using a gold standard phantom. DXA provides an estimates of ALM which measures the amount of lean mass which includes water and all other non-bone and non-fat soft tissues in the arms and legs. (32,33) We measured hand grip strength with the Tracker Freedom® Wireless Grip Dynamometer. Participants performed three repetitions with their dominant hand, the highest value of which was used in the analyses. Grip strength measured using a dynamometer has been shown to have excellent reliability and is predictive of falls, disability, and impaired health-related quality of life. (34) Gait speed was measured using a four meter walk course with participants instructed to walk at their normal walking speed. The four meter walk test has excellent test-re-test reliability and is associated with self-rated health and performance on chair rise and balance tests. (35,36)

Sarcopenia definitions

Sarcopenia was defined as 1) low muscle mass alone; 2) low muscle mass and low muscle strength; and 3) low muscle mass and low muscle function. Grip strength was chosen as the measure of muscle strength, and gait speed as the measure of muscle function because they are recommended by all consensus definitions and available in the CLSA. (13–16) We selected cut offs for grip strength (30kg for males and 20kg for females) and gait speed (0.8 m/s) recommended by the original EWGSOP guidelines. (14) We used four techniques to adjust muscle mass: 1) height (in meters squared); 2) weight (kg); 3) BMI (kg/m²); 4) residuals of ALM regressed on fat mass (kg) and height (m). To optimize the comparison of prevalence and agreement across definitions, we standardized the proportion of participants with low muscle mass according to each adjustment technique. To do this, cut points corresponding to the lowest sex-specific quintiles of muscle mass in CLSA participants aged 65 years and older were selected. The sample for cut point development was limited to those aged 65 years and older as most previous reference populations have a minimum age of between 60 and 70 years. (14) In total, we assessed 12 sarcopenia definitions. Sensitivity analyses using thresholds corresponding to the lowest sex-specific 10th and 40th percentiles of muscle mass in CLSA participants aged 65 years and older were conducted.

Statistical analyses

We determined the percentage of sex-stratified participants categorized as sarcopenic by each of the 12 definitions, and calculated bootstrap percentile confidence intervals for each estimate. We used Cohen's Kappa to assess the agreement between sex-stratified
participants identified as sarcopenic using different muscle mass adjustment techniques as well as different combinations of muscle mass with grip strength and gait speed. Specifically, we assessed agreement for sarcopenia between muscle mass techniques (height², weight, BMI, residuals) within definitions of sarcopenia using 1) muscle mass alone; 2) muscle mass and grip strength; and 3) muscle mass and gait speed. Agreement for identifying sarcopenia between different combination of sarcopenia variables (muscle mass, grip strength, gait speed) was assessed within each muscle mass adjustment technique (height², weight, BMI, residuals). All analyses were stratified by sex. Due to prevalence of sarcopenia increasing with age, age stratified analyses (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, and 75-85 years) were conducted. We used SAS (version 12.3) for all analyses. The manuscript is reported according to the STROBE statement.

Results

Participant characteristics

After excluding participants who identified as non-European (n=1324), or who were missing muscle mass, grip strength, gait speed, or BMI data (n= 3356), there were 25,399 participants included in the analyses. **Table 1** displays the characteristics of the included participants by age group (younger than 65 years and 65 years and older) and sex. The mean age of the participants was 62.8 ± 10.2 years and 49.9% of the sample were males. Younger males and females had greater ALM ($28.8 \text{kg} \pm 4.4$ and $19.0 \text{kg} \pm 3.5$), grip strength ($47.3 \text{kg} \pm 9.1$ and $28.6 \text{kg} \pm 5.6$), and gait speed ($1.03 \text{m/s} \pm 0.18$ and $1.02 \text{m/s} \pm$ 0.19) compared to older males and females (ALM: $25.9 \text{kg} \pm 3.8$ and $17.4 \text{kg} \pm 3.0$, grip strength: 39.4kg ± 8.5 and 23.6kg ± 5.2 , and gait speed: 0.94m/s ± 0.19 and 0.90m/s ± 0.19).

Muscle mass cut offs

The muscle mass thresholds for the 10^{th} , 20^{th} , and 40^{th} percentiles were 7.29, 7.68, 8.23 for ALM/height², 26.96, 28.33, 30.12 for ALM/weight, 0.78, 0.83, 0.90 for ALM/BMI and -4.75, -3.61, and -1.97 for ALM residuals for males. For females, the muscle mass thresholds for the 10^{th} , 20^{th} , and 40^{th} , percentiles were 5.58, 5.93, and 6.42 for ALM/height², 21.40, 22.36, and 23.81 for ALM/weight, 0.52, 0.55, 0.60 for ALM/BMI and -2.95, -2.20, and -1.14 for the ALM residuals.

Combination of variables

Regardless of sex, age, and method of adjusting for muscle mass, the proportion of participants considered sarcopenic was highest when sarcopenia was operationalized as muscle mass alone, followed by muscle mass and gait speed and then muscle mass and grip strength. In males 45 to 85, for the four different methods of adjusting muscle mass, the proportion of participants with sarcopenia was between 12.5% and 13.8% for muscle mass only, 2.7% and 3.8% for muscle mass and gait speed, and 2.3% and 3.0% for muscle mass and grip strength. Values were similar in females, 13.0% to 15.3%, 2.9% to 4.9% and 3.2% to 3.6%. The proportion of participants that were sarcopenic increased with age for all age and sex strata for all methods of adjusting muscle mass and all

combinations of muscle variables (Figure 1, Figure 2, Supplementary Table 1, and Supplementary Table 2).

Cohen's kappa, the measure of agreement between muscle mass and grip strength and muscle mass and gait speed, was between 0.32 and 0.35 for all methods of adjusting muscle mass in males and between 0.37 and 0.41 for all methods of adjusting muscle mass in females. Agreement was not significantly different across age groups in males (**Supplementary Table 3**), but tended to be significantly higher in females aged 75 to 85 compared to the younger age groups for all muscle mass adjustment techniques.

Muscle mass adjustment

For all four muscle mass adjustment techniques (height², weight, BMI, and residuals), between 13.0% and 13.8% of males (**Figure 1**) and 13.0% to 15.3% of females (**Figure 2**) aged 45 to 85 years were sarcopenic when sarcopenia was defined as only muscle mass. For muscle mass and grip strength, between 2.3% and 3.0% of males and 3.2% to 3.6% of females were sarcopenic. For muscle mass and gait speed between 2.7% and 3.8% of males and 2.9% and 4.9% of females were sarcopenic. For all methods of adjusting muscle mass, the proportion of participants categorized as sarcopenic increased with age (**Supplementary Tables 1 and 2**).

Defining sarcopenia as muscle mass only, the agreement between different methods of adjusting muscle mass using Cohen's kappa was generally poor with values of less than 0.35 with the exception of 1) ALM/weight and ALM/BMI with kappa values of 0.60 in

both males and females and 2) ALM/height² and ALM/residuals with kappa values of 0.63 in males and 0.46 in females (**Figures 3 and 4**). In both males and females, agreement between muscle mass adjustment techniques improved when low muscle mass was combined with grip strength or gait speed, though the agreement was still limited. The level of agreement did not tend to vary with age in males (**Supplementary Table 4**) or females (**Supplementary Table 5**).

Sensitivity analyses

For males and females of all ages and for all methods of muscle mass adjustment, sarcopenia prevalence increased when the low muscle mass threshold was increased from 10% to 20% and from 20% to 40% (**Supplementary Figures 1 to 4**). The difference in sarcopenia prevalence between thresholds was greatest when sarcopenia was defined as just muscle mass. All trends in the primary prevalence analyses using the 20th percentile as a threshold were observed using the 10th and 40th percentile thresholds. Generally, the agreement between sarcopenia definitions when comparing muscle mass and grip strength and muscle mass and gait speed was higher when the 10th percentile threshold was used and lower when the 40th percentile threshold was used (**Supplementary Table 3**). When comparing agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass, agreement tended to increase from the 10th to the 40th percentile thresholds (**Supplementary Tables 4 and 5**).

Discussion

This study is, to the best of our knowledge, the first to determine the extent to which different combinations of muscle variables and methods of adjusting muscle mass contribute to the differences in sarcopenia prevalence and the agreement between sarcopenia definitions reported in the literature. (20–27,37) We report that the differences in sarcopenia prevalence are highly dependent on whether sarcopenia is measured as muscle mass only or in combination with either grip strength or gait speed; however, even in circumstances where sarcopenia prevalence was similar, the agreement between muscle mass combinations and most methods of adjusting muscle mass was low.

Previous studies have shown that the prevalence of sarcopenia differs by definition and that the agreement between definitions ranges from poor to substantial. (20–27,37) These studies used various sarcopenia definitions. (13–16,38–40) Nonetheless, we view this approach as problematic as most sarcopenia definitions have more than one difference in how they are operationalized. For example, Dam et al found that 5.3% of males and 13.3% of females were sarcopenic based on the EWGSOP definition while 1.3% of males and 2.3% of females were sarcopenic based on the FNIH definition. The agreement (Cohen's kappa) was 0.53 in males and 0.14 in females. (26) The EWGSOP definition included low muscle mass adjusted for height² and one of low grip strength or low gait speed, while the FNIH definition included low muscle mass adjusted for BMI and low grip strength. Due to the multiple differences in the definitions, it is unclear to what extent changing each of the variables contributed to the difference in prevalence and the

limited agreement. Another problem with comparing sarcopenia prevalence and agreement for existing definitions found in the literature is the range of cut points for what would be considered low muscle mass. Within the same population, the recommended cut points identify anywhere between 0 and 60% of participants as having low muscle mass making it difficult to compare the prevalence between methods that have operationalized sarcopenia. (20,23)

We used a novel method of operationalizing sarcopenia to understand the factors that impact the prevalence of sarcopenia and the agreement between sarcopenia definitions. The sample for cut point development was limited to those aged 65 years and older as most previous reference populations have a minimum age of between 60 and 70 years. (14) To capture the spectrum of cut points found in the literature, a sensitivity analyses using cut offs corresponding to the lowest 10th and 40th percentiles of participants was conducted. By using the same method to determine cut points for each muscle mass adjustment technique, the comparability between sarcopenia definitions was improved. Differences in prevalence once combined with muscle strength and muscle function and agreement between definitions did not reflect underlying differences in the proportion of individuals with low muscle mass for each adjustment technique.

The major important finding of our study is that differences in sarcopenia prevalence are highly dependent on whether sarcopenia is measured as muscle mass only or in combination with either grip strength or gait speed. Operationalizing sarcopenia as muscle mass only identified around 14% of participants as sarcopenic regardless of

muscle mass adjustment technique, while including grip strength or gait speed reduced the proportion sarcopenic to between 2 and 5%, respectively. Our systematic review and meta-analyses of sarcopenic prevalence had similar results. (37) Sarcopenia prevalence was between 24.2% and 40.4% when sarcopenia was operationalized as muscle mass only, but only between 9.9% and 18.6% when the definition included muscle strength and/or muscle function. (37)

The second key finding of this study is that there was generally poor agreement between sarcopenia definitions. The agreement (Cohen's kappa) comparing muscle mass and grip strength versus muscle mass and gait speed was only fair (0.21 to 0.40) for all methods of adjusting muscle mass (**Table 1**). Agreement was limited (<0.40) between the different methods of adjusting muscle mass when sarcopenia was operationalized as muscle mass only with two exceptions: 1) ALM/height² versus ALM residuals and 2) ALM weight versus ALM/BMI for which agreement was moderate (0.41 to 0.60) to substantial (0.61 -0.80) (Figures 3 and 4). Despite the relatively high agreement for these comparisons, the percent positive agreement was less than 55% meaning that few participants were considered sarcopenic according to both definitions. Though, agreement improved when grip strength and/or gait speed were included in the sarcopenia definition, the degree of improvement did not result in any other comparisons of muscle mass adjustment techniques exceeding a kappa value of 0.60. Our findings are similar to previous studies that have found that agreement tends to be below 0.50 for different methods of adjusting muscle mass, regardless of what combination of muscle variables are used to operationalize sarcopenia. (23–26) Previous studies have generally found modestly higher

agreement (0.40 to 0.60) between combinations of muscle variables compared to our study, which may reflect the older age groups included in their analyses. (22,25,26)

While the approach taken to operationalizing sarcopenia in this study allowed for a novel investigation of what factors impact the prevalence of and the agreement between sarcopenia definitions, it does have some important limitations. Firstly, the results of this study are not specific to existing sarcopenia definitions. While the combinations of muscle variables and methods of muscle mass adjustment suggested by the consensus definitions are included, we did not use their cut points for muscle variables. Using the suggested muscle mass thresholds would not alter the conclusions of this study as our sensitivity analyses using the 10th and 40th percentiles as low muscle mass thresholds find similar results as our primary cut points. These cut points encompass the spectrum of values recommended by consensus definitions. We did not explore alternative cut offs for grip strength (26kg for males, 16kg for females) or gait speed (1.0m/s) because these cut points identify 2.7% of males and 3.4% of females as having low strength and 64.9% of males and 71.5% of females as having low gait speed. Previous studies have similarly found that these grip strength and gait speed cut off values identify too few and too many people as having low value respectively. (42,43) Another limitation of this study is that the primary analyses were limited to people of European decent. Muscle mass, grip strength, and gait speed have been shown to differ by ethnicity and the CLSA does not have the required sample size for ethnicity-specific analyses. (29–31)

Conclusions

We found that sarcopenia prevalence was substantially higher when measured using muscle mass only, but relatively similar regardless of whether muscle mass was combined with grip strength or gait speed. The method of adjusting muscle mass did not have a large impact on sarcopenia prevalence. However, agreement tended be limited when comparing muscle mass adjustment techniques and poor for comparing muscle mass and grip strength versus muscle mass and gait speed. These results highlight the need to work towards a single consensus definition for sarcopenia, one that hopefully has a strong association with future health problems, as the existing definitions have limited comparability.

Author contributions

AJM, SMP, and PR were responsible for designing this project with feedback from NS, LT, PDM, RJd, and GP. AJM, NS, and PR were responsible for the acquisition, analysis, and preliminary interpretation of the data. AJM and PR drafted the manuscript and all other authors critically reviewed the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors have approved this paper for publication and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflict of interest

None declared

Funding

None to report

Acknowledgements

This research was made possible using the data/biospecimens collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Funding for the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) is provided by the Government of Canada through the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) under grant reference: LSA 94473 and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. This research has been conducted using the CLSA dataset, Baseline Comprehensive Dataset version 4.0, under Application Number 160608. The CLSA is led by Drs. Parminder Raina, Christina Wolfson and Susan Kirkland. The opinions expressed in this manuscript are the author's own and do not reflect the views of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging.

References

- Rosenberg IH. Sarcopenia: origins and clinical relevance. J Nutr. 1997;127(5 Suppl):990S-911S. doi: 10.1093/jn/127.5.990S.
- Goodpaster B, Park S, Harris T, et al. The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. J Gerontol Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006;61(10):1059–64. <u>doi: 10.1093/gerona/61.10.1059</u>
- Daly RM, Rosengren BE, Alwis G, Ahlborg HG, Sernbo I, Karlsson MK. Gender specific age-related changes in bone density, muscle strength and functional performance in the elderly: a 10 year prospective population-based study. BMC Geriatr. 2013;13(71). doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-13-71.
- White DK, Neogi T, Nevitt MC, et al. Trajectories of gait speed predict mortality in well-functioning older adults: The Health, Aging and Body Composition Study.
 J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2012;68(4):1–9. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gls197
- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2002;50(5):889–96. doi:<u>10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50216.x</u>
- Scott D, Hayes A, Sanders KM, Aitken D, Ebeling PR, Jones G. Operational definitions of sarcopenia and their associations with 5-year changes in falls risk in community-dwelling middle-aged and older adults. Osteoporos Int. 2014;25(1):187–93. doi: 10.1007/s00198-013-2431-5

- Landi F, Liperoti R, Russo A, et al. Sarcopenia as a risk factor for falls in elderly individuals: results from the ilSIRENTE study. Clin Nutr. 2012;31(5):652–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2012.02.007
- Tanimoto Y, Watanabe M, Sun W, et al. Sarcopenia and falls in communitydwelling elderly subjects in Japan: Defining sarcopenia according to criteria of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2014;59(2):295–9. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2014.04.016
- Gariballa S, Alessa A. Sarcopenia: prevalence and prognostic significance in hospitalized patients. Clin Nutr. 2013;32(5):772–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2013.01.010
- Kim JH, Lim S, Choi SH, et al. Sarcopenia: an independent predictor of mortality in community-dwelling older Korean men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014;69(10):1244–52. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu050
- Landi F, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Liperoti R, et al. Sarcopenia and mortality risk in frail older persons aged 80 years and older: results from ilSIRENTE study. Age Ageing. 2013;42(2):203–9. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afs194
- Janssen I, Shepard DS, Katzmarzyk PT, Roubenoff R. The healthcare costs of sarcopenia in the United States. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2004;52(1):80–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52014.x
- 13. Chen L-K, Liu L-K, Woo J, et al. Sarcopenia in Asia: consensus report of the

Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2014;15(2):95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.11.025.

- Cruz-Jentoft A, Baeyens J, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age Ageing. 2010;39(4):412–23.
- Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, et al. Sarcopenia: An undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: Prevalence, etiology, and conseuqences. International Work Group on Sarcopenia. Am Med Dir Assoc. 2011;12(4):249–56. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq034
- Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. Journals Gerontol Med Sci. 2014;69(5):547–58. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu010
- Newman A, Kupelian V, Visser M, et al. Strength, but not muscle mass, is associated with mortality in the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study Cohort. Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006;61(1):72–7. doi: 10.1093/gerona/61.1.72
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: Revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing. 2019;48:16–31. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy169
- 19. Mayhew A, Amog K, Phillips S, et al. The prevalence of sarcopenia in community-

dwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: a systematic review and meta-analyses. Age Ageing. 2018;48:48–56. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy106

- Bijlsma AY, Meskers CGM, Ling CHY, et al. Defining sarcopenia: The impact of different diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of sarcopenia in a large middle aged cohort. Age (Omaha). 2013;35:871–81. doi: <u>10.1007/s11357-012-9384-z</u>
- Phu S, Vogrin S, Mphtm JZ, Hassan EB, Saedi A Al, Duque G. Agreement between initial and revised European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People definitions. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2019;20(3):382–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2018.11.026
- Volpato S, Bianchi L, Landi F. Prevalence agreement and prognostic value of EWGSOP and FNIH sarcopenia definition: The GLISTEN Study. Innov Aging. 2018;2(S1):2018. doi: <u>10.1093/geroni/igy023.2663</u>
- Pagotto V, Silveira EA. Applicability and agreement of different diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia estimation in the elderly. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2014;59:288–94.
 doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2014.05.009
- Kim TN, Park MS, Lee EJ, Chung HS, Yoo HJ, Joo H. Comparisons of three different methods for defining sarcopenia : An aspect of cardiometabolic risk. Sci Rep. 2017;7(6491). doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06831-7
- 25. Lee WJ, Liu LK, Peng LN, Lin MH, Chen LK. Comparisons of sarcopenia defined

by IWGS and EWGSOP criteria among older people: Results from the I-Lan Longitudinal Aging Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2013;14(528):1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.019

- Dam TT, Peters KW, Fragala M, et al. An evidence-based comparison of operational criteria for the presence of sarcopenia. Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014;69(5):584–90. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu013
- 27. Reijnierse EM, Trappenburg C, Leter J, Jan G. The impact of different diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of sarcopenia in healthy elderly participants and geriatric outpatients. Gerontology. 2015;61:491–6. doi: 10.1159/000377699
- 28. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, et al. The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Can J Aging. 2009;28(3):221–9. doi: 10.1017/S0714980809990055.
- Capistrant BD, Glymour MM, Berkman LF. Assessing mobility difficulties for cross-national comparisons: results from the World Health Organiation Study on Global Ageing and Adult Health. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;62(2):329–35. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12633.
- Leong DP, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, et al. Prognostic value of grip strength: findings from the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study. Lancet.
 2015;386(9990):266–73. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62000-6.
- 31. Silva AM, Shen W, Heo M, et al. Ethnicity-related skeletal muscle differences

across the lifespan. Am J Hum Biol. 2010;22(1):76-82. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.20956.

- Buckinx F, Landi F, Cesari M, et al. Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2018;9(2):269–78. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12268.
- Evans WJ, Hellerstein M, Orwoll E, Cummings S, Cawthon PM. D3 Creatine dilution and the importance of accuracy in the assessment of skeletal muscle mass.
 J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2019;10:14–21. doi: <u>10.1002/jcsm.12390</u>.
- Roberts HC, Denison HJ, Martin HJ, et al. A review of the measurement of grip strength in clinical and epidemiological studies: Towards a standardised approach. Age Ageing. 2011;40(4):423–9. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afr051
- 35. Brach JS, Perera S, Studenski S, Newman AB. The reliability and validity of measures of gait variability in community-dwelling older adults. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;89(12):2293–6. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.06.010.
- 36. Kim H, Park I, Lee H, Lee O. The reliability and validity of gait speed with different walking pace and distances against general health, physical function, and chronic disease in aged adults. J Exerc Nutr Biochem. 2016;20(3):46–50. doi: <u>10.20463/jenb.2016.09.20.3.7</u>.
- 37. Mayhew A, Amog K, Phillips S, et al. The prevalence of sarcopenia in communitydwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: A systematic review and meta-analyses. Age Ageing. 2018;48:48–56.

doi: 10.1093/ageing/afy106

- Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. Am J Epidemiol. 1998;147(8):755–63. doi: 10.1093/exfordjournals.age.a009520
- 39. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairement and physical disability. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2002;50(5):889–96. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50216.x
- 40. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing. 2010;39(4):412–23. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq034.
- Shaffer NC, Ferrucci L, Shardell M, Simonsick EM, Studenski S. Agreement and predictive validity using less conservative FNIH Sarcopenia Project weakness cutpoints. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2018;65(3):574–9. doi:10.1111/jgs.14706
- Studenski SA, Perera S, Patel K, et al. Gait speed and survival in older adults. J Am Med Assoc. 2011;305(1):50–8. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.1923

	I	Aged <6	5 years		I	Aged ≥6	5 years	
	Ma	les	Fema	ales	Ma	les	Fema	ales
	Mean	SE or	Mean	SE or	Mean	SE or	Mean	SE or
	or N	%	or N	%	or N	%	or N	%
Total population	7286	48.7	7677	51.3	5376	51.5	5060	48.5
Age, years	55.8	5.4	55.5	5.4	73.0	5.6	73.0	5.7
Height, cm	176.6	6.7	163.1	6.3	173.9	6.7	159.9	6.3
Weight, kg	89.0	16.5	74.1	16.9	84.6	14.1	70.9	14.3
BMI, kg/m2	28.5	5.0	27.8	6.3	28.0	4.2	27.8	5.5
Total body fat mass,								
%	25.5	9.5	29.8	11.0	25.5	8.0	29.6	9.4
Appendicular lean								
mass, %	28.8	4.4	19.0	3.5	25.9	3.8	17.4	3.0
ALM/height ²	9.23	1.19	7.14	1.17	8.56	1.06	6.78	1.04
ALM/weight	32.72	3.37	26.09	3.25	30.90	3.12	24.75	2.86
ALM/BMI	1.02	0.14	0.70	0.11	0.94	0.12	0.63	0.10
Gait speed, meters per								
second	1.03	0.18	1.02	0.19	0.94	0.19	0.90	0.19
Grip strength, kg	47.3	9.1	28.6	5.6	39.4	8.5	23.6	5.2
Chronic conditions								
Heart disease ⁷	648	9.0	375	4.9	1403	26.6	772	15.5
Cardiovascular								
disease ⁸	151	2.1	147	1.9	416	7.8	332	6.6
Diabetes	1108	15.3	1011	13.2	1296	24.2	876	17.4
COPD	259	3.6	341	4.5	348	6.5	408	8.1
Cataracts or								
glaucoma	707	9.9	984	13.1	2652	50.9	3027	61.7
Osteoarthritis	1070	14.9	1632	21.7	1379	26.4	2060	42.2
Depression	937	12.9	1325	17.4	527	10.0	888	17.9
I								
Dementia/Alzheimer's								
Disease	7	0.1	9	0.1	22	0.4	17	0.3
Neurological			-					_
conditions ⁹	648	8.9	1678	21.9	376	7.0	864	17.2
Osteoporosis	82	1.1	616	8.1	202	3.8	1223	24.5
Hypertension	2212	30.5	1884	24.6	2626	49.2	2463	48.9

Table 1. Participant characteristics

⁷ Heart disease includes angina, myocardial infarction, and heart disease

⁸ Cardiovascular disease includes stroke and transient ischemic attack

⁹ Neurological conditions include multiple sclerosis, epilepsy, migraine headaches, and Parkinson's Disease

Peripheral vascular								
disease	214	3.0	309	4.0	380	7.1	386	7.7
Kidney disease	2011	27.7	1960	25.6	1516	28.3	1444	28.6
Cancer	478	6.6	768	10.0	1205	22.5	975	19.3
Poor or fair self-rated								
health (%)	635	8.7	572	7.5	454	8.5	417	8.3
Smoking (%)								
Never	6483	89.4	6811	89.1	5056	94.7	4763	95.0
Former	160	2.2	157	2.1	45	0.8	42	0.8
Current	611	8.4	673	8.8	237	4.4	211	4.2
Household income								
(%)								
< \$20,000	242	3.4	329	4.5	179	3.5	423	9.4
\geq \$20,000 <								
\$50,000	770	10.9	1200	16.5	1309	25.9	1872	41.8
\geq \$50,000								
<\$100,000	2114	30.0	2496	34.3	2235	44.2	1579	35.2
\geq \$100,000 <								
\$150,000	1862	26.5	1661	22.8	866	17.1	423	9.4
\geq 150,000	2051	29.1	1593	21.9	472	9.3	185	4.1
PASE score	172.6	80.3	150.9	74.4	125.5	60.4	107.8	53.2

Table 2. Agreement between low muscle mass and grip strength versus low muscle
mass and gait speed for different methods of adjusting muscle mass

Method of adjusting	Males	Females
muscle mass	Cohen's Kappa (95% CI)	Cohen's Kappa (95% CI)
ALM adjusted for height ²	0.35 (0.30 - 0.40)	0.38 (0.33 - 0.42)
ALM adjusted for weight	0.32 (0.28 - 0.36)	0.37 (0.34 - 0.41)
ALM adjusted for BMI	0.33 (0.29 - 0.37)	0.41 (0.37 - 0.45)
ALM residuals	0.34 (0.30 - 0.39)	0.37 (0.33 - 0.41)



Figure 1. Percentage of males with sarcopenia using 20th percentile cut offs

Fig 1 the percentage of males identified as sarcopenic based on muscle mass only, muscle mass and grip strength, and muscle mass and gait speed using the four muscle mass adjustment techniques. The cut offs for the muscle mass adjustment techniques are 7.68kg/m² for ALM/height, 28.33 for ALM adjusted for weight, 0.83 for ALM adjusted for BMI, and -2.40 for the ALM residual technique. Percentage of sarcopenia is reported stratified by age (45 to 54 years, 55 to 64 years, 65 to 74 years, and 75 to 85 years)



Figure 2. Percentage of females with sarcopenia using 20th percentile cut offs

Fig 2 the percentage of females identified as sarcopenic based on muscle mass only, muscle mass and grip strength, and muscle mass and gait speed using the four muscle mass adjustment techniques. The cut offs for the muscle mass adjustment techniques are 5.93 kg/m^2 for ALM/height, 22.36 for ALM adjusted for weight, 0.55 for ALM adjusted for BMI, and -1.61 for the ALM residual technique. Percentage of sarcopenia is reported stratified by age (45 to 54 years, 55 to 64 years, 65 to 74 years, and 75 to 85 years)





Fig 3 the agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass for different combinations of muscle mass variables in males. Cohen's kappa statistics are provided for the agreement between the four methods of adjusting muscle mass (ALM/height, ALM/weight, ALM/BMI, and the ALM residuals)



Figure 4. Agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass for different combinations of muscle mass variables in females

Fig 4 the agreement between methods of adjusting muscle mass for different combinations of muscle mass variables in females. Cohen's kappa statistics are provided for the agreement between the four methods of adjusting muscle mass (ALM/height, ALM/weight, ALM/BMI, and the ALM residuals)

Supplementary Material

Supplementary Table 1. The percentage of male participants identified as sarcopenic for each combination of muscle variables, adjustment techniques for muscle mass, and the 10th, 20th, and 40th percentile cut offs, stratified by age group

			Muscle 1	nass only	Muscle	mass and g	grip strength	Musc	le mass a	nd gait speed	
Muscle mass adjustment technique	Age group (years)	Number sarcopenic	Number without sarcopenia	Percentage sarcopenic (95% CI)	Number sarcopenic	Number without sarcopenia	Percentage sarcopenic (95% CI)	Number sarcopenic	Number without sarcopenia	Percentage sarcopenic (95% CI)	
10th percentile cut points											
	45 - 54	82	3048	2.6 (2.1 - 3.2)	6	3124	0.2 (0.1 - 0.4)	9	3121	0.3 (0.1 - 0.5)	
	55 - 64	196	3957	4.7 (4.1 - 5.4)	31	4122	0.7 (0.5 – 1.0)	31	4122	0.7 (0.5 – 1.0)	
ALM/height	65 - 74	210	2934	6.7 (5.8 - 7.6)	44	3100	1.4 (1.0 - 1.8)	49	3095	1.6 (1.1 – 2.0)	
	75 - 85	328	1906	14.7 (13.2 - 16.2)	109	2125	4.9 (4.0 - 5.8)	116	2118	5.2 (4.3 - 6.1)	
	45 - 85	816		6.4 (6.0 - 6.9)	190	12471	1.5 (1.3 - 1.7)	205	12456	1.6 (1.4 - 1.8)	
	45 - 54	118		3.8 (3.1 - 4.5)	9	3121	0.3 (0.1 - 0.5)	18	3112	0.6 (0.3 - 0.9)	
	55 - 64	244	3909	5.9 (5.2 - 6.6)	35	4118	0.8 (0.6 - 1.1)	49	4104	1.2 (0.9 - 1.5)	
ALM/weight		273		8.7 (7.7 - 9.7)	51	3093	1.6 (1.2 - 2.1)	98	3046	3.1 (2.5 - 3.8)	
	75 - 85	265	1969	11.9 (10.5 - 13.2)	92	2142	4.1 (3.3 – 5.0)	105	2129	4.7 (3.8 - 5.6)	
	45 - 85	900		7.1 (6.7 - 7.5)	187	12474	1.5 (1.3 - 1.7)	270	12391	2.1 (1.9 - 2.4)	
	45 - 54	76		2.4 (1.9 - 3.0)	9	3121	0.3 (0.1 - 0.5)	12	3118	0.4 (0.2 - 0.6)	
	55 - 64	192	3961	4.6 (4.0 - 5.3)	34	4119	0.8 (0.6 - 1.1)	44	4109	1.1 (0.7 - 1.4)	
ALM/BMI	65 - 74	255		8.1 (7.2 - 9.1)	65	3079	2.1 (1.6 - 2.6)	98	3046	3.1 (2.5 - 3.8)	
	75 - 85	283		12.7 (11.3 - 14)	118	2116	5.3 (4.4 - 6.2)	116	2118	5.2 (4.3 - 6.1)	
	45 - 85	806		6.4 (5.9 - 6.8)	226	12435	1.8 (1.6 – 2.0)	270	12391	2.1 (1.9 - 2.4)	
ALM	45 - 54	60		1.9 (1.4 - 2.4)	5	3125	0.2 (0.0 - 0.3)	7	3123	0.2 (0.1 - 0.4)	
residuals	55 - 64	172	3981	4.1 (3.5 - 4.7)	21	4132	0.5 (0.3 - 0.7)	25	4128	0.6 (0.4 - 0.8)	
105144415	65 - 74	210	2934	6.7 (5.8 - 7.6)	33	3111	1.0 (0.7 - 1.4)	55	3089	1.7 (1.3 - 2.2)	

	75 - 85	328	1906	14.7 (13.2 - 16.2)	102	2132	4.6 (3.7 - 5.5)	117	2117	5.2 (4.3 - 6.2)				
	45 - 85	770	11891	6.1 (5.7 - 6.5)	161	12500	1.3 (1.1 - 1.5)	204	12457	1.6 (1.4 - 1.8)				
	20th percentile cut points													
	45 - 54	190	2940	6.1 (5.2 - 6.9)	16	3114	0.5 (0.3 - 0.8)	16	3114	0.5 (0.3 - 0.8)				
	55 - 64	380	3773	9.2 (8.3 - 10.0)	36	4117	0.9 (0.6 - 1.2)	49	4104	1.2 (0.9 - 1.5)				
ALM/height	65 - 74	443	2701	14.1 (12.9 - 15.3)	74	3070	2.4 (1.8 - 2.9)	84	3060	2.7 (2.1 - 3.2)				
	75 - 85	633	1601	28.3 (26.5 - 30.2)	191	2043	8.5 (7.4 - 9.7)	197	2037	8.8 (7.7 – 10.0)				
	45 - 85	1646	11015	13 (12.4 - 13.6)	317	12344	2.5 (2.2 - 2.8)	346	12315	2.7 (2.5 - 3.0)				
	45 - 54	211	2919	6.7 (5.9 - 7.6)	13	3117	0.4 (0.2 - 0.6)	32	3098	1.0 (0.7 - 1.4)				
	55 - 64	466	3687	11.2 (10.3 - 12.2)	50	4103	1.2 (0.9 - 1.5)	88	4065	2.1 (1.7 - 2.6)				
ALM/weight	65 - 74	572	2572	18.2 (16.9 - 19.5)	88	3056	2.8 (2.2 - 3.4)	175	2969	5.6 (4.8 - 6.4)				
	75 - 85	504	1730	22.6 (20.9 - 24.3)	157	2077	7.0 (6.0 - 8.1)	187	2047	8.4 (7.3 - 9.5)				
	45 - 85	1753	10908	13.8 (13.2 - 14.4)	308	12353	2.4 (2.2 - 2.7)	482	12179	3.8 (3.5 - 4.1)				
	45 - 54	160	2970	5.1 (4.3 - 5.9)	16	3114	0.5 (0.3 - 0.8)	23	3107	0.7 (0.4 - 1.1)				
	55 - 64	407	3746	9.8 (8.9 - 10.7)	51	4102	1.2 (0.9 - 1.6)	82	4071	2.0 (1.6 - 2.4)				
ALM/BMI	65 - 74	514	2630	16.3 (15.1 - 17.6)	100	3044	3.2 (2.6 - 3.8)	169	2975	5.4 (4.6 - 6.2)				
	75 - 85	562	1672	25.2 (23.4 - 26.9)	209	2025	9.4 (8.2 - 10.5)	200	2034	9.0 (7.8 - 10.1)				
	45 - 85	1643	11018	13 (12.4 - 13.6)	376	12285	3.0 (2.7 - 3.3)	474	12187	3.7 (3.4 - 4.1)				
	45 - 54	146	2984	4.7 (3.9 - 5.4)	13	3117	0.4 (0.2 - 0.6)	13	3117	0.4 (0.2 - 0.6)				
ALM	55 - 64	355	3798	8.5 (7.7 - 9.4)	37	4116	0.9 (0.6 - 1.2)	53	4100	1.3 (0.9 - 1.6)				
residuals	65 - 74	463	2681	14.7 (13.5 - 16)	66	3078	2.1 (1.6 - 2.6)	98	3046	3.1 (2.5 - 3.8)				
residuais	75 - 85	613	1621	27.4 (25.6 - 29.3)	171	2063	7.7 (6.6 - 8.7)	199	2035	8.9 (7.7 - 10.1)				
	45 - 85	1577	11084	12.5 (11.9 - 13)	287	12374	2.3 (2.0 - 2.5)	363	12298	2.9 (2.6 - 3.2)				
40th percentile cut points														
	45 - 54	493	2637	15.8 (14.5 - 17.0)	25	3105	0.8 (0.5 - 1.1)	32	3098	1.0 (0.7 - 1.4)				
	55 - 64	857	3296	20.6 (19.4 - 21.9)	50	4103	1.2 (0.9 - 1.5)	82	4071	2.0 (1.6 - 2.4)				
ALM/height	65 - 74	986		31.4 (29.8 - 33.0)	119	3025	3.8 (3.1 - 4.5)	162	2982	5.2 (4.4 - 6.0)				
	75 - 85	1165	1069	· /	304	1930	13.6 (12.2 - 15)	351		15.7 (14.2 - 17.2)				
	45 - 85	3501	9160	27.7 (26.9 - 28.4)	498	12163	3.9 (3.6 - 4.3)	627	12034	5.0 (4.6 - 5.3)				

	45 - 54	503	2627	16.1 (14.8 - 17.4)	29	3101	0.9 (0.6 - 1.3)	44	3086	1.4 (1.0 - 1.8)
	55 - 64	1023	3130	24.6 (23.3 - 25.9)	77	4076	1.9 (1.4 - 2.3)	147	4006	3.5 (3.0 - 4.1)
ALM/weight	65 - 74	1142	2002	36.3 (34.7 - 38.0)	136	3008	4.3 (3.6 - 5.1)	261	2883	8.3 (7.4 - 9.3)
	75 - 85	1009	1225	45.2 (43.1 - 47.3)	274	1960	12.3 (10.9 - 13.6)	356	1878	15.9 (14.4 - 17.4)
	45 - 85	3677	8984	29.0 (28.2 - 29.8)	516	12145	4.1 (3.7 - 4.4)	808	11853	6.4 (6.0 - 6.8)
	45 - 54	471	2659	15.0 (13.8 - 16.3)	28	3102	0.9 (0.6 - 1.2)	48	3082	1.5 (1.1 – 2.0)
	55 - 64	918	3235	22.1 (20.9 - 23.4)	86	4067	2.1 (1.6 - 2.5)	144	4009	3.5 (2.9 – 4.0)
ALM/BMI	65 - 74	1091	2053	34.7 (33.1 - 36.4)	147	2997	4.7 (4.0 - 5.4)	270	2874	8.6 (7.6 - 9.6)
	75 - 85	1060	1174	47.4 (45.4 - 49.6)	312	1922	14 (12.5 - 15.4)	360	1874	16.1 (14.6 - 17.6)
	45 - 85	3540	9121	28.0 (27.2 - 28.7)	573	12088	4.5 (4.2 - 4.9)	822	11839	6.5 (6.1 - 6.9)
	45 - 54	441	2689	14.1 (12.9 - 15.3)	31	3099	1.0 (0.7 - 1.3)	33	3097	1.1 (0.7 - 1.4)
ALM	55 - 64	829	3324	20.0 (18.8 - 21.2)	63	4090	1.5 (1.2 - 1.9)	106	4047	2.6 (2.1 – 3.0)
residuals	65 - 74	1024	2120	32.6 (31.0 - 34.2)	133	3011	4.2 (3.5 – 5.0)	199	2945	6.3 (5.5 - 7.2)
1 CSIQUAIS	75 - 85	1127	1107	50.4 (48.4 - 52.6)	283	1951	12.7 (11.3 - 14)	360	1874	16.1 (14.6 - 17.6)
	45 - 85	3421	9240	27.0 (26.2 - 27.8)	510	12151	4.0 (3.7 - 4.4)	698	11963	5.5 (5.1 - 5.9)

Supplementary Table 2. The percentage of female participants identified as sarcopenic for each combination of muscle variables, adjustment techniques for muscle mass, and the 10th, 20th, and 40th percentile cut offs, stratified by age group

			Muscle m	ass only	Musc	le mass a	nd grip strength	Mu	iscle mass a	and gait speed
Muscle mass adjustment technique	Age group (years)	Number sarcopenic	Number without sarcopenia	Percentage sarcopenic (95% CI)	Number sarcopenic	Number without sarcopenia	Percentage sarcopenic (95% CI)	Number sarcopenic	Number without sarcopenia	Percentage sarcopenic (95% CI)
10th percentile cut points										
	45 - 54	129	3239	3.1 (2.4 - 3.5)		3360	0.3 (0.1 - 0.5)	7	3361	0.7 (0.5 – 1.0)
	55 - 64	251	4054	7.7 (7.0 - 8.4)		4261	1.2 (0.9 - 1.6)	29	4276	2.2 (2.0 - 2.6)
ALM/height	65 - 74	257	2724	10.0 (9.0 - 11.0)	58	2923	2.5 (2.0 - 3.1)	41	2940	4.0 (3.5 - 4.7)
	75 - 85	249		10.0 (8.6 - 11.3)	131	1949	5.3 (4.3 - 6.4)	103	1977	5.8 (4.9 - 6.9)
	45 - 85	886		7.0 (6.6 - 7.4)	241	12494	1.9 (1.7 - 2.1)	180	12555	1.4 (1.2 - 1.6)
	45 - 54	104	3264	3.1 (2.4 - 3.5)	9	3359	0.3 (0.1 - 0.5)	24	3344	0.7(0.5-1.0)
	55 - 64	332	3973	7.7 (7.0 - 8.4)		4252	1.2 (0.9 - 1.6)	95	4210	2.2 (2.0 - 2.6)
ALM/weight	65 - 74	298		10.0(9.0-11.0)		2906	2.5(2.0-3.1)	118	2863	4.0 (3.5 - 4.7)
	75 - 85	208		10.0 (8.6 - 11.3)	111	1969	5.3 (4.3 - 6.4)	121	1959	5.8 (4.9 - 6.9)
	45 - 85 45 - 54	<u>942</u> 57	11793 3311	7.4 (7.0 - 7.8) 1.7 (1.1 - 2.3)	248 11	12487 3357	<u>1.9 (1.7 - 2.1)</u> 1.1 (0.8 - 1.4)	358 16	12377 3352	2.8 (2.5 - 3.1) 2.1 (1.5 - 2.5)
	45 - 54 55 - 64	224	4081	5.2 (4.4 - 5.9)		4250	3.9 (3.4 - 4.5)	63	4242	5.2 (1.5 - 2.5)
ALM/BMI	<u>65 - 74</u>	224		9.3 (8.2 - 10.3)		2901	8.2 (7.3 - 9.1)	112	2869	10.6 (9.5 - 11.6)
	75 - 85	230		11.1 (9.8 - 12.4)	143	1937	20.9 (19.3 - 22.5)	130	1950	21.8 (20.1 - 23.4)
	45 - 85	787	11948	6.2 (5.8 - 6.6)		12446	2.3 (2.0 - 2.6)	321	12414	2.5 (2.2 - 2.8)
<u> </u>	45 - 54	98	3270	2.9 (2.3 - 3.5)		3362	0.2 (0.0 - 0.3)	13	3355	0.4 (0.1 - 0.6)
47.54	55 - 64	311	3994	7.2 (6.4 - 8.0)		4257	1.1 (0.8 - 1.4)	55	4250	1.3 (0.8 - 1.6)
ALM	65 - 74	281	2700	9.4 (8.4 - 10.5)		2917	2.1 (1.6 - 2.7)	67	2914	2.2 (1.5 - 2.8)
residuals	75 - 85	225	1855	10.8 (9.6 - 12.2)	109	1971	5.2 (4.3 - 6.2)	110	1970	5.3 (4.3 - 6.3)
	45 - 85	915	11820	7.2 (6.8 - 7.6)	227	12508	1.8 (1.6 – 2.0)	245	12490	1.9 (1.7 - 2.1)

	20th percentile cut points												
	45 - 54	352	3016	10.5 (9.4 - 11.5)	20	3348	0.6 (0.4 - 0.9)	17	3351	0.5 (0.3 - 0.7)			
	55 - 64	585	3720	13.6 (12.6 - 14.6)	79	4226	1.8 (1.4 - 2.2)	70	4235	1.6 (1.3 – 2.0)			
ALM/height	65 - 74	515	2466	17.3 (15.9 - 18.6)	108	2873	3.6 (3.0 - 4.3)	85	2896	2.9 (2.3 - 3.5)			
	75 - 85	497	1583	23.9 (22.1 - 25.7)	253	1827	12.2 (10.8 - 13.6)	193	1887	9.3 (8.1 - 10.5)			
	45 - 85	1949	10785	15.3 (14.7 - 15.9)	460	12274	3.6 (3.3 - 3.9)	365	12369	2.9 (2.6 - 3.2)			
	45 - 54	236	3132	7.0 (6.2 - 7.9)	15	3353	0.4 (0.2 - 0.7)	43	3325	1.3 (0.9 - 1.7)			
	55 - 64	641	3664	14.9 (13.9 - 15.9)	96	4209	2.2 (1.8 - 2.7)	149	4156	3.5 (2.9 – 4.0)			
ALM/weight	65 - 74	586	2395	19.7 (18.3 - 21.1)	119	2862	4.0 (3.3 - 4.7)	192	2789	6.4 (5.6 - 7.3)			
	75 - 85	426	1654	20.5 (18.8 - 22.3)	199	1881	9.6 (8.4 - 10.8)	238	1842	11.4 (10.1 - 12.8)			
	45 - 85	1889	10845	14.8 (14.2 - 15.5)	429	12305	3.4 (3.1 - 3.7)	622	12112	4.9 (4.5 - 5.3)			
	45 - 54	147	3221	4.4 (3.7 – 5.0)	16	3352	0.5 (0.3 - 0.7)	27	3341	0.8 (0.5 - 1.1)			
	55 - 64	498	3807	11.6 (10.6 - 12.5)	100	4205	2.3 (1.9 - 2.8)	117	4188	2.7 (2.2 - 3.2)			
ALM/BMI	65 - 74	554	2427	18.6 (17.2 - 20.0)	153	2828	5.1 (4.4 - 5.9)	181	2800	6.1 (5.2 - 6.9)			
	75 - 85	458	1622	22.0(20.3 - 23.8)	239	1841	11.5 (10.1 - 12.8)	232	1848	11.2 (9.8 - 12.5)			
	45 - 85	1657	11077	13.0 (12.4 - 13.6)	508	12226	4.0 (3.7 - 4.3)	557	12177	4.4 (4.0 - 4.7)			
	45 - 54	227	3141	6.7 (5.9 - 7.6)	10	3358	0.3 (0.1 - 0.5)	21	3347	0.6 (0.4 - 0.9)			
ALM	55 - 64	619	3686	14.4 (13.3 - 15.4)	88	4217	2.0 (1.6 - 2.5)	99	4206	2.3 (1.9 - 2.8)			
residuals	65 - 74	557	2424	18.7 (17.3 - 20.1)	109	2872	3.7 (3.0 - 4.4)	121	2860	4.1 (3.4 - 4.8)			
i conduno	75 - 85	455	1625	21.9 (20.1 - 23.7)	200	1880	9.6 (8.4 - 10.9)	193	1887	9.3 (8.1 - 10.5)			
	45 - 85	1858	10876	14.6 (14.0 - 15.2)	407	12327	3.2 (2.9 - 3.5)	434	12300	3.4 (3.1 - 3.7)			
				40th p	ercentil	e cut poin	ıts						
	45 - 54	824	2544	24.5 (23 - 25.9)	40	3328	1.2 (0.8 - 1.5)	47	3321	1.4 (1.0 - 1.8)			
	55 - 64	1323	2982	30.7 (29.4 - 32.1)	140	4165	3.3 (2.7 - 3.8)	153	4152	3.6 (3.0 - 4.1)			
ALM/height	65 - 74	1087	1894	36.5 (34.8 - 38.2)	195	2786	6.5 (5.7 - 7.4)	182	2799	6.1 (5.3 – 7.0)			
	75 - 85	937	1143	45.0 (42.9 - 47.2)	404	1676	19.4 (17.7 - 21.2)	335	1745	16.1 (14.6 - 17.6)			
	45 - 85	4171	8563	32.8 (31.9 - 33.6)	779	11955	6.1 (5.7 - 6.5)	717	12017	5.6 (5.2 - 6.0)			
ALM/weight	45 - 54	588	2780	17.5 (16.2 - 18.7)	41	3327	1.2 (0.9 - 1.6)	94	3274	2.8 (2.2 - 3.4)			
ALM/weight	55 - 64	1371	2934	31.8 (30.5 - 33.3)	157	4148	3.6 (3.1 - 4.2)	267	4038	6.2 (5.5 - 6.9)			

	65 - 74	1174	1807	39.4 (37.7 - 41.1)	218	2763	7.3 (6.4 - 8.3)	340	2641	11.4 (10.3 - 12.5)
	75 - 85	850	1230	40.9 (38.8 - 43)	359	1721	17.3 (15.6 - 18.8)	429	1651	20.6 (18.9 - 22.4)
	45 - 85	3983	8751	31.3 (30.5 - 32.1)	775	11959	6.1 (5.7 - 6.5)	1130	11604	8.9 (8.4 - 9.4)
	45 - 54	421	2947	12.5 (11.4 - 13.6)	38	3330	1.1 (0.8 - 1.5)	70	3298	2.1 (1.6 - 2.6)
	55 - 64	1153	3152	26.8 (25.5 - 28.1)	169	4136	3.9 (3.4 - 4.5)	222	4083	5.2 (4.5 - 5.8)
ALM/BMI	65 - 74	1120	1861	37.6 (35.9 - 39.3)	245	2736	8.2 (7.3 - 9.2)	317	2664	10.6 (9.5 - 11.7)
	75 - 85	904	1176	43.5 (41.3 - 45.6)	435	1645	20.9 (19.2 - 22.7)	453	1627	21.8 (20.0 - 23.6)
	45 - 85	3598	9136	28.3 (27.5 - 29.0)	887	11847	7.0 (6.5 - 7.4)	1062	11672	8.3 (7.9 - 8.8)
	45 - 54	625	2743	18.6 (17.3 - 19.9)	30	3338	0.9 (0.6 - 1.2)	58	3310	1.7 (1.3 - 2.2)
ALM	55 - 64	1342	2963	31.2 (29.8 - 32.6)	149	4156	3.5 (2.9 – 4.0)	187	4118	4.3 (3.8 - 4.9)
residuals	65 - 74	1137	1844	38.1 (36.4 - 39.9)	200	2781	6.7 (5.8 - 7.6)	240	2741	8.1 (7.1 – 9.0)
residuals	75 - 85	887	1193	42.6 (40.5 - 44.8)	376	1704	18.1 (16.4 - 19.7)	368	1712	17.7 (16.1 - 19.3)
	45 - 85	3991	8743	31.3 (30.5 - 32.1)	755	11979	5.9 (5.5 - 6.3)	853	11881	6.7 (6.3 - 7.1)

Supplementary Table 3. Agreement (Cohen's kappa) between sarcopenia definitions including muscle mass and grip
strength and muscle mass and gait speed by each muscle mass adjustment technique

	Threshold					ales			
Comparison	percentile		- 54 years		64 years		- 74 years		85 years
	•	kappa	95% CI	kappa	95% CI	kappa	95% CI	kappa	95% CI
Grip strength of <30kg as speed <0.8m/s	nd gait	0.13	(0.07 - 0.2.0)	0.08	(0.04 - 0.12)	0.18	(0.13 - 0.22)	0.11	(0.07 - 0.15)
- 1	10						``````````````````````````````````````		````
ALM height and grip	10	0.40	(0.08 - 0.71)	0.28	(0.14 - 0.43)	0.44	(0.32 - 0.57)	0.33	(0.25 - 0.41)
strength versus ALM height and gait speed	20	0.37	(0.16 - 0.59)	0.23	(0.11 - 0.35)	0.38	(0.28 - 0.47)	0.33	(0.26 - 0.39)
neight and gan speed	40	0.20	(0.06 - 0.35)	0.14	(0.05 - 0.22)	0.30	(0.23 - 0.38)	0.27	(0.21 - 0.32)
ALM weight and grip	10	0.29	(0.07 - 0.52)	0.21	(0.09 - 0.32)	0.36	(0.26 - 0.46)	0.41	(0.32 - 0.50)
strength versus ALM	20	0.31	(0.13 - 0.48)	0.18	(0.09 - 0.26)	0.32	(0.24 - 0.39)	0.35	(0.28 - 0.42)
weight and gait speed	40	0.29	(0.16 - 0.43)	0.19	(0.11 - 0.26)	0.24	(0.18 - 0.30)	0.27	(0.22 - 0.32)
ALM BMI and grip	10	0.47	(0.21 - 0.74)	0.17	(0.06 - 0.29)	0.41	(0.32 - 0.51)	0.39	(0.30 - 0.47)
strength versus ALM	20	0.36	(0.16 - 0.55)	0.20	(0.11 - 0.29)	0.33	(0.26 - 0.40)	0.33	(0.27 - 0.39)
BMI and gait speed	40	0.23	(0.10 - 0.36)	0.19	(0.12 - 0.26)	0.26	(0.20 - 0.32)	0.26	(0.21 - 0.31)
ALM residuals and	10	0.30	(0.07 - 0.54)	0.26	(0.14 - 0.38)	0.35	(0.25 - 0.44)	0.32	(0.26 - 0.39)
grip strength versus ALM residuals and gait	20	0.33	(0.18 - 0.49)	0.20	(0.11 - 0.29)	0.31	(0.23 - 0.38)	0.27	(0.22 - 0.33)
speed	40	0.22	(0.10 - 0.33)	0.16	(0.09 - 0.22)	0.26	(0.20 - 0.32)	0.21	(0.16 - 0.26)
					Fen	nales			
Comparison	Threshold percentile	45 ·	- 54 years	55 -	55 - 64 years		- 74 years	4 years 75 -	
	-	kappa	95% CI	kappa	95% CI	kappa	95% CI	kappa	95% CI
Grip strength of <20kg and	nd gait							o 1 -	
speed <0.8m/s		0.09	(0.04 - 0.14)	0.13	(0.09 - 0.17)	0.12	(0.08 - 0.16)	0.17	(0.12 - 0.21)
ALM height and grip	10	0.00	(0.00 - 0.00)	0.27	(0.13 - 0.4.0)	0.21	(0.10 - 0.32)	0.54	(0.46 - 0.62)
strength versus ALM	20	0.05	(-0.05 - 0.15)	0.26	(0.16 - 0.35)	0.21	(0.13 - 0.29)	0.48	(0.42 - 0.54)
height and gait speed	40	0.13	(0.03 - 0.23)	0.22	(0.15 - 0.29)	0.22	(0.15 - 0.28)	0.42	(0.37 - 0.47)
ALM weight and grip	10	0.12	(-0.03 - 0.27)	0.29	(0.19 - 0.38)	0.30	(0.21 - 0.39)	0.61	(0.53 - 0.68)
strength versus ALM	20	0.20	(0.06 - 0.34)	0.23	(0.16 - 0.31)	0.23	(0.17 - 0.30)	0.55	(0.49 - 0.61)
weight and gait speed	40	0.15	(0.06 - 0.23)	0.19	(0.13 - 0.24)	0.22	(0.17 - 0.27)	0.45	(0.40 - 0.50)

ALM BMI and grip	10	0.14	(-0.04 - 0.33)	0.33	(0.22 - 0.44)	0.34	(0.26 - 0.43)	0.64	(0.58 - 0.71)
strength versus ALM	20	0.18	(0.02 - 0.34)	0.31	(0.22 - 0.39)	0.28	(0.22 - 0.35)	0.54	(0.48 - 0.60)
BMI and gait speed	40	0.17	(0.07 - 0.27)	0.23	(0.17 - 0.29)	0.24	(0.18 - 0.29)	0.43	(0.38 - 0.47)
ALM residuals and	10	0.19	(0.00 - 0.38)	0.25	(0.16 - 0.35)	0.25	(0.17 - 0.33)	0.51	(0.44 - 0.58)
grip strength versus ALM residuals and gait	20	0.12	(0.01 - 0.23)	0.22	(0.15 - 0.30)	0.24	(0.17 - 0.30)	0.48	(0.42 - 0.53)
speed	40	0.09	(0.01 - 0.17)	0.20	(0.14 - 0.26)	0.19	(0.14 - 0.24)	0.39	(0.35 - 0.44)

Muscle mass adjustment comparison	Combination of muscle variables	45	- 54 years	55 t	o 64 years	65 t	to 74 years	75 a	and older
companion				hold					
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.02	(-0.02 - 0.06)	0.02	(-0.02 - 0.05)	0.03	(-0.01 - 0.07)	0.11	(0.06 - 0.15)
ALM/weight	Mass + grip	0.26	(-0.03 - 0.56)	0.18	(0.05 - 0.30)	0.24	(0.12 - 0.36)	0.26	(0.17 - 0.34)
	Mass + gait	0.22	(0.01 - 0.43)	0.04	(-0.03 - 0.11)	0.17	(0.09 - 0.26)	0.26	(0.18 - 0.34)
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.01	(-0.03 - 0.06)	0.04	(0.00 - 0.08)	0.06	(0.01 - 0.10)	0.10	(0.05 - 0.14)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.26	(-0.03 - 0.56)	0.24	(0.10 - 0.38)	0.21	(0.10 - 0.31)	0.25	(0.17 - 0.33)
	Mass + gait	0.19	(-0.04 - 0.41)	0.04	(-0.03 - 0.12)	0.19	(0.10 - 0.28)	0.27	(0.19 - 0.35)
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.49	(0.41 - 0.57)	0.58	(0.53 - 0.63)	0.47	(0.42 - 0.51)	0.52	(0.48 - 0.56)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.63	(0.38 - 0.88)	0.72	(0.60 - 0.84)	0.70	(0.60 - 0.80)	0.68	(0.62 - 0.74)
	Mass + gait	0.73	(0.52 - 0.94)	0.57	(0.45 - 0.70)	0.58	(0.49 - 0.68)	0.64	(0.58 - 0.70)
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.59	(0.50 - 0.67)	0.59	(0.53 - 0.64)	0.56	(0.51 - 0.61)	0.54	(0.49 - 0.60)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.89	(0.74 - 1.00)	0.75	(0.64 - 0.87)	0.75	(0.67 - 0.84)	0.65	(0.57 - 0.73)
	Mass + gait	0.67	(0.47 - 0.86)	0.64	(0.53 - 0.76)	0.64	(0.56 - 0.72)	0.62	(0.55 - 0.70)
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.21	(0.15 - 0.28)	0.22	(0.17 - 0.27)	0.30	(0.25 - 0.34)	0.31	(0.27 - 0.36)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.36	(0.10 - 0.62)	0.38	(0.24 - 0.52)	0.45	(0.33 - 0.56)	0.50	(0.42 - 0.57)
	Mass + gait	0.38	(0.17 - 0.60)	0.32	(0.21 - 0.44)	0.47	(0.38 - 0.56)	0.44	(0.37 - 0.51)
ALM/BMI vs ALM	[[] Mass only	0.09	(0.03 - 0.15)	0.14	(0.09 - 0.18)	0.16	(0.12 - 0.21)	0.14	(0.10 - 0.19)
residuals	Mass + grip	0.27	(0.03 - 0.52)	0.33	(0.19 - 0.47)	0.35	(0.24 - 0.46)	0.36	(0.29 - 0.44)
	Mass + gait	0.32	(0.08 - 0.55)	0.26	(0.15 - 0.38)	0.33	(0.24 - 0.41)	0.30	(0.23 - 0.37)
					20th percentile	e thresl	hold		
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.00	(-0.04 - 0.03)	0.03	(0.00 - 0.07)	0.05	(0.02 - 0.09)	0.17	(0.13 - 0.22)
ALM/weight	Mass + grip	0.27	(0.06 - 0.49)	0.25	(0.13 - 0.37)	0.27	(0.17 - 0.36)	0.42	(0.35 - 0.49)
	Mass + gait	0.24	(0.08 - 0.41)	0.12	(0.04 - 0.20)	0.25	(0.18 - 0.32)	0.37	(0.30 - 0.43)

Supplementary Table 4. Agreement between muscle mass adjustment techniques in males stratified by age and muscle variables used to operationalize sarcopenia

ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.03	(-0.01 - 0.07)	0.06	(0.02 - 0.09)	0.07	(0.03 - 0.11)	0.13	(0.09 - 0.17)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.37	(0.16 - 0.59)	0.29	(0.17 - 0.42)	0.35	(0.26 - 0.44)	0.43	(0.37 - 0.50)
	Mass + gait	0.30	(0.11 - 0.49)	0.14	(0.06 - 0.22)	0.27	(0.20 - 0.35)	0.36	(0.30 - 0.43)
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.55	(0.50 - 0.60)	0.58	(0.54 - 0.61)	0.52	(0.48 - 0.55)	0.59	(0.56 - 0.62)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.71	(0.56 - 0.86)	0.76	(0.66 - 0.86)	0.68	(0.60 - 0.76)	0.73	(0.69 - 0.78)
	Mass + gait	0.56	(0.39 - 0.73)	0.65	(0.56 - 0.74)	0.59	(0.52 - 0.66)	0.68	(0.63 - 0.73)
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.54	(0.48 - 0.61)	0.60	(0.56 - 0.64)	0.58	(0.54 - 0.62)	0.58	(0.54 - 0.62)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.62	(0.41 - 0.83)	0.75	(0.65 - 0.84)	0.75	(0.68 - 0.82)	0.70	(0.64 - 0.75)
	Mass + gait	0.76	(0.64 - 0.89)	0.72	(0.65 - 0.80)	0.76	(0.71 - 0.81)	0.71	(0.66 - 0.76)
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.22	(0.17 - 0.27)	0.25	(0.21 - 0.29)	0.27	(0.24 - 0.31)	0.34	(0.3 - 0.37)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.47	(0.29 - 0.66)	0.50	(0.38 - 0.62)	0.50	(0.42 - 0.59)	0.59	(0.53 - 0.65)
	Mass + gait	0.58	(0.43 - 0.72)	0.41	(0.31 - 0.50)	0.53	(0.46 - 0.60)	0.53	(0.47 - 0.58)
ALM/BMI vs ALM residuals	I Mass only	0.13	(0.08 - 0.18)	0.17	(0.13 - 0.21)	0.13	(0.09 - 0.17)	0.18	(0.14 - 0.22)
	Mass + grip	0.44	(0.26 - 0.62)	0.44	(0.32 - 0.56)	0.45	(0.37 - 0.54)	0.54	(0.49 - 0.60)
	Mass + gait	0.52	(0.36 - 0.69)	0.38	(0.28 - 0.47)	0.38	(0.31 - 0.44)	0.42	(0.36 - 0.48)
					40th percentile	e thresh	old		
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.04	(0.00 - 0.07)	0.02	(-0.01 - 0.05)	0.07	(0.03 - 0.10)	0.15	(0.11 - 0.20)
ALM/weight	Mass + grip	0.36	(0.20 - 0.53)	0.37	(0.26 - 0.48)	0.51	(0.44 - 0.59)	0.64	(0.59 - 0.69)
			(0.20 0.00)	0.57	(0.20 - 0.40)	0.01	$(0.77 \ 0.57)$	0.04	(0.0) 0.0))
	Mass + gait	0.28	(0.15 - 0.42)	0.28	(0.20 - 0.36)	0.37	(0.31 - 0.43)	0.04	. ,
ALM/height vs	Mass + gait Mass only	0.28	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		(0.43 - 0.53)
ALM/height vs ALM/BMI	Ŭ		(0.15 - 0.42)	0.28	(0.20 - 0.36)	0.37	(0.31 - 0.43)	0.48	(0.43 - 0.53) (0.06 - 0.14)
0	Mass only	0.06	(0.15 - 0.42) (0.02 - 0.10)	0.28	(0.20 - 0.36) (-0.02 - 0.04)	0.37	(0.31 - 0.43) (0.00 - 0.07)	0.48	(0.43 - 0.53) (0.06 - 0.14) (0.63 - 0.72)
ALM/BMI ALM/height vs	Mass only Mass + grip	0.06 0.45	(0.15 - 0.42) (0.02 - 0.10) (0.28 - 0.62)	0.28 0.01 0.46	(0.20 - 0.36) (-0.02 - 0.04) (0.36 - 0.57)	0.37 0.04 0.54	(0.31 - 0.43) (0.00 - 0.07) (0.46 - 0.61)	0.48 0.10 0.67	(0.43 - 0.53) (0.06 - 0.14) (0.63 - 0.72) (0.42 - 0.52)
ALM/BMI	Mass only Mass + grip Mass + gait	0.06 0.45 0.32	(0.15 - 0.42) (0.02 - 0.10) (0.28 - 0.62) (0.18 - 0.45)	0.28 0.01 0.46 0.27	(0.20 - 0.36) (-0.02 - 0.04) (0.36 - 0.57) (0.20 - 0.35)	0.37 0.04 0.54 0.38	(0.31 - 0.43) (0.00 - 0.07) (0.46 - 0.61) (0.32 - 0.44)	0.48 0.10 0.67 0.47	$\begin{array}{c} (0.43 - 0.53) \\ (0.06 - 0.14) \\ (0.63 - 0.72) \\ (0.42 - 0.52) \\ (0.57 - 0.63) \end{array}$
ALM/BMI ALM/height vs	Mass only Mass + grip Mass + gait Mass only	0.06 0.45 0.32 0.62	(0.15 - 0.42) $(0.02 - 0.10)$ $(0.28 - 0.62)$ $(0.18 - 0.45)$ $(0.59 - 0.66)$	0.28 0.01 0.46 0.27 0.60	(0.20 - 0.36) $(-0.02 - 0.04)$ $(0.36 - 0.57)$ $(0.20 - 0.35)$ $(0.57 - 0.62)$	0.37 0.04 0.54 0.38 0.60	(0.31 - 0.43) $(0.00 - 0.07)$ $(0.46 - 0.61)$ $(0.32 - 0.44)$ $(0.57 - 0.63)$	0.48 0.10 0.67 0.47 0.60	$\begin{array}{c} (0.43 - 0.53) \\ (0.06 - 0.14) \\ (0.63 - 0.72) \\ (0.42 - 0.52) \\ (0.57 - 0.63) \\ (0.86 - 0.92) \end{array}$
ALM/BMI ALM/height vs ALM residuals ALM/weight vs	Mass only Mass + grip Mass + gait Mass only Mass + grip	0.06 0.45 0.32 0.62 0.82	(0.15 - 0.42) $(0.02 - 0.10)$ $(0.28 - 0.62)$ $(0.18 - 0.45)$ $(0.59 - 0.66)$ $(0.71 - 0.92)$	0.28 0.01 0.46 0.27 0.60 0.66	(0.20 - 0.36) $(-0.02 - 0.04)$ $(0.36 - 0.57)$ $(0.20 - 0.35)$ $(0.57 - 0.62)$ $(0.56 - 0.75)$	0.37 0.04 0.54 0.38 0.60 0.80	(0.31 - 0.43) $(0.00 - 0.07)$ $(0.46 - 0.61)$ $(0.32 - 0.44)$ $(0.57 - 0.63)$ $(0.75 - 0.85)$	0.48 0.10 0.67 0.47 0.60 0.89	$\begin{array}{c} (0.43 - 0.53) \\ (0.06 - 0.14) \\ (0.63 - 0.72) \\ (0.42 - 0.52) \\ (0.57 - 0.63) \\ (0.86 - 0.92) \\ (0.77 - 0.83) \end{array}$
ALM/BMI ALM/height vs ALM residuals	Mass only Mass + grip Mass + gait Mass only Mass + grip Mass + gait	0.06 0.45 0.32 0.62 0.82 0.71	(0.15 - 0.42) $(0.02 - 0.10)$ $(0.28 - 0.62)$ $(0.18 - 0.45)$ $(0.59 - 0.66)$ $(0.71 - 0.92)$ $(0.60 - 0.82)$	0.28 0.01 0.46 0.27 0.60 0.66 0.67	(0.20 - 0.36) $(-0.02 - 0.04)$ $(0.36 - 0.57)$ $(0.20 - 0.35)$ $(0.57 - 0.62)$ $(0.56 - 0.75)$ $(0.60 - 0.74)$	0.37 0.04 0.54 0.38 0.60 0.80 0.70	(0.31 - 0.43) $(0.00 - 0.07)$ $(0.46 - 0.61)$ $(0.32 - 0.44)$ $(0.57 - 0.63)$ $(0.75 - 0.85)$ $(0.66 - 0.75)$	0.48 0.10 0.67 0.47 0.60 0.89 0.80	$\begin{array}{c} (0.5) & 0.05) \\ (0.43 - 0.53) \\ (0.06 - 0.14) \\ (0.63 - 0.72) \\ (0.42 - 0.52) \\ (0.57 - 0.63) \\ (0.86 - 0.92) \\ (0.77 - 0.83) \\ (0.54 - 0.61) \\ (0.81 - 0.87) \end{array}$
ALM/BMI ALM/height vs ALM residuals ALM/weight vs	Mass only Mass + grip Mass + gait Mass only Mass + grip Mass + gait Mass only	0.06 0.45 0.32 0.62 0.82 0.71 0.61	(0.15 - 0.42) $(0.02 - 0.10)$ $(0.28 - 0.62)$ $(0.18 - 0.45)$ $(0.59 - 0.66)$ $(0.71 - 0.92)$ $(0.60 - 0.82)$ $(0.57 - 0.65)$	0.28 0.01 0.46 0.27 0.60 0.66 0.67 0.62	(0.20 - 0.36) $(-0.02 - 0.04)$ $(0.36 - 0.57)$ $(0.20 - 0.35)$ $(0.57 - 0.62)$ $(0.56 - 0.75)$ $(0.60 - 0.74)$ $(0.59 - 0.65)$	0.37 0.04 0.54 0.38 0.60 0.80 0.70 0.61	(0.31 - 0.43) $(0.00 - 0.07)$ $(0.46 - 0.61)$ $(0.32 - 0.44)$ $(0.57 - 0.63)$ $(0.75 - 0.85)$ $(0.66 - 0.75)$ $(0.58 - 0.64)$	0.48 0.10 0.67 0.47 0.60 0.89 0.80 0.57	$\begin{array}{c} (0.43 - 0.53) \\ (0.06 - 0.14) \\ (0.63 - 0.72) \\ (0.42 - 0.52) \\ (0.57 - 0.63) \\ (0.86 - 0.92) \\ (0.77 - 0.83) \\ (0.54 - 0.61) \end{array}$

ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.26	(0.22 - 0.29)	0.25	(0.22 - 0.28)	0.33	(0.30 - 0.37)	0.33	(0.30 - 0.37)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.61	(0.47 - 0.75)	0.67	(0.58 - 0.75)	0.73	(0.67 - 0.79)	0.74	(0.70 - 0.79)
	Mass + gait	0.56	(0.44 - 0.68)	0.56	(0.49 - 0.62)	0.64	(0.59 - 0.69)	0.64	(0.60 - 0.68)
ALM/BMI vs ALM	I Mass only	0.18	(0.14 - 0.22)	0.14	(0.11 - 0.17)	0.18	(0.15 - 0.22)	0.15	(0.11 - 0.19)
residuals	Mass + grip	0.56	(0.41 - 0.70)	0.68	(0.60 - 0.76)	0.70	(0.64 - 0.76)	0.75	(0.71 - 0.79)
	Mass + gait	0.47	(0.35 - 0.59)	0.49	(0.42 - 0.56)	0.56	(0.51 - 0.62)	0.57	(0.52 - 0.61)

Muscle mass adjustment comparison	djustment Combination of		45 - 54 years		55 to 64 years		65 to 74 years		75 and older		
-		10th percentile threshold									
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.00	(-0.03 - 0.03)	0.01	(-0.02 - 0.04)	0.02	(-0.02 - 0.06)	0.09	(0.04 - 0.14)		
ALM/weight	Mass + grip	0.00	(0.00 - 0.00)	0.16	(0.05 - 0.26)	0.15	(0.06 - 0.23)	0.17	(0.10 - 0.24)		
	Mass + gait	0.06	(-0.06 - 0.18)	0.05	(-0.01 - 0.11)	0.06	(0.00 - 0.11)	0.13	(0.06 - 0.20)		
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.00	(-0.03 - 0.03)	0.04	(0.00 - 0.08)	0.03	(-0.01 - 0.06)	0.11	(0.05 - 0.16)		
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.10	(-0.09 - 0.29)	0.17	(0.07 - 0.28)	0.15	(0.07 - 0.24)	0.17	(0.10 - 0.24)		
	Mass + gait	0.00	(0.00 - 0.00)	0.10	(0.01 - 0.19)	0.09	(0.02 - 0.15)	0.18	(0.10 - 0.25)		
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.42	(0.35 - 0.49)	0.35	(0.30 - 0.39)	0.38	(0.33 - 0.43)	0.43	(0.37 - 0.48)		
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.33	(0.05 - 0.61)	0.46	(0.35 - 0.58)	0.50	(0.40 - 0.60)	0.50	(0.43 - 0.57)		
	Mass + gait	0.36	(0.13 - 0.58)	0.35	(0.24 - 0.47)	0.39	(0.29 - 0.49)	0.52	(0.43 - 0.60)		
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.50	(0.40 - 0.59)	0.56	(0.51 - 0.61)	0.58	(0.53 - 0.63)	0.55	(0.49 - 0.61)		
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.50	(0.23 - 0.77)	0.76	(0.67 - 0.85)	0.60	(0.50 - 0.69)	0.61	(0.53 - 0.68)		
	Mass + gait	0.65	(0.48 - 0.82)	0.66	(0.58 - 0.75)	0.67	(0.59 - 0.74)	0.57	(0.50 - 0.65)		
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.19	(0.13 - 0.26)	0.26	(0.22 - 0.31)	0.32	(0.27 - 0.37)	0.36	(0.31 - 0.42)		
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.31	(0.04 - 0.59)	0.51	(0.40 - 0.61)	0.50	(0.41 - 0.60)	0.48	(0.39 - 0.56)		
	Mass + gait	0.49	(0.31 - 0.67)	0.35	(0.26 - 0.44)	0.40	(0.32 - 0.49)	0.47	(0.40 - 0.55)		
ALM/BMI vs ALM	Mass only	0.11	(0.05 - 0.17)	0.16	(0.12 - 0.20)	0.16	(0.12 - 0.21)	0.19	(0.14 - 0.24)		
residuals	Mass + grip	0.09	(-0.08 - 0.27)	0.45	(0.35 - 0.56)	0.32	(0.23 - 0.42)	0.31	(0.24 - 0.38)		
	Mass + gait	0.38	(0.18 - 0.57)	0.31	(0.21 - 0.40)	0.27	(0.19 - 0.35)	0.28	(0.21 - 0.35)		
	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~				20th percentil	e thresl	nold				
ALM/height vs	Mass only	-0.01	(-0.04 - 0.03)	-0.02	(-0.04 - 0.01)	-0.03	(-0.06 - 0.01)	0.05	(0.00 - 0.09)		
ALM/weight	Mass + grip	0.05	(-0.06 - 0.16)	0.27	(0.18 - 0.36)	0.25	(0.18 - 0.33)	0.22	(0.16 - 0.28)		
	Mass + gait	0.09	(-0.01 - 0.20)	0.14	(0.07 - 0.20)	0.12	(0.06 - 0.17)	0.19	(0.13 - 0.24)		

Supplementary Table 5. Agreement between muscle mass adjustment techniques in females stratified by age and muscle variables used to operationalize sarcopenia
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.00	(-0.03 - 0.03)	0.01	(-0.02 - 0.04)	0.02	(-0.02 - 0.05)	0.05	(0.01 - 0.1)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.16	(0.00 - 0.33)	0.29	(0.20 - 0.38)	0.32	(0.25 - 0.40)	0.24	(0.18 - 0.3)
	Mass + gait	-0.01	(-0.01 – 0.00)	0.14	(0.07 - 0.21)	0.18	(0.11 - 0.24)	0.19	(0.13 - 0.25)
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.52	(0.48 - 0.57)	0.45	(0.42 - 0.48)	0.44	(0.40 - 0.48)	0.45	(0.41 - 0.49)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.66	(0.50 - 0.83)	0.66	(0.58 - 0.74)	0.61	(0.54 - 0.67)	0.61	(0.56 - 0.66)
	Mass + gait	0.40	(0.24 - 0.56)	0.54	(0.46 - 0.62)	0.48	(0.40 - 0.55)	0.59	(0.53 - 0.66)
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.51	(0.44 - 0.57)	0.59	(0.55 - 0.63)	0.62	(0.58 - 0.65)	0.61	(0.56 - 0.65)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.45	(0.23 - 0.67)	0.79	(0.73 - 0.85)	0.73	(0.67 - 0.79)	0.68	(0.63 - 0.73)
	Mass + gait	0.62	(0.49 - 0.76)	0.73	(0.67 - 0.79)	0.73	(0.68 - 0.78)	0.70	(0.65 - 0.75)
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.21	(0.16 - 0.26)	0.30	(0.26 - 0.33)	0.34	(0.30 - 0.37)	0.38	(0.34 - 0.42)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.21	(0.03 - 0.39)	0.56	(0.48 - 0.65)	0.59	(0.52 - 0.66)	0.52	(0.46 - 0.59)
	Mass + gait	0.51	(0.38 - 0.64)	0.46	(0.39 - 0.54)	0.48	(0.41 - 0.54)	0.52	(0.47 - 0.58)
ALM/BMI vs ALM Mass only		0.12	(0.08 - 0.16)	0.17	(0.14 - 0.21)	0.19	(0.15 - 0.23)	0.20	(0.15 - 0.24)
residuals	Mass + grip	0.15	(0.00-0.31)	0.50	(0.42 - 0.59)	0.51	(0.44 - 0.58)	0.39	(0.33 - 0.44)
	Mass + gait	0.34	(0.20 - 0.49)	0.39	(0.31 - 0.47)	0.39	(0.32 - 0.46)	0.37	(0.31 - 0.43)
					40th percentil	e thres	hold		
ALM/height vs	Mass only	-0.06	(-0.090.03)	-0.07	(-0.10.04)	-0.06	(-0.10.03)	0.02	(-0.02 - 0.07)
ALM/weight	Mass + grip	0.24	(0.11 - 0.36)	0.40	(0.32 - 0.47)	0.41	(0.35 - 0.48)	0.36	(0.31 - 0.41)
	Mass + gait	0.15	(0.07 - 0.24)	0.27	(0.21 - 0.33)	0.23	(0.18 - 0.29)	0.35	(0.3 - 0.40)
ALM/height vs	Mass only	-0.01	(-0.04 - 0.02)	-0.07	(-0.10.04)	-0.06	(-0.090.02)	-0.02	(-0.07 - 0.02)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.30	(0.17 - 0.43)	0.41	(0.34 - 0.48)	0.43	(0.37 - 0.49)	0.39	(0.34 - 0.44)
	Mass + gait	0.21	(0.11 - 0.31)	0.24	(0.18 - 0.30)	0.24	(0.19 - 0.30)	0.35	(0.30 - 0.40)
ALM/height vs	Mass only	0.54	(0.51 - 0.57)	0.48	(0.46 - 0.51)	0.47	(0.44 - 0.50)	0.52	(0.48 - 0.55)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.65	(0.53 - 0.78)	0.74	(0.68 - 0.79)	0.73	(0.68 - 0.78)	0.72	(0.68 - 0.76)
	Mass + gait	0.59	(0.48 - 0.69)	0.65	(0.59 - 0.71)	0.62	(0.57 - 0.67)	0.70	(0.66 - 0.74)
ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.60	(0.56 - 0.63)	0.63	(0.60 - 0.65)	0.64	(0.61 - 0.67)	0.65	(0.62 - 0.68)
ALM/BMI	Mass + grip	0.65	(0.53 - 0.78)	0.84	(0.80 - 0.88)	0.86	(0.82 - 0.89)	0.78	(0.74 - 0.81)
	Mass + gait	0.75	(0.68 - 0.82)	0.77	(0.73 - 0.81)	0.82	(0.79 - 0.85)	0.80	(0.77 - 0.83)

ALM/weight vs	Mass only	0.26	(0.22 - 0.30)	0.32	(0.29 - 0.34)	0.34	(0.30 - 0.37)	0.37	(0.34 - 0.41)
ALM residuals	Mass + grip	0.49	(0.36 - 0.63)	0.64	(0.58 - 0.70)	0.66	(0.61 - 0.72)	0.61	(0.57 - 0.66)
	Mass + gait	0.52	(0.43 - 0.62)	0.59	(0.54 - 0.64)	0.60	(0.55 - 0.65)	0.62	(0.58 - 0.66)
ALM/BMI vs ALM	I Mass only	0.18	(0.15 - 0.22)	0.17	(0.14 - 0.20)	0.19	(0.15 - 0.22)	0.23	(0.19 - 0.27)
residuals	Mass + grip	0.41	(0.27 - 0.55)	0.58	(0.52 - 0.65)	0.63	(0.57 - 0.68)	0.59	(0.55 - 0.63)
	Mass + gait	0.52	(0.42 - 0.62)	0.49	(0.44 - 0.55)	0.51	(0.46 - 0.56)	0.56	(0.52 - 0.60)



## Supplementary Figure 1. Percentage of males with sarcopenia using 10th percentile cut offs



# Supplementary Figure 2. Percentage of males with sarcopenia using 40th percentile cut offs



## Supplementary Figure 3. Percentage of females with sarcopenia using 10th percentile cut offs



## Supplementary Figure 4. Percentage of females with sarcopenia using 40th percentile cut offs

## Chapter 4: The association of sarcopenia with falls

This chapter has been submitted to the *Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle*. Alexandra Mayhew was responsible for developing the research question and study protocols, applying for data, analyzing data, writing and revising the drafts of the manuscripts. The work is primarily the undertaking of Alexandra Mayhew with guidance from Drs. Parminder Raina and Stuart Phillips throughout the project. Dr. Nazmul Sohel assisted with coding for the data analyses. Thesis committee members, Drs. Russell de Souza, Paul McNicholas, Gianni Parise, and Lehana Thabane provided feedback throughout the project. As an author generated version of a submitted manuscript, no copyright license documentation is required.

### **Context and background**

**Chapters 2 and 3** of this thesis showed that different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia resulted in differences in the proportion of participants considered sarcopenic, as well **Chapter 3** finding that the agreement between the vast majority of sarcopenia definitions was limited. However, based on the literature, it was not clear if the difference in proportion of sarcopenic participants and poor agreement translate in differences in the association of sarcopenia with health. One of the primary goals of the sarcopenia research community is decide on a unified definition of sarcopenia. To do this, information is required regarding the construct validity of sarcopenia definitions. The sarcopenia definition(s) which best identify participants with outcomes thought to be associated with sarcopenia are candidates for the unified definition. Therefore, the objective of this study was to apply the sarcopenia definitions developed in **Chapter 3** to assess the association between sarcopenia and falls was assessed. Falls was selected as an outcome because of their biological connection to sarcopenia and overall relevance to health in aging adults.

#### Chapter 4: The association of sarcopenia with falls

**Title:** Exploring the impact of different diagnostic criteria on the association between sarcopenia and falls in the CLSA

**Authors:** Alexandra J Mayhew ^{1,2,3}, Stuart M Phillips ⁴, Nazmul Sohel ^{1,2,3}, Lehana Thabane ^{1,5}, Paul D McNicholas ⁶, Russell J de Souza ^{1,7}, Gianni Parise ⁴, Parminder Raina ^{1,2,3}

Affiliations: 1. Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 2. Labarge Centre for Mobility in Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 3. McMaster Institute for Research on Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 4. Department of Kinesiology, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 5. Department of Mathematics & Statistics, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 6. Population Genomics Program, Chanchlani Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 7. Biostatistics Unit, Research Institute at St Joes, St. Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton, 50 Charlton Avenue E, Hamilton, ON, L8N 4A6, Canada.

## Abstract

**Background:** Sarcopenia definitions recommend different combinations of muscle mass, strength, and function as well as different methods of adjusting muscle mass. It is unclear how these differences in definitions impact the association between sarcopenia and falls. The objective of this study was to assess how differences in the operationalization of sarcopenia impact the association between sarcopenia and falls.

**Methods:** Participants from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging who were  $\geq 65$  years at baseline (2012-2015), had complete data for muscle mass, grip strength, gait speed, body mass index, and falls (n=10,008) were included in the analyses. Sarcopenia was defined using all combinations of muscle variables (muscle mass, grip strength and gait speed) and methods of adjusting muscle mass (height, weight, BMI, and regressing on height and fat mass) recommended by the expert group sarcopenia definitions. A range of cut off values for all muscle measures were explored. Proportional odds regression models were used to assess the relationship between sarcopenia and incident falls (0, 1, or 2+ falls) measured 18 months after baseline data collection.

**Results:** In males, the sarcopenia definitions including muscle mass adjusted for weight, BMI, and using the residual technique, each identifying approximately 20% of participants as having low muscle mass, in combination with a grip strength of <26kg were associated with a between 2.10 and 2.28 greater odds of having a higher level of falling (1 or more falls versus 0 falls, 2 or more falls versus 0 or 1 falls). In females, none of the sarcopenia definition explored were associated with a significant increase in the risk of falling.

Ph.D. Thesis - A. Mayhew; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

However, the results should be interpreted cautiously as only a small number of participants with sarcopenia experienced falls.

**Conclusions:** Sarcopenia definitions based on different combinations of muscle variables and methods of adjusting muscle mass are not equally associated with falls. In males, definitions including grip strength but not gait speed, and adjusting muscle mass for weight, BMI, or using the residual technique but not height, were associated with falls. In females, sarcopenia was not associated with falls regardless of the definition used.

### Introduction

Sarcopenia refers to the decline in muscle mass, strength, and function that occurs during ageing. The earliest definitions of sarcopenia were based on muscle mass alone and used low appendicular lean mass (ALM) adjusted for height or weight. [1,2] More recent expert group definitions have included measures of muscle strength or function in addition to muscle mass based on evidence that muscle strength and muscle function are more strongly associated with outcomes including disability and mortality compared to muscle mass [3–7] However, the variables included vary by definition as do the techniques recommended for adjusting muscle mass.

It appears that the different sarcopenia definitions are not equivalent. Depending on the definition used, between 9.9% and 40.4% of community-dwelling older adults are sarcopenic. [8] Agreement between most definitions is limited with Cohen's kappa values of less than 0.60. [9–14] Efforts have been taken to move towards a more unified sarcopenia definition by comparing the ability of the definitions to predict relevant health outcomes. [15] Falls are one of the outcomes of greatest interest for sarcopenia due the biological link between muscle strength and function with falls [16], because approximately one third of adults aged 65 years and older fall each year [17], and because falls and injuries related to falls are one of the largest contributors to a loss of independence in older adults. [18]

Studies investigating the association between sarcopenia and falls have yielded inconsistent results. In a meta-analyses of studies assessing the association between sarcopenia and falls, certain definitions such as muscle mass adjusted for height and

weight and some of the expert group definitions were associated with a greater risk of falling. [19] In studies comparing definition in the same population, generally only definitions including muscle strength and/or muscle function were significantly associated with falls. [15,20,21] In addition to odds ratios or hazard ratios, one study calculated the area under the curve (AUC) for sarcopenia and falls and found that compared to a model with age alone, the AUC improved by less than 0.01 for all of the included sarcopenia definitions, despite some of them being associated with a more than two times greater odds of falling. [15]

To understand why sarcopenia has been inconsistently associated with falls, it is necessary to systematically examine differences in how sarcopenia is operationalized. All sarcopenia definitions are made up of three components; 1) combination of muscle variables; 2) methods of adjusting muscle mass; and 3) cut points for all muscle variables. Most definitions differ based on more than one of these components, making it impossible to determine to what extent each component contributes to differences in the strength of the relationship between sarcopenia and falls.

Understanding how combinations of muscle mass, muscle strength, and/or muscle function as well the muscle mass adjustment techniques impact the relationship between sarcopenia and health outcomes such as falls is a critical step towards finding a unified sarcopenia definition. A single definition would benefit researchers by increasing the comparability of results across studies, as well as clinicians who are given little, if any, guidance on how to diagnose or treat sarcopenia despite it being included in the International Classification of disease. [22] The objective of this study was to assess the

Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

impact of different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia on the strength of the relationship between sarcopenia and falls.

### Methods

## Setting and study population

The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) is a national, longitudinal research platform that includes 51,338 participants aged 45 to 85 years at baseline from the ten Canadian provinces. To be eligible for the study, participants had to be physically and cognitively able to participant on their own and not living in institutions such as long term care. Participants were recruited in the Tracking cohort (n=21,241) and the Comprehensive cohort (n=30,097). Tracking cohort participants were randomly selected from all ten provinces and completed interviews by phone. The participants in the Comprehensive cohort were randomly selected from within 25 to 50km of one of 11 Data Collection Sites which are located in seven provinces. In addition to being interviewed inperson, Comprehensive cohort participants completed in-depth physical assessments and provided blood and urine samples. Details on the study design have been described elsewhere. [23] The analyses for this study was limited to participants aged 65 years and older in the Comprehensive cohort due to requiring physical assessment data and to those identifying as European as muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical function have shown to vary by ethnicity. [24–26] This project uses data collected during baseline (September 2011 to May 2015) as well as data collected during a Maintaining Contact Questionnaire administered approximately 18 months after baseline data collection.

## Clinical measurements

All data were collected by trained research assistants. Height was measured using a stadiometer. The mean value of two measurements was used for analyses. Weight was measured using a digital scale. BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height squared. Muscle mass was measured by Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) using Hologic Discovery ATM. The Hologic Discovery ATM DXA machine was calibrated daily using a spine phantom, weekly using a whole body step phantom, and yearly using a gold standard phantom. DXA provides an estimate of ALM which refers to the amount of lean mass in the arms and legs. Lean mass includes muscle mass, organs, water, and all other non-bone and non-fat soft tissues. [27,28] Hand grip strength was measured using the Tracker Freedom ® Wireless Grip Dynamometer. Three repetitions were performed with the dominant hand, the highest of which was used in the analyses. Grip strength measured using a dynamometer has been shown to have excellent reliability and is predictive of falls, disability, and impaired health-related quality of life. [29] Gait speed was measured using a four meter walk course with participants instructed to walk at their normal walking speed. The four meter walk test has been shown to have excellent test re-test reliability and is significantly associated with self-rated health and performance on chair rise and balance tests. [30,31]

### Falls assessment

Falls were assessed during the maintaining contact interview that occurred appropriately 18 months after participants visited the data collection site. Participants were asked if they had experienced a fall where they were hurt enough to limit some of their normal

activities in the past 12 months, and if they had a fall, how many times they had fallen. Participants were categorized as having not fallen, fallen once, or fallen two or more times.

### Sarcopenia operationalization

Sarcopenia definitions include three components; 1) combination of muscle variables; 2) methods of adjusting muscle mass; and 3) cut offs of each variable. [1,2,4–8,32]. We defined sarcopenia based on the recommendation of the expert-group definitions. [4–7] ALM was used to measure muscle mass and was adjusted by height, weight, BMI, or regressing ALM on fat mass and height. [4–7] Muscle strength was measured using grip strength with cut offs of 30kg, 27kg, and 26kg for males and 20kg and 16kg for females. Muscle function was measured using gait speed using cut offs of 0.8m/s and 1.0m/s. [4–6,32] Cut offs corresponding to the lowest sex-specific 10th, 20th, and 40th percentiles of muscle mass values for the CLSA were utilized (**Table 1**). Each combination of muscle variables, methods of adjusting muscle mass, and cut offs were used to define sarcopenia. The cut off of 27kg of grip strength for males, 1.0m/s for gait speed, and the muscle mass thresholds corresponding to the 10th and 40th percentiles were included as secondary analyses.

## Statistical analyses

Of the 30,097 participants at baseline, 12,646 were  $\geq$ 65 years. Participants were excluded for being non-European (n=436), missing data on muscle mass, grip strength, gait speed or BMI (n=1764), and missing data on falls (n=438). Data from 10,008 participants was available for analyses. Multiple imputation (ten imputations) using the predictive mean

matching technique was used for missing data. [33] The percentage of missing data for any variable was <6.5%. The CLSA provides inflation weights and analytical weights, which were used for prevalence estimates and regression modeling respectively, that allow the results to reflect the population of Canada. [34] All statistical analyses were completed using SAS (version 12.3).

A proportional odds model [35] was used to estimate the odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for the outcome of falls categorized as no falls, one fall, or two or more falls in the previous year. The proportional odds model takes the ordinal nature of the falls data into consideration. The proportionality assumption was tested and was not found to be violated. Potential covariates were identified in the literature based on their relevance to falls and sarcopenia. [36] The univariate association between each variable and falls was assessed; any variable with a Wald statistic p-value of less than or equal to 0.25 was considered a candidate for the model. Age was automatically included in the model and other potential covariates were added in one at a time based on statistical significance. Variables for which the deviance statistic was statistically significant (Chi-square test pvalue of <0.05) were kept in the model or those which impacted the strength of the relationship between sarcopenia and falls. [37] The final model included age (65 to 74 years, 75 years and older), urinary incontinence, the use of mobility devices, general health (fair or poor versus excellent, very good, or good), and the presence of pain or discomfort for which the deviance was significant reduced (p < 0.05) as well as diabetes and osteoarthritis which had p-values of 0.054 and 0.072 respectively and impacted the strength of the association between sarcopenia and falls. Analyses were stratified by sex.

The discriminative ability of each sarcopenia definition for the outcome of one or more falls and two or more falls was assessed using area under the receiver operator curve (AUC) analyses. The direction of the misclassification was assessed by calculating sensitivity and specificity. These analyses were unadjusted.

## Results

## Participant characteristics

The mean age of the participants was  $73.0 \pm 5.7$  years and 51.4% of the sample was male (**Table 2**). Males had greater ALM ( $26.0 \pm 3.8$ kg) compared to females ( $17.4 \pm 3.0$ kg), faster gait speed ( $0.94 \pm 0.12$  versus 0.91m/s +/- 0.19, all m/s), and greater grip strength ( $39.6 \pm 8.5$ kg versus  $23.7 \pm 5.2$ kg). Falls were more common in females than in males with 13.0% of females and 9.5% of males reporting falling at least once in the previous 12 months. Weighted results are available in **Supplementary Table 1**.

## Sarcopenia – Primary analyses

The proportional odds model provides one odds ratio for each exposure variable which refers to the increase in risk of the outcome from one level to the next. The difference in risk between the levels of the outcome are provided by y-intercepts for each of the nonreference categories of the outcome variable.

In males using the 20th percentile cut offs for muscle mass, definitions including muscle mass adjusted for weight, BMI, and using the residual technique in combination with low grip strength (cut offs of either 30kg or 26kg) were significantly associated with falls with odds ratios of between 1.66 and 2.33 (**Table 3**). The y-intercepts for having one or more

falls versus no falls were between -4.29 and -4.34 and for having two or more falls versus zero or one falls were between -2.67 and -2.72. Regardless of the definition of sarcopenia, the AUC values ranged from 0.51 to 0.55 for having at least one fall and 0.51 to 0.56 for having two or more falls (**Supplementary Table 2**). Compared to age alone, the AUC values improved by only 0.01 to 0.04 for having at least one fall and 0.04 to 0.09 for having two or more falls.

In females, none of the sarcopenia definitions were significantly associated with an increased risk of falls (**Table 4**). The y-intercepts for having one or more falls versus no falls were between -3.86 and -3.89 and the y-intercepts for having two or more falls versus zero or one falls were between -2.24 and -2.29. The AUC values ranged from 0.50 to 0.52 for having at least one fall to 0.51 to 0.55 for having two or more falls (**Supplementary Table 2**). Compared to age alone, the AUC values improved by only 0.01 to 0.02 for having at least one fall and 0.01 to 0.05 for having two or more falls.

### Sarcopenia – Secondary analyses

In males, using definitions including the  $10^{th}$  or  $40^{th}$  percentile cut offs for muscle mass typically changed the odds of falling by <0.30 with a trend towards definitions using the  $40^{th}$  percentile cut offs to become statistically significant (**Supplementary Table 3**). Most notable of the changes was that muscle mass adjusted for height combined with grip strength using cut offs of 30kg or 27kg were significantly associated with falls using the  $40^{th}$  but not the  $20^{th}$  percentiles. In females, using the alternative cut offs for muscle mass and gait speed did not meaningfully change the interpretation of the results (**Supplementary Table 4**). For males, the minimum and maximum AUC values

including the alternative cut offs were 0.51 and 0.55 for having at least one fall and 0.51 and 0.60 for having at least two falls. For females, the minimum and maximum AUC values were 0.50 and 0.54 for having at least one fall and 0.51 to 0.55 for having two or more falls (**Supplementary Table 2**).

## Multiple imputation

The results were not meaningfully changed when completers only analyses was conducted (**Supplementary Tables 5 and 6**).

## Discussion

This study systematically explored the impact of different combinations of muscle variables and different cut points on the relationship between sarcopenia and falls. In males, sarcopenia defined as the combination of low muscle mass and low grip strength was significantly associated with falls with odds ratios between 1.65 and 2.76 for all grip strength cut points and for all methods of muscle mass adjustment besides height². In females, sarcopenia was not significantly associated with increased falls for any of the included definitions. Regardless of the strength of the association between sarcopenia and falls, the clinical utility was limited with AUC values of less than 0.60 for all definitions.

The association of sarcopenia with falls in males, but not in females, has previously been observed. Only two other studies have conducted sex-stratified analyses and both found that the odds of falling were higher in sarcopenic males than in females but neither attempted to explain the finding. [21,38] The reason for this apparent difference is unclear. We explored if the association in males was stronger than in females due to a lower percentage of males having low grip strength and gait speed compared to females. We

#### Ph.D. Thesis - A. Mayhew; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

created sex-specific cut offs for grip strength and gait speed corresponding to the lowest 5th, 10th, 15th, and 20th percentiles. Identifying the same percentage of males and females with low grip strength and gait speed did not alter the results. Previous studies have noted that there are sex differences in older adults for the risk factors for falls with males with physical function limitations being at higher risk of injurious falls compared to females. [39,40] This may reflect that males who generally have greater muscle mass and strength compared to females rely more greatly on strength to avoid falling while females do not which may translate into the presence of sarcopenia having a greater impact in males than females.[41] Other non-function related risk factors such as urinary incontinence are strong risk factors for falls in females but not in males. [40] Our study joins the growing body of evidence showing that the risk factors of falls differ in males and females and highlights the importance of conducting analyses which takes sex into account.

In males, definitions including ALM adjusted for height² and grip strength were not significantly associated with falls while definitions including ALM adjusted for weight, BMI, or using the residual technique and grip strength were. Few studies have compared the different muscle mass adjustment techniques. One study observed that sarcopenia defined as unadjusted ALM, but not height² adjusted ALM, was associated with falls [20] and one found significant associations using height² adjusted definitions but not BMI adjusted definitions. [21]A potential explanation for the attenuated association of sarcopenia when ALM is adjusted for height² is because the ALM technique identifies more individuals with normal BMI values (between  $18.5 \text{kg/m}^2$  and  $24.9 \text{kg/m}^2$ ) as having low muscle mass whereas the other techniques tend to identify more obese (BMI values of  $>30 \text{kg/m}^2$ ) individuals as having low muscle mass (**Supplementary Table 7**).

#### Ph.D. Thesis - A. Mayhew; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

Sarcopenia in the presence of obesity, called sarcopenic obesity, is associated with a greater risk of falling compared to either sarcopenia or obesity alone. [42,43] Therefore adjusting ALM for height² may be less strongly associated with falls compared to the other definitions since these individuals on average have a healthier weight. Additionally, in our analyses, the same grip strength cut offs were applied regardless of BMI. Given that BMI is associated with increased grip strength in males, obese sarcopenic males with low grip strength may have experienced more decline compared to normal weight males. [44] Further investigation of how muscle mass adjustment techniques impact the association of muscle mass with health outcomes is required.

Though many sarcopenia in definitions in males were associated with a two or more times greater odds of falling, the maximum AUC value for all definitions was 0.59 (95% CI 0.57 – 0.60). AUC are interpreted as the probability that a person who had fallen at least once was sarcopenic versus not sarcopenic. Therefore, sarcopenic status provided little information about the risk of falls over chance alone. To understand the direction of the misclassification, the sensitivity and specificity of each definition for detecting falls was assessed. For one or more falls, the sensitivity for all definitions ranged from 0.09 to 0.24 and the specificity was between 0.87 and 0.92. Therefore all the sarcopenia definitions classified the participants not at risk for falling well, but had a limited ability to identify those that would fall (**Supplementary Tables 8 and 9**). The modest AUC values may in part reflect the issues of using DXA to estimate muscle mass. Though considered by many to be the reference standard for measuring muscle mass for sarcopenia, DXA does not actually measure muscle mass but rather lean mass which includes organ tissue, water, and all other non-bone and non-fat soft tissues in addition to muscle mass. [27,28]

Muscle mass directly measured using  $D_3$ -creatine is significantly associated with falls, performance, and mobility limitations. [45] DXA measured lean mass is not associated with these outcomes. Therefore, if muscle mass were more accurately measured, sarcopenia may better identify those at risk of falling.

A strength of our study was the list of sarcopenia definitions used which allowed us to examine how individual components of sarcopenia definitions impacted the association between sarcopenia and falls. This allowed for important findings such as how adjusting ALM for height² resulted in attenuated relationships with falls compared to other adjustment techniques in males. Additionally, our method allowed us to explore how using alternative cut offs impacted the association of sarcopenia with falls. This strengthens our conclusion that sarcopenia is not associated with falls in females as we excluded the potential that an association would be found using alternative cut offs. Including the AUC analyses also provided insight about the clinical usefulness of diagnosing sarcopenia in order to identify potential fallers.

There are several limitations to our study. The results of our study may have limited generalizability. Our sample was limited to participants of European ethnicity. Muscle mass, grip strength, and gait speed have been shown to differ by ethnicity and the CLSA does not have the required sample size for ethnicity-specific analyses. [24–26] Though our sample size was larger compared to most previous studies investigating sarcopenia and falls [19], only a small percentage of participants experienced falls and our analyses were therefore under powered (**Supplementary Tables 8 and 9**). Therefore, the results of this study should be interpreted with caution as the estimates for the odds ratios and AUC values may be unstable. In order to more definitively assess the association between sarcopenia

and health, individual participant data from multiple studies should be pooled to provide the required sample size.

#### Conclusions

We found that sarcopenia operationalized as low muscle mass adjusted for weight, BMI, or using the residual adjustment technique in combination with low grip strength was significantly associated with falling in males across a range of cut offs for low muscle mass and low grip strength. Sarcopenia was not significantly associated with increased odds of falling in females. In both males and females, the AUC analyses estimates for all definitions were less than 0.60 suggesting that sarcopenia may have limited utility in identifying potential fallers. These results highlight the need for future studies to conduct sex-stratified analyses and to explore the individual components to sarcopenia definitions to best identify people at risk of poor health. Future studies should also consider the use of AUC analyses to better understand the clinical relevance of sarcopenia for identifying people at risk of poor health.

### Acknowledgements

This research was made possible using the data/biospecimens collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Funding for the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) is provided by the Government of Canada through the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) under grant reference: LSA 94473 and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. This research has been conducted using the CLSA dataset, Baseline Comprehensive Dataset version 4.0, under Application Number 160608. The CLSA is led by Drs. Parminder Raina, Christina Wolfson and Susan Kirkland. The

Ph.D. Thesis - A. Mayhew; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

opinions expressed in this manuscript are the author's own and do not reflect the views of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. The authors of this manuscript certify that they comply with the ethical guidelines for authorship and publishing in the Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle. [46]

**Conflict of interest:** The authors have no conflict of interest to report.

## References

- Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, Romero L, Heymstleld SB, Ross RR, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. Am J Epidemiol 1998;147:755–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009520.
- [2] Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002;50:889–96.
- [3] Newman A, Kupelian V, Visser M, Simonsick E, Goodpaster B, Kritchevsky S, et al. Strength, but not muscle mass, is associated with mortality in the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study Cohort. Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006;61:72–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/61.1.72.
- [4] Cruz-Jentoft A, Baeyens J, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age Ageing 2010;39:412–23.
- [5] Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, Bhasin S, E MJ, Newman AB, et al. Sarcopenia: An undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: Prevalence, etiology, and conseuqences. International Work Group on Sarcopenia. Am Med Dir Assoc 2011;12:249–56.
- [6] Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, Cawthon PM, McLean RR, Harris TB, et al.

Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. Journals Gerontol Med Sci 2014;69:547–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glu010.

- [7] Chen L-K, Liu L-K, Woo J, Assantachai P, Auyeung T-W, Bahyah KS, et al.
   Sarcopenia in Asia: consensus report of the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia.
   J Am Med Dir Assoc 2014;15:95–101.
- [8] Mayhew A, Amog K, Phillips S, Parise G, McNicholas P, de Souza R, et al. The prevalence of sarcopenia in community- dwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: A systematic review and metaanalyses. Age Ageing 2018;48:48–56. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy106.
- [9] Volpato S, Bianchi L, Landi F. Prevalence agreement and prognostic value of EWGSOP and FNIH sarcopenia definition: The GLISTEN Study. Innov Aging 2018;2:2018.
- [10] Pagotto V, Silveira EA. Applicability and agreement of different diagnostic criteria for sarcopenia estimation in the elderly. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2014;59:288–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2014.05.009.
- [11] Kim TN, Park MS, Lee EJ, Chung HS, Yoo HJ, Joo H. Comparisons of three different methods for defining sarcopenia : An aspect of cardiometabolic risk. Sci Rep 2017;7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06831-7.
- [12] Lee WJ, Liu LK, Peng LN, Lin MH, Chen LK. Comparisons of sarcopenia defined by IWGS and EWGSOP criteria among older people: Results from the I-Lan

Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

Longitudinal Aging Study. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2013;14:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.019.

- [13] Dam TT, Peters KW, Fragala M, Cawthon PM, Harris TB, McLean R, et al. An evidence-based comparison of operational criteria for the presence of sarcopenia. Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci 2014;69:584–90. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glu013.
- [14] Reijnierse EM, Trappenburg C, Leter J, Jan G. The impact of different diagnostic criteria on the prevalence of sarcopenia in healthy elderly participants and geriatric outpatients. Gerontology 2015;61:491–6. https://doi.org/10.1159/000377699.
- [15] Cawthon PM, Blackwell TL, Francisco S, Cauley J, Lee CG, Mc A, et al. An evaluation of the usefulness of consensus definitions of sarcopenia in older men: results from the observational Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) cohort study. J Am Diet Assoc 2016;63:2247–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13788.An.
- [16] Tinetti M, Kumar C. The patient who falls: "It's always a trade-off." J Am Med Assoc 2010;303:258–66. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.2024
- [17] Tromp A., Pluijm SM., Smit J., Deeg DJ., Bouter L., Lips P. Fall-risk screening test. J Clin Epidemiol 2002;54:837–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0895-4356(01)00349-3.
- [18] Tinetti ME, Williams CS. The effect of falls and fall injuries on functioning in community- dwelling older persons. Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci 1998;53:112–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/53A.2.M112.

- [19] Yeung SSY, Reijnierse EM, Pham VK, Trappenburg MC, Lim WK, Carel GM, et al. Sarcopenia and its association with falls and fractures in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2019;10:485– 500. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12411.
- [20] Schaap LA, Schoor NM Van, Lips P, Visser M. Associations of sarcopenia definitions, and their components, with the incidence of recurrent falling and fractures: The Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. Journals Gerontol Med Sci 2018;73:1199–204. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glx245.
- [21] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Orav JE, Kanis JA, Rizzoli R, Schlögl M, Staehelin H, et al. Comparative performance of current definitions of sarcopenia against the prospective incidence of falls among community-dwelling seniors age 65 and older. Osteoporos Sarcopenia 2015;26:2793–802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00198-015-3194-y.
- [22] The World Health Organization. The International Classification of Diseases, Version 10. 2016.
- [23] Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, Griffith LE, Oremus M, Patterson C, et al.
   Cohort profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Can J Aging 2009;28:221–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0714980809990055.
- [24] Capistrant BD, Glymour MM, Berkman LF. Assessing mobility difficulties for cross-national comparisons: results from the World Health Organiation Study on Global AGEing and Adult Health. J Am Geriatr Soc 2015;62:329–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12633.Assessing.

- [25] Leong DP, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, Lopez-jaramillo P, Jr AA, Orlandini A, et al. Prognostic value of grip strength: findings from the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study. Lancet 2015;386:266–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62000-6.
- [26] Silva AM, Shen W, Heo M, Gallagher D, Wang Z, Sardinha LB, et al. Ethnicityrelated skeletal muscle differences across the lifespan. Am J Hum Biol 2010;22:76–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.20956.
- [27] Buckinx F, Landi F, Cesari M, Fielding RA, Visser M, Engelke K, et al. Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2018;9:269–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12268.
- [28] Evans WJ, Hellerstein M, Orwoll E, Cummings S, Cawthon PM. D3 Creatine dilution and the importance of accuracy in the assessment of skeletal muscle mass. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2019;10:14–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12390.
- [29] Roberts HC, Denison HJ, Martin HJ, Patel HP, Syddall H, Cooper C, et al. A review of the measurement of grip strength in clinical and epidemiological studies: Towards a standardised approach. Age Ageing 2011;40:423–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afr051.
- [30] Brach JS, Perera S, Studenski S, Newman AB. The reliability and validity of measures of gait variability in community-dwelling older adults. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008;89:2293–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2008.06.010.
- [31] Kim H, Park I, Lee H joo, Lee O. The reliability and validity of gait speed with

different walking pace and distances against general health, physical function, and chronic disease in aged adults. J Exerc Nutr Biochem 2016;20:46–50. https://doi.org/10.20463/jenb.2016.09.20.3.7.

- [32] Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Bruyere O, Cederholm T, et al.
   Sarcopenia: Revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing 2019;48:16–31. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy169.
- [33] Morris TP, White IR, Royston P. Tuning multiple imputation by predictive mean matching and local residual draws. BMC Med Res Methodol 2014;14.
- [34] CLSA Technical Document. Sampling and computation of response rates and sample weights for the tracking participants (telephone interview) and comprehensive participants 2017. https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/1041.
- [35] McCullagh P. Regression models for ordinal data. J R Stat Soc 1980;42:109–42.
- [36] Zhang X, Huang P, Dou Q, Wang C, Zhang W, Yang Y, et al. Falls among older adults with sarcopenia dwelling in nursing home or community: A meta-analysis.
   Clin Nutr 2019;Epub ahead:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2019.01.002.
- [37] Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied Logistic Regression. 2nd ed. New York, New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2000.
- [38] Tanimoto Y, Watanabe M, Sun W, Sugiura Y, Hayashida I, Kusabiraki T, et al. Sarcopenia and falls in community-dwelling elderly subjects in Japan: Defining sarcopenia according to criteria of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2014;59:295–9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2014.04.016.

- [39] Stevens J, Sogolow E. Gender differences for non-fatal unintentional fall related injuries among older adults. Inj Prev 2005;11:115–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/ip.2004.005835.
- [40] Gale CR, Westbury LD, Cooper C, Dennison EM. Risk factors for incident falls in older men and women : the English longitudinal study of ageing. BMC Geriatr 2018;18:epub.
- [41] Ek S, Rizzuto D, Fratiglioni L, Calderón-larrañaga A, Johnell K, Sjöberg L. Risk Factors for Injurious Falls in Older Adults : The Role of Sex and Length of Follow-Up. J Am Geriatr Soc 2019;67:246–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15657.
- [42] Scott D, Seibel M, Cumming R, Naganathan V, Blyth F, Le Couteur DG, et al. Sarcopenic Obesity and Its Temporal Associations With Changes in Bone Mineral Density, Incident Falls, and Fractures in Older Men: The Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project. J Bone Miner Res 2017;32:575–83. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.3016.
- [43] Follis S, Cook A, Bea JW, Going SB, Laddu D, Cauley JA, et al. Association
   Between Sarcopenic Obesity and Falls in a Multiethnic Cohort of Postmenopausal
   Women. J Am Geriatr Soc 2018;66:2314–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15613.
- [44] Hardy R, Cooper R, Aihie Sayer A, Ben-Shlomo Y, Cooper C, Deary IJ, et al.
   Body Mass Index, Muscle Strength and Physical Performance in Older Adults
   from Eight Cohort Studies: The HALCyon Programme. PLoS One 2013;8.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0056483.

- [45] Cawthon PM, Orwoll ES, Peters KE, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Kado DM, et al. Strong relation between muscle mass determined by D3-creatine dilution, physical performance, and incidence of falls and mobility limitations in a prospective cohort of older men. Journals Gerontol Med Sci 2019;74:844–52. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gly129.
- [46] von Haehling S Von, Morley JE, Coats AJS, Anker SD. Ethical guidelines for publishing in the journal of cachexia, sarcopenia and muscl: update 2017
   2017:1081–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12261.

Method of adjusting	Percentile		Low muscle mass cut offs			
muscle mass		Males	Females			
	10th	7.29	5.58			
ALM/height	20th	7.68	5.93			
	40th	8.23	6.42			
	10th	26.96	21.4			
ALM/weight	20th	28.33	22.36			
	40th	30.12	23.81			
	10th	0.78	0.52			
ALM/BMI	20th	0.83	0.55			
	40th	0.9	0.6			
ATN	10th	-4.75	-2.95			
ALM residuals	20th	-3.61	-2.2			
i csiuuais	40th	-1.97	-1.14			

Table 1. Low muscle mass cut offs

Characteristic	Males (n	=5147)	Females (N=4861)		
	Mean or N	SD or %	Mean or N	SD or %	
Age, years	73.0	5.6	72.9	5.7	
Height, cm	174	6.7	160	6.3	
Weight, kg	84.7	14.0	71.0	14.3	
BMI, kg/m2	28.0	4.2	27.7	5.5	
Total body fat mass, %	25.5	8.0	29.6	9.4	
Appendicular lean mass, kg	26.0	3.8	17.4	3.0	
ALM/height ²	8.58	1.05	6.78	1.05	
ALM/weight	30.9	3.1	24.8	2.9	
ALM/BMI	0.94	0.12	0.64	0.10	
Gait speed, meters per second	0.94	0.19	0.91	0.19	
Grip strength, kg	39.6	8.5	23.7	5.2	
Number of falls in previous year (%)					
Zero	4659	90.5	4231	87.0	
One	381	7.4	479	9.9	
Two or more	107	2.1	151	3.1	
Self-rated general health (%)					
Fair or poor	404	7.8	381	7.8	
Good, very good, or excellent	4743	92.2	4480	92.2	
Presence of pain or discomfort (%)	3476	67.5	2071	42.6	
Self-rated hearing (%)					
Fair or poor	926	18.0	4321	88.9	
Good, very good, or excellent	4221	82.0	540	11.1	
Urinary incontinence (%)	407	7.9	721	14.8	
Household income (%)					
< \$20,000	175	3.4	460	9.5	
≥ \$20,000 < \$50,000	1315	25.5	2000	41.1	
≥ \$50,000 <\$100,000	2279	44.3	1723	35.4	
≥ \$100,000 < \$150,000	892	17.3	467	9.6	
≥ 150,000	487	9.5	212	4.4	
Smoking status (%)					
Current	265	5.2	239	4.9	
Never or former	4882	94.8	4622	95.1	
COPD (%)	329	6.4	389	8.0	
Depression (%)	519	10.1	873	17.9	
<b>Neurological conditions (%)</b>	357	6.9	837	17.2	
Arthritis (%)	1389	27.0	2074	42.7	
Diabetes (%)	1228	23.9	837	17.2	
Stroke (%)	393	7.6	323	6.6	
Osteoporosis (%)	191	3.7	1193	24.5	

 Table 2. Participant characteristics

Sarcopo Combination of muscle variables	enia definition Method of adjusting muscle mass	Number of participants with sarcopenia (%)	Y- intercept for one or more falls versus no falls	Y- intercept for two or more falls versus zero or one falls	Odds of falling	95% Confidenc e interval	p- value
	Height	1007 (19.6)	-4.31	-2.69	1.13	0.83 - 1.53	0.428
Muscle mass only (20th	Weight	999 (19.4)	-4.34	-2.72	1.51	1.13 - 2.00	0.005
percentile)	BMI	1008 (19.6)	-4.30	-2.68	1.15	0.86 - 1.54	0.359
	Residuals	1009 (19.6)	-4.33	-2.71	1.28	0.96 - 1.71	0.099
Grip strength only <30kg		655 (12.7)	-4.31	-2.69	1.43	1.02 - 1.99	0.036
Grip strength only <26kg		253 (4.9)	-4.30	-2.67	1.80	1.13 - 2.86	0.013
Gait speed only <0.8m/s		1136 (22.1)	-4.31	-2.69	1.28	0.96 - 1.70	0.095
	Height	243 (4.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.27	0.75 - 2.14	0.375
Muscle mass (20th	Weight	224 (4.4)	-4.29	-2.67	1.60	0.97 - 2.63	0.065
percentile) and grip strength <30kg	BMI	285 (5.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.66	1.06 - 2.59	0.026
strength cong	Residuals	218 (4.2)	-4.29	-2.67	1.66	1.01 - 2.74	0.046
	Height	106 (2.1)	-4.29	-2.67	1.41	0.67 - 2.99	0.364
Muscle mass (20th	Weight	104 (2.0)	-4.29	-2.67	2.14	1.11 - 4.13	0.024
percentile) and grip strength <26kg	BMI	122 (2.4)	-4.29	-2.67	2.33	1.28 - 4.26	0.006
su engli vaong	Residuals	95 (1.8)	-4.29	-2.67	2.14	1.08 - 4.25	0.029
	Height	258 (5.0)	-4.29	-2.67	1.18	0.70 - 1.98	0.707
Muscle mass (20th	Weight	344 (6.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.54	1.01 - 2.36	0.164
percentile) and gait speed <0.8m/s	BMI	357 (6.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.20	0.77 - 1.87	0.812
speca voom/s	Residuals	274 (5.3)	-4.29	-2.67	1.33	0.82 - 2.16	0.385

Table 3. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia
Sarcopo Combination of muscle variables	enia definition Method of adjusting muscle mass	Number of participants with sarcopenia (%)	Y- intercept for one or more falls versus no falls	Y- intercept for two or more falls versus zero or one falls	Odds of falling	95% Confidence interval	p- value
	Height	972 (20.0)	-3.89	-2.29	1.12	0.87 - 1.44	0.367
Muscle mass only (20th	Weight	963 (19.8)	-3.85	-2.24	0.89	0.70 - 1.15	0.377
percentile)	BMI	961 (19.8)	-3.86	-2.26	1.01	0.79 - 1.29	0.947
	Residuals	969 (19.9)	-3.88	-2.28	1.10	0.87 - 1.41	0.419
Grip strength only <20kg		1125 (23.1)	-3.86	-2.26	1.00	0.78 - 1.27	0.990
Grip strength only <16kg		338 (7.0)	-3.86	-2.26	0.93	0.62 - 1.38	0.701
Gait speed only <0.8m/s		1414 (29.1)	-3.88	-2.28	1.15	0.92 - 1.45	0.219
	Height	340 (7.0)	-3.86	-2.26	1.07	0.73 - 1.58	0.722
Muscle mass (20th percentile) and grip	Weight	296 (6.1)	-3.86	-2.25	0.54	0.33 - 0.87	0.011
strength <20kg	BMI	366 (7.5)	-3.86	-2.25	0.73	0.49 - 1.09	0.125
	Residuals	291 (6.0)	-3.86	-2.26	0.93	0.61 - 1.42	0.740
	Height	117 (2.4)	-3.86	-2.26	1.15	0.64 - 2.07	0.647
Muscle mass (20th	Weight	83 (1.7)	-3.86	-2.26	0.50	0.2 - 1.28	0.148
. ,	BMI	126 (2.6)	-3.86	-2.26	0.69	0.35 - 1.35	0.278
Strongth Long	Residuals	88 (1.8)	-3.86	-2.26	0.79	0.36 - 1.73	0.550
	Height	264 (5.4)	-3.87	-2.27	1.28	0.85 - 1.93	0.235
	Weight	411 (8.5)	-3.86	-2.26	0.94	0.66 - 1.34	0.734
percentile) and grip strength <16kg Muscle mass (20th percentile) and gait speed <0.8m/s	BMI	396 (8.1)	-3.86	-2.26	1.13	0.81 - 1.59	0.467
Sheen solomin	Residuals	304 (6.3)	-3.87	-2.27	1.40	0.97 - 2.01	0.075

Table 4. Association between sarcopenia and falls in females using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia

### **Supplementary Material**

### **Supplementary Table 1. Participant characteristics – weighted data**

Characteristic	Males (n	=5147)	Females (I	N=4861)
	Mean or N		Mean or N	SE or %
Age, years	72.6	5.78	72.5	5.84
Height, cm	174	6.94	160	6.48
Weight, kg	84.8	14.8	71.0	15.1
BMI, kg/m2	28.0	4.5	27.8	5.8
Total body fat mass, %	25.5	8.6	29.7	9.9
Appendicular lean mass	26.1	4.0	17.3	3.1
ALM/height ²	8.60	1.10	6.76	1.09
ALM/weight	31.0	3.3	24.7	2.9
ALM/BMI	0.94	0.13	0.63	0.10
Gait speed, meters per second	0.95	0.20	0.91	0.21
Grip strength, kg	39.9	9.1	23.9	5.5
Number of falls in previous year (%)				
Zero	361815	90.3	381393	86.7
One	30329	7.6	44458	10.1
Two or more	8522	2.1	13970	3.2
Self-rated general health (%)				
Fair or poor	30374	7.6	35400	8.0
Good, very good, or excellent	370293	92.4	404421	92.0
Presence of pain or discomfort (%)	134030	33.5	191131	43.5
Self-rated hearing (%)				
Fair or poor	68955	17.2	49554	11.3
Good, very good, or excellent	331712	82.8	390267	88.7
Urinary incontinence (%)	29424	7.3	67165	15.3
Household income (%)				
< \$20,000	12324	3.1	40809	9.3
≥ \$20,000 < \$50,000	107245	26.8	175956	40.0
≥ \$50,000 <\$100,000	174030	43.4	157127	35.7
≥ \$100,000 < \$150,000	68468	17.1	45669	10.4
≥ 150,000	38600	9.6	20261	4.6
Smoking status (%)				
Current	19979	5.0	20480	4.7
Never or former	380687	95.0	419341	95.3
COPD (%)	24132	6.0	32793	7.5

## Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

Depression (%)	39073	9.8	77297	17.6
Neurological conditions (%)	29368	7.3	75426	17.1
Arthritis (%)	109767	27.4	183637	41.8
Diabetes (%)	95406	23.8	74616	17.0
Stroke (%)	27642	6.9	29190	6.6
Osteoporosis (%)	15275	3.8	108571	24.7

Supplementary Table 2. Area under the curve statistics for sarcopenia definitions using the outcomes of one or more falls

	Sarcopenia definit	tion		Ma	ales			Fem	ales	
	-		1	+ Fall	2	+ falls	1	+ Fall	2	+ falls
Muscle mass percentile	Combination of muscle variables	Method of adjusting muscle mass	AUC	95% CI						
Grip streng	th <30kg males, <	20kg females	0.54	0.53 - 0.54	0.57	0.56 - 0.59	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.54
Grip streng	th <26kg males, <	16kg females	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
Grip streng	th <27kg males		0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
Gait speed	<0.8m/s		0.54	0.54 - 0.55	0.60	0.58 - 0.61	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.54	0.54 - 0.55
Gait speed	<1.0m/s		0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.55	0.53 - 0.56	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	only	Weight	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
		BMI	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.55	0.53 - 0.56	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
		Residuals	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
	and grip	Weight	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.51	0.50 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	strength <30kg males, <20kg	BMI	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
10th	females	Residuals	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.50 - 0.51
	and grip	Weight	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
	strength <26kg	BMI	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
	males, <16kg females	Residuals	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.50 - 0.51
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
	and grip	Weight	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
		BMI	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.51 - 0.52

	strength <27kg		0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.5 - 0.51	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
	males	Residuals								
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.51	0.50 - 0.51
	and gait speed	Weight	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.51	0.50 - 0.52	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
	<0.8m/s	BMI	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
		Residuals	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	and gait speed	Weight	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
	<1.0m/s	BMI	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
		Residuals	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
	Muscle mass	Height	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
	only	Weight	0.55	0.54 - 0.56	0.53	0.52 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.55	0.54 - 0.56
		BMI	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.56	0.55 - 0.58	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.54
		Residuals	0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	and grip	Weight	0.52	0.52 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.52
	strength <30kg males, <20kg	BMI	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.55	0.54 - 0.56	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
	females	Residuals	0.52	0.52 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.52
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
20th	and grip	Weight	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
	strength <26kg	BMI	0.52	0.52 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.52 - 0.52
	males, <16kg females	Residuals	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	Muscle mass	Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	and grip	Weight	0.52	0.52 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.52 - 0.52
	strength <27kg	BMI	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
	males	Residuals	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
		Height	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.51	0.51 - 0.51
		Weight	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.53

	Muscle mass	BMI	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.55	0.54 - 0.56	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.51	0.51 - 0.52
	and gait speed		0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
	<0.8m/s	Residuals								
	Muscle mass	Height	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
	and gait speed	Weight	0.54	0.54 - 0.55	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.54	0.54 - 0.55
	<1.0m/s	BMI	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.56	0.55 - 0.58	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.54
		Residuals	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.51	0.50 - 0.53	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
	Muscle mass	Height	0.53	0.52 - 0.54	0.56	0.54 - 0.57	0.51	0.50 - 0.52	0.53	0.52 - 0.54
	only	Weight	0.54	0.54 - 0.55	0.55	0.54 - 0.57	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.54	0.54 - 0.55
		BMI	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.58	0.57 - 0.60	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55
		Residuals	0.54	0.53 - 0.54	0.55	0.53 - 0.56	0.52	0.51 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.54
	Muscle mass	Height	0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.56	0.55 - 0.57	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
	and grip	Weight	0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.55	0.54 - 0.56	0.50	0.50 - 0.51	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
	strength <30kg males, <20kg females	BMI	0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.56	0.55 - 0.57	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
		Residuals	0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.55	0.54 - 0.56	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
	Muscle mass	Height	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.52	0.51 - 0.52
	and grip	Weight	0.52	0.52 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.52 - 0.52
40th	strength <26kg	BMI	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
	males, <16kg females	Residuals	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
	Muscle mass	Height	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.51	0.51 - 0.51	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
	and grip	Weight	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
	strength <27kg	BMI	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.54	0.50	0.50 - 0.50	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
	males	Residuals	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.51	0.50 - 0.51	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
	Muscle mass	Height	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.55	0.54 - 0.56	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.52	0.52 - 0.53
	and gait speed	Weight	0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.57	0.56 - 0.58	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
	<0.8m/s	BMI	0.53	0.53 - 0.54	0.58	0.57 - 0.60	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.53	0.53 - 0.54
		Residuals	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.56	0.55 - 0.57	0.53	0.52 - 0.53	0.53	0.52 - 0.53
		Height	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.57	0.55 - 0.58	0.52	0.51 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55

Muscle mass	Weight	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.56	0.55 - 0.57	0.51	0.51 - 0.52	0.54	0.53 - 0.55
and gait speed	BMI	0.54	0.53 - 0.55	0.59	0.57 - 0.60	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.53 - 0.55
<1.0m/s	Residuals	0.54	0.54 - 0.55	0.56	0.55 - 0.58	0.52	0.52 - 0.53	0.54	0.54 - 0.55

Supplementary Table 3. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia

	Sarcopenia definitio	n	Number of					
Muscle mass percentile	Combination of muscle variables	Method of adjusting muscle mass	participants with sarcopenia (%)	Intercept 1	Intercept 2	Odds of falling	95% Confidence interval	p-value
	Grip strength <30kg		655 (12.7)	-4.31	-2.69	1.43	1.02 - 1.99	0.036
Not	Grip strength <26kg		253 (4.9)	-4.30		1.80	1.13 - 2.86	0.013
applicable	Grip strength <27kg		322 (6.3)	-4.30			1.19 - 2.73	0.005
upplicable	Gait speed <0.8m/s		1136 (22.1)	-4.31	-2.69	1.28	0.96 - 1.70	0.095
	Gait speed <1.0m/s		3340 (64.9)	-4.22			0.68 - 1.15	0.357
	Muscle mass only	Height	499 (9.7)	-4.30	-2.68	1.18	0.80 - 1.75	0.394
		Weight	503 (9.8)	-4.30	-2.68	1.24	0.85 - 1.81	0.256
		BMI	500 (9.7)	-4.30	-2.68	1.30	0.90 - 1.87	0.164
		Residuals	504 (9.8)	-4.32	-2.70	1.48	1.03 - 2.13	0.033
	Muscle mass and	Height	139 (2.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.55	0.83 - 2.90	0.171
	grip strength <30kg	Weight	131 (2.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.47	0.77 - 2.78	0.239
		BMI	168 (3.3)	-4.29	-2.67	1.60	0.91 - 2.80	0.103
10th		Residuals	124 (2.4)	-4.29	-2.67	1.65	0.87 - 3.13	0.128
	Muscle mass and	Height	60 (1.2)	-4.29	-2.67	1.69	0.67 - 4.26	0.263
	grip strength <26kg	Weight	64 (1.2)	-4.29	-2.67	1.80	0.76 - 4.22	0.179
		BMI	80 (1.6)	-4.29	-2.67	2.08	0.98 - 4.39	0.056
		Residuals	61 (1.2)	-4.29	-2.67	1.65	0.67 - 4.03	0.273
	Muscle mass and	Height	76 (1.5)	-4.29	-2.67	2.25	1.06 - 4.76	0.034
	grip strength <27kg	Weight	76 (1.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.97	0.93 - 4.17	0.075
		BMI	92 (1.8)	-4.29	-2.67	2.37	1.22 - 4.60	0.011

		Residuals	75 (1.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.93	0.89 - 4.16	0.095
	Muscle mass and gait	Height	144 (2.8)	-4.29	-2.67	1.10	0.56 - 2.14	0.788
	speed <0.8m/s	Weight	194 (3.8)	-4.29	-2.67	1.26	0.72 - 2.19	0.417
		BMI	205 (4.0)	-4.29	-2.67	1.08	0.62 - 1.89	0.780
		Residuals	161 (3.1)	-4.29	-2.67	1.41	0.78 - 2.54	0.257
	Muscle mass and gait	Height	355 (6.9)	-4.30	-2.68	1.21	0.78 - 1.89	0.394
	speed <1.0m/s	Weight	407 (7.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.14	0.75 - 1.74	0.531
		BMI	405 (7.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.16	0.77 - 1.75	0.485
		Residuals	369 (7.2)	-4.30	-2.68	1.40	0.92 - 2.12	0.113
	Muscle mass only	Height	1007 (19.6)	-4.31	-2.69	1.13	0.83 - 1.53	0.428
		Weight	999 (19.4)	-4.34	-2.72	1.51	1.13 - 2.00	0.005
		BMI	1008 (19.6)	-4.30	-2.68	1.15	0.86 - 1.54	0.359
		Residuals	1009 (19.6)	-4.33	-2.71	1.28	0.96 - 1.71	0.099
	Muscle mass and	Height	243 (4.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.27	0.75 - 2.14	0.375
	grip strength <30kg	Weight	224 (4.4)	-4.29	-2.67	1.60	0.97 - 2.63	0.065
		BMI	285 (5.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.66	1.06 - 2.59	0.026
		Residuals	218 (4.2)	-4.29	-2.67	1.66	1.01 - 2.74	0.046
20th	Muscle mass and	Height	106 (2.1)	-4.29	-2.67	1.41	0.67 - 2.99	0.364
	grip strength <26kg	Weight	104 (2.0)	-4.29	-2.67	2.14	1.11 - 4.13	0.024
		BMI	122 (2.4)	-4.30	-2.67	2.33	1.28 - 4.26	0.006
		Residuals	95 (1.8)	-4.29	-2.67	2.14	1.08 - 4.25	0.029
	Muscle mass and	Height	129 (2.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.68	0.88 - 3.21	0.113
	grip strength <27kg	Weight	124 (2.4)	-4.29	-2.67	2.29	1.28 - 4.13	0.006
		BMI	147 (2.9)	-4.30	-2.68	2.48	1.45 - 4.24	0.001
		Residuals	119 (2.3)	-4.29	-2.67	2.20	1.20 - 4.04	0.011
	Muscle mass and grip strength <27kg	Height	258 (5.0)	-4.29	-2.67	1.11	0.65 - 1.87	0.707

		Weight	344 (6.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.36	0.88 - 2.08	0.164
	speed <1.0m/s Muscle mass only Muscle mass and grip strength <30kg Muscle mass and grip strength <26kg Muscle mass and grip strength <27kg	BMI	357 (6.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.06	0.67 - 1.65	0.812
	speeu <0.011/8	Residuals	274 (5.3)	-4.29	-2.67	1.24	0.76 - 2.02	0.385
	Muscle mass and gait	Height	694 (13.5)	-4.30	-2.68	1.11	0.79 - 1.58	0.542
	speed <1.0m/s	Weight	760 (14.8)	-4.31	-2.69	1.36	0.99 - 1.86	0.059
		BMI	789 (15.3)	-4.30	-2.68	1.14	0.83 - 1.57	0.425
		Residuals	723 (14.0)	-4.30	-2.68	1.18	0.85 - 1.65	0.327
	Muscle mass only	Height	2033 (39.5)	-4.36	-2.74	1.21	0.94 - 1.55	0.138
		Weight	2022 (39.3)	-4.35	-2.73	1.24	0.97 - 1.60	0.091
		BMI	2020 (39.2)	-4.34	-2.72	1.19	0.93 - 1.52	0.17
		Residuals	2019 (39.2)	-4.35	-2.73	1.20	0.94 - 1.54	0.142
	Muscle mass and	Height	390 (7.6)	-4.30	-2.68	1.54	1.03 - 2.32	0.03
	grip strength <30kg	Weight	379 (7.4)	-4.30	-2.67	1.60	1.07 - 2.39	0.022
		BMI	426 (8.3)	-4.30	-2.68	1.63	1.11 - 2.40	0.01
		Residuals	382 (7.4)	-4.30	-2.68	1.67	1.12 - 2.49	0.01
	Muscle mass and	Height	164 (3.2)	-4.29	-2.67	1.67	0.94 - 2.98	0.08
40th	grip strength <26kg	Weight	153 (3.0)	-4.29	-2.67	2.09	1.20 - 3.65	0.01
		BMI	175 (3.4)	-4.29	-2.67	2.08	1.22 - 3.53	0.00
		Residuals	155 (3.0)	-4.29	-2.67	2.24	1.30 - 3.87	0.004
	Muscle mass and	Height	205 (4.0)	-4.30	-2.67	1.85	1.11 - 3.07	0.01
	grip strength <27kg	Weight	194 (3.8)	-4.29	-2.67	2.22	1.36 - 3.61	0.00
		BMI	221 (4.3)	-4.30	-2.67	2.15	1.35 - 3.44	0.00
		Residuals	194 (3.8)	-4.30	-2.68	2.34	1.44 - 3.80	0.00
	Muscle mass and gait	Height	489 (9.5)	-4.30	-2.68	1.24	0.84 - 1.82	0.28
	speed <0.8m/s	Weight	595 (11.6)	-4.29	-2.67	1.24	0.87 - 1.78	0.22
		BMI	604 (11.7)	-4.30	-2.68	1.28	0.90 - 1.82	0.164

I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Residuals	528 (10.3)	-4.30	-2.68	1.28	0.88 - 1.84	0.196
Muscle mass and gait <b>F</b>	Height	1358 (26.4)	-4.33	-2.71	1.27	0.96 - 1.66	0.089
speed <1.0m/s	Weight	1465 (28.5)	-4.31	-2.69	1.14	0.87 - 1.49	0.339
E	BMI	1494 (29.0)	-4.31	-2.69	1.13	0.87 - 1.48	0.364
ŀ	Residuals	1401 (27.2)	-4.34	-2.72	1.27	0.97 - 1.66	0.080

Supplementary Table 4. Association between sarcopenia and falls in females using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia

Muscle mass percentile	Sarcopenia definiti Combination of muscle variables	on Method of adjusting muscle mass	Number of participants with sarcopenia (%)	Intercept 1	Intercept 2	Odds of falling	95% Confidence interval	p-value
	Grip strength <20	kg	1125 (23.1)	-3.86	-2.26	1.00	0.78 - 1.27	0.990
Not	Grip strength <16	kg	338 (7.0)	-3.86	-2.26	0.93	0.62 - 1.38	0.701
applicable	Gait speed <0.8m/	s	1414 (29.1)	-3.88	-2.28	1.15	0.92 - 1.45	0.219
	Gait speed <1.0m/	s	3474 (71.5)	-3.82	-2.22	0.94	0.74 - 1.18	0.575
	Muscle mass only	Height	484 (10.0)	-3.88	-2.27	1.13	0.81 - 1.57	0.467
		Weight	484 (10.0)	-3.86	-2.26	1.00	0.72 - 1.38	0.991
		BMI	475 (9.8)	-3.86	-2.25	0.90	0.65 - 1.25	0.529
		Residuals	490 (10.1)	-3.86	-2.26	0.97	0.70 - 1.34	0.854
	Muscle mass and	Height	176 (3.6)	-3.86	-2.26	0.89	0.51 - 1.56	0.689
	grip strength	Weight	173 (3.6)	-3.86	-2.25	0.60	0.33 - 1.10	0.096
	<20kg	BMI	205 (4.2)	-3.86	-2.26	0.44	0.24 - 0.80	0.008
40.7		Residuals	164 (3.4)	-3.86	-2.25	0.74	0.41 - 1.34	0.322
10th	Muscle mass and	Height	59 (1.2)	-3.86	-2.26	0.94	0.38 - 2.31	0.899
	grip strength	Weight	53 (1.1)	-3.86	-2.26	0.44	0.13 - 1.46	0.180
	<16kg	BMI	74 (1.5)	-3.86	-2.26	0.56	0.23 - 1.39	0.214
		Residuals	43 (0.9)	-3.86	-2.26	0.59	0.18 - 1.91	0.381
	Muscle mass and	Height	135 (2.8)	-3.86	-2.26	1.12	0.63 - 2.02	0.694
	gait speed	Weight	229 (4.7)	-3.86	-2.26	1.14	0.75 - 1.75	0.534
	<0.8m/s	BMI	230 (4.7)	-3.86	-2.26	0.82	0.51 - 1.30	0.388
		Residuals	169 (3.5)	-3.87	-2.26	1.46	0.92 - 2.33	0.112

	Muscle mass and	Height	344 (7.1)	-3.87	-2.27	1.1	0.75 - 1.61	0.629
	gait speed	Weight	409 (8.4)	-3.86	-2.26	1.01	0.72 - 1.42	0.954
	<1.0m/s	BMI	406 (8.4)	-3.86	-2.25	0.81	0.56 - 1.16	0.252
		Residuals	385 (7.9)	-3.86	-2.26	0.99	0.69 - 1.41	0.935
	Muscle mass only	Height	972 (20.0)	-3.89	-2.29	1.12	0.87 - 1.44	0.367
		Weight	963 (19.8)	-3.85	-2.24	0.89	0.70 - 1.15	0.377
		BMI	961 (19.8)	-3.86	-2.26	1.01	0.79 - 1.29	0.947
		Residuals	969 (19.9)	-3.88	-2.28	1.10	0.87 - 1.41	0.419
	Muscle mass and	Height	340 (7.0)	-3.86	-2.26	1.07	0.73 - 1.58	0.722
	grip strength	Weight	296 (6.1)	-3.86	-2.25	0.54	0.33 - 0.87	0.01
	<20kg	BMI	366 (7.5)	-3.86	-2.25	0.73	0.49 - 1.09	0.125
		Residuals	291 (6.0)	-3.86	-2.26	0.93	0.61 - 1.42	0.740
	Muscle mass and	Height	117 (2.4)	-3.86	-2.26	1.15	0.64 - 2.07	0.647
	grip strength	Weight	83 (1.7)	-3.86	-2.26	0.50	0.20 - 1.28	0.148
20th	<16kg	BMI	126 (2.6)	-3.86	-2.26	0.69	0.35 - 1.35	0.278
		Residuals	88 (1.8)	-3.86	-2.26	0.79	0.36 - 1.73	0.550
	Muscle mass and	Height	264 (5.4)	-3.87	-2.27	1.28	0.85 - 1.93	0.235
	gait speed	Weight	411 (8.5)	-3.86	-2.26	0.94	0.66 - 1.34	0.734
	<0.8m/s	BMI	396 (8.1)	-3.86	-2.26	1.13	0.81 - 1.59	0.467
		Residuals	304 (6.3)	-3.87	-2.27	1.40	0.97 - 2.01	0.075
	Muscle mass and	Height	689 (14.2)	-3.87	-2.27	1.08	0.82 - 1.44	0.576
	gait speed	Weight	800 (16.5)	-3.85	-2.25	0.87	0.66 - 1.13	0.296
	<1.0m/s	BMI	784 (16.1)	-3.86	-2.26	0.99	0.76 - 1.30	0.968
		Residuals	722 (14.9)	-3.87	-2.27	1.08	0.82 - 1.42	0.581
	Muscle mass only		1948 (40.1)	-3.93	-2.32	1.15	0.93 - 1.41	0.195
40th	······································	Weight	1940 (40.1)	-3.83	-2.23	0.90	0.73 - 1.11	0.323
		11 018110	1757 (57.6)				. –	

	BMI	1930 (39.7)	-3.85	-2.25	0.96	0.78 - 1.17	0.67
	Residuals	1947 (40.1)	-3.92	-2.32	1.15	0.94 - 1.4	0.17
Muscle mass and	Height	565 (11.6)	-3.87	-2.27	1.15	0.85 - 1.56	0.37
grip strength	Weight	544 (11.2)	-3.85	-2.25	0.79	0.57 - 1.10	0.15
<20kg	BMI	644 (13.2)	-3.85	-2.25	0.82	0.60 - 1.11	0.19
	Residuals	545 (11.2)	-3.86	-2.26	1.02	0.74 - 1.39	0.92
Muscle mass and	Height	186 (3.8)	-3.87	-2.26	1.32	0.82 - 2.11	0.24
grip strength	Weight	154 (3.2)	-3.86	-2.26	0.73	0.40 - 1.34	0.30
<16kg	BMI	204 (4.2)	-3.86	-2.26	0.77	0.46 - 1.30	0.32
	Residuals	167 (3.4)	-3.86	-2.26	1.19	0.72 - 1.98	0.50
Muscle mass and	Height	498 (10.2)	-3.88	-2.28	1.37	1.01 - 1.86	0.04
gait speed	Weight	741 (15.2)	-3.86	-2.26	1.00	0.76 - 1.32	0.98
<0.8m/s	BMI	746 (15.3)	-3.86	-2.26	1.07	0.82 - 1.41	0.6
	Residuals	589 (12.1)	-3.88	-2.28	1.38	1.04 - 1.83	0.02
Muscle mass and	Height	1321 (27.2)	-3.89	-2.29	1.13	0.90 - 1.41	0.30
gait speed	Weight	1542 (31.7)	-3.84	-2.24	0.91	0.73 - 1.13	0.4
<1.0m/s	BMI	1531 (31.5)	-3.86	-2.26	0.98	0.79 - 1.22	0.8
	Residuals	1424 (29.3)	-3.89	-2.29	1.12	0.91 - 1.39	0.2

Supplementary Table 5. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia – males, completers only analyses without multiple imputation

	Sarcopenia definitio	n	Number of					
Muscle mass percentile	Combination of muscle variables	Method of adjusting muscle mass	participants with sarcopenia (%)	Intercept 1	Intercept 2	Odds of falling	95% Confidence interval	p-value
	Grip strength <30kg		655 (14.1)	-4.31	-2.68	1.49	1.06 - 2.09	0.023
Not	Grip strength <26kg		253 (5.4)	-4.29		1.83	1.14 - 2.94	0.012
applicable	Grip strength <27kg		322 (6.9)	-4.30	-2.67	1.86	1.22 - 2.83	0.004
applicable	Gait speed <0.8m/s		1133 (24.4)	-4.31	-2.69	1.29	0.96 - 1.73	0.092
	Gait speed <1.0m/s		3337 (71.7)	-4.25	-2.63	0.94	0.72 - 1.23	0.648
	Muscle mass only	Height	499 (10.7)	-4.30	-2.68	1.22	0.82 - 1.81	0.335
		Weight	501 (10.8)	-4.29	-2.67	1.25	0.85 - 1.85	0.252
		BMI	500 (10.8)	-4.30	-2.67	1.33	0.91 - 1.94	0.143
		Residuals	503 (10.8)	-4.31	-2.69	1.51	1.05 - 2.19	0.028
	Muscle mass and	Height	139 (3.0)	-4.29	-2.67	1.67	0.88 - 3.17	0.114
	grip strength <30kg	Weight	131 (2.8)	-4.28	-2.66	1.44	0.75 - 2.77	0.278
		BMI	168 (3.6)	-4.29	-2.66	1.60	0.90 - 2.86	0.112
10th		Residuals	124 (2.7)	-4.28	-2.66	1.74	0.90 - 3.35	0.098
	Muscle mass and	Height	60 (1.3)	-4.28	-2.66	1.71	0.66 - 4.45	0.268
	grip strength <26kg	Weight	64 (1.4)	-4.28	-2.66	1.63	0.67 - 4.00	0.282
		BMI	80 (1.7)	-4.29	-2.66	1.90	0.87 - 4.17	0.109
		Residuals	61 (1.3)	-4.28	-2.66	1.66	0.66 - 4.19	0.279
	Muscle mass and	Height	76 (1.6)	-4.29	-2.66	2.31	1.07 - 4.98	0.032
	grip strength <27kg	Weight	76 (1.6)	-4.29	-2.66	1.84	0.85 - 4.00	0.121
		BMI	92 (2.0)	-4.29	-2.66	2.23	1.12 - 4.45	0.022

		Residuals	75 (1.6)	-4.28	-2.66	1.97	0.89 - 4.32	0.093
	Muscle mass and gait	^t Height	144 (3.1)	-4.28	-2.66	1.13	0.56 - 2.26	0.733
	speed <0.8m/s	Weight	193 (4.1)	-4.28	-2.66	1.17	0.65 - 2.09	0.599
		BMI	205 (4.4)	-4.28	-2.66	1.05	0.59 - 1.87	0.880
		Residuals	161 (3.5)	-4.29	-2.66	1.46	0.79 - 2.68	0.225
	Muscle mass and gait	^t Height	355 (7.6)	-4.29	-2.67	1.25	0.79 - 1.96	0.343
	speed <1.0m/s	Weight	406 (8.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.16	0.75 - 1.78	0.500
		BMI	405 (8.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.19	0.78 - 1.82	0.416
		Residuals	369 (7.9)	-4.30	-2.68	1.46	0.96 - 2.23	0.078
	Muscle mass only	Height	1006 (21.6)	-4.30	-2.68	1.12	0.82 - 1.52	0.485
		Weight	996 (21.4)	-4.34	-2.72	1.53	1.14 - 2.05	0.004
		BMI	1006 (21.6)	-4.30	-2.68	1.15	0.85 - 1.56	0.370
		Residuals	1008 (21.7)	-4.33	-2.71	1.32	0.98 - 1.77	0.066
	Muscle mass and	Height	243 (5.2)	-4.29	-2.67	1.30	0.76 - 2.23	0.329
	grip strength <30kg	Weight	224 (4.8)	-4.29	-2.66	1.60	0.96 - 2.67	0.073
		BMI	285 (6.1)	-4.29	-2.67	1.68	1.06 - 2.66	0.026
		Residuals	218 (4.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.78	1.07 - 2.95	0.027
20th	Muscle mass and	Height	106 (2.3)	-4.28	-2.66	1.36	0.62 - 2.96	0.439
	grip strength <26kg	Weight	104 (2.2)	-4.29	-2.66	2.10	1.06 - 4.14	0.032
		BMI	122 (2.6)	-4.29	-2.67	2.28	1.22 - 4.24	0.010
		Residuals	95 (2.0)	-4.29	-2.66	2.21	1.10 - 4.44	0.026
	Muscle mass and	Height	129 (2.8)	-4.29	-2.66	1.65	0.85 - 3.21	0.137
	grip strength <27kg	Weight	124 (2.7)	-4.29	-2.66	2.27	1.24 - 4.14	0.008
		BMI	147 (3.2)	-4.30	-2.67	2.44	1.41 - 4.24	0.002
		Residuals	119 (2.6)	-4.29	-2.66	2.26	1.22 - 4.20	0.010
		Height	257 (5.5)	-4.28	-2.66	1.04	0.60 - 1.81	0.878

		Weight	342 (7.4)	-4.29	-2.67	1.29	0.82 - 2.02	0.264
	Muscle mass and gait speed <0.8m/s	BMI	355 (7.6)	-4.28	-2.66	0.98	0.61 - 1.58	0.943
	speeu <0.0m/s	Residuals	274 (5.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.27	0.77 - 2.09	0.344
	Muscle mass and gait	Height	693 (14.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.09	0.77 - 1.57	0.62
	speed <1.0m/s	Weight	758 (16.3)	-4.31	-2.69	1.38	1.00 - 1.91	0.053
		BMI	787 (16.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.14	0.82 - 1.58	0.442
		Residuals	723 (15.5)	-4.30	-2.68	1.23	0.88 - 1.73	0.22
	Muscle mass only	Height	2030 (43.6)	-4.35	-2.73	1.20	0.93 - 1.55	0.17
		Weight	2019 (43.4)	-4.36	-2.74	1.27	0.99 - 1.65	0.06
		BMI	2016 (43.3)	-4.33	-2.71	1.19	0.93 - 1.54	0.17
		Residuals	2016 (43.3)	-4.36	-2.73	1.23	0.95 - 1.58	0.11
	Muscle mass and	Height	390 (8.4)	-4.30	-2.67	1.60	1.06 - 2.42	0.02
	grip strength <30kg	Weight	379 (8.1)	-4.29	-2.67	1.63	1.08 - 2.46	0.02
		BMI	426 (9.2)	-4.30	-2.67	1.67	1.13 - 2.48	0.01
		Residuals	382 (8.2)	-4.30	-2.68	1.75	1.17 - 2.63	0.00
	Muscle mass and	Height	164 (3.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.65	0.91 - 3.00	0.10
40th	grip strength <26kg	Weight	153 (3.3)	-4.28	-2.66	2.06	1.16 - 3.66	0.01
		BMI	175 (3.8)	-4.29	-2.66	2.08	1.21 - 3.60	0.00
		Residuals	155 (3.3)	-4.29	-2.66	2.23	1.27 - 3.92	0.00
	Muscle mass and	Height	205 (4.4)	-4.29	-2.67	1.85	1.10 - 3.11	0.02
	grip strength <27kg	Weight	194 (4.2)	-4.29	-2.66	2.21	1.34 - 3.63	0.00
		BMI	221 (4.8)	-4.29	-2.67	2.16	1.34 - 3.50	0.00
		Residuals	194 (4.2)	-4.30	-2.67	2.38	1.44 - 3.91	0.00
	Muscle mass and gait		488 (10.5)	-4.29	-2.67	1.21	0.81 - 1.81	0.35
	speed <0.8m/s	Weight	593 (12.7)	-4.29	-2.67	1.23	0.85 - 1.78	0.27
		BMI	601 (12.9)	-4.29	-2.67	1.22	0.85 - 1.77	0.27

	Residuals	526 (11.3)	-4.29	-2.67	1.25	0.86 - 1.83	0.245
Muscle mass and gait	Height	1357 (29.2)	-4.34	-2.71	1.30	0.99 - 1.72	0.064
speed <1.0m/s	Weight	1463 (31.5)	-4.31	-2.69	1.18	0.89 - 1.55	0.246
	BMI	1491 (32.1)	-4.31	-2.68	1.14	0.87 - 1.50	0.340
	Residuals	1399 (30.1)	-4.34	-2.72	1.30	0.99 - 1.71	0.058

Supplementary Table 6. Association between sarcopenia and falls in males using different methods of operationalizing sarcopenia, completers only analyses without multiple imputation

Muscle mass percentile	Sarcopenia definiti Combination of muscle variables	on Method of adjusting muscle mass	Number of participants with sarcopenia (%)	Intercept 1	Intercept 2	Odds of falling	95% Confidence interval	p-value
•	Grip strength <20	kg	1124 (23.3)	-3.87	-2.27	1.01	0.79 - 1.30	0.927
Not	Grip strength <16	0	337 (7.0)	-3.87	-2.26	0.89	0.59 - 1.35	0.586
applicable	Gait speed <0.8m/	0	1412 (29.3)	-3.89	-2.28	0.89	0.59 - 1.35	0.586
	Gait speed <1.0m/		3472 (71.9)	-3.83	-2.23	1.16	0.92 - 1.46	0.224
	Muscle mass only	Height	483 (9.9)	-3.88	-2.28	1.09	0.78 - 1.53	0.608
		Weight	482 (9.9)	-3.87	-2.26	0.93	0.67 - 1.31	0.691
		BMI	473 (9.7)	-3.86	-2.26	0.86	0.61 - 1.22	0.394
		Residuals	489 (10.1)	-3.86	-2.26	0.96	0.68 - 1.34	0.795
	Muscle mass and	Height	175 (3.6)	-3.87	-2.26	0.93	0.74 - 1.18	0.565
	grip strength	Weight	173 (3.6)	-3.87	-2.26	0.91	0.51 - 1.60	0.738
	<20kg	BMI	205 (4.2)	-3.87	-2.26	0.55	0.29 - 1.05	0.070
10/1		Residuals	164 (3.4)	-3.86	-2.26	0.38	0.20 - 0.75	0.005
10th	Muscle mass and	Height	58 (1.2)	-3.87	-2.27	0.74	0.40 - 1.36	0.329
	grip strength	Weight	53 (1.1)	-3.87	-2.26	0.86	0.33 - 2.21	0.747
	<16kg	BMI	74 (1.5)	-3.87	-2.26	0.36	0.09 - 1.43	0.148
		Residuals	43 (0.9)	-3.87	-2.26	0.46	0.16 - 1.29	0.139
	Muscle mass and	Height	134 (2.8)	-3.87	-2.27	0.64	0.20 - 2.08	0.463
	gait speed	Weight	228 (4.7)	-3.87	-2.27	1.18	0.65 - 2.15	0.591
	<0.8m/s	BMI	229 (4.7)	-3.87	-2.27	1.07	0.69 - 1.67	0.751
		Residuals	168 (3.5)	-3.87	-2.27	0.75	0.46 - 1.23	0.250

	Muscle mass and	Height	343 (7.1)	-3.88	-2.27	1.45	0.89 - 2.35	0.133
	gait speed	Weight	408 (8.4)	-3.87	-2.26	1.10	0.74 - 1.63	0.639
	<1.0m/s	BMI	405 (8.3)	-3.86	-2.26	0.96	0.67 - 1.37	0.81
		Residuals	384 (7.9)	-3.87	-2.26	0.78	0.54 - 1.14	0.204
	Muscle mass only	Height	971 (20.0)	-3.89	-2.29	0.97	0.67 - 1.40	0.855
		Weight	961 (19.8)	-3.85	-2.25	0.86	0.67 - 1.12	0.268
		BMI	959 (19.7)	-3.87	-2.26	0.97	0.75 - 1.25	0.808
		Residuals	967 (19.9)	-3.88	-2.28	1.08	0.84 - 1.38	0.544
	Muscle mass and	Height	339 (7.0)	-3.87	-2.27	1.09	0.74 - 1.61	0.670
	grip strength	Weight	296 (6.1)	-3.87	-2.26	0.50	0.30 - 0.84	0.008
	<20kg	BMI	366 (7.5)	-3.86	-2.26	0.70	0.46 - 1.06	0.094
		Residuals	290 (6.0)	-3.87	-2.26	0.91	0.59 - 1.41	0.678
		Height	116 (2.4)	-3.87	-2.27	1.08	0.58 - 2.00	0.800
		Weight	83 (1.7)	-3.87	-2.26	0.44	0.16 - 1.22	0.113
20th	<16kg	BMI	126 (2.6)	-3.87	-2.26	0.62	0.30 - 1.28	0.199
		Residuals	87 (1.8)	-3.87	-2.26	0.69	0.29 - 1.65	0.409
	Muscle mass and	Height	263 (5.4)	-3.88	-2.27	1.32	0.87 - 2.01	0.192
	gait speed	Weight	410 (8.4)	-3.87	-2.27	0.90	0.63 - 1.29	0.570
	<0.8m/s	BMI	395 (8.1)	-3.87	-2.27	1.08	0.76 - 1.54	0.665
		Residuals	302 (6.2)	-3.88	-2.27	1.35	0.92 - 1.97	0.125
	Muscle mass and	Height	688 (14.2)	-3.88	-2.28	1.07	0.80 - 1.43	0.655
	gait speed	Weight	799 (16.5)	-3.86	-2.25	0.84	0.64 - 1.11	0.219
	<1.0m/s	BMI	783 (16.1)	-3.87	-2.26	0.95	0.73 - 1.25	0.736
		Residuals	720 (14.8)	-3.88	-2.27	1.05	0.80 - 1.39	0.713
	Muscle mass only		1946 (40.1)	-3.93	-2.33	1.14	0.92 - 1.40	0.237
40th		Weight	1934 (39.8)	-3.83	-2.22	0.87	0.71 - 1.08	0.212

	BMI	1927 (39.7)	-3.85	-2.25	0.95	0.77 - 1.17	0.64
	Residuals	1945 (40.0)	-3.92	-2.32	1.13	0.92 - 1.39	0.23
Muscle mass and	Height	564 (11.6)	-3.88	-2.28	1.15	0.84 - 1.57	0.37
grip strength	Weight	543 (11.2)	-3.86	-2.26	0.78	0.55 - 1.09	0.14
<20kg	BMI	643 (13.2)	-3.86	-2.26	0.81	0.59 - 1.12	0.19
	Residuals	544 (11.2)	-3.87	-2.27	1.01	0.73 - 1.39	0.95
Muscle mass and	Height	185 (3.8)	-3.87	-2.27	1.20	0.73 - 1.98	0.46
grip strength	Weight	153 (3.2)	-3.87	-2.26	0.63	0.33 - 1.22	0.17
<16kg	BMI	203 (4.2)	-3.87	-2.26	0.71	0.41 - 1.24	0.23
	Residuals	166 (3.4)	-3.87	-2.27	1.08	0.63 - 1.87	0.77
Muscle mass and	Height	497 (10.2)	-3.89	-2.29	1.41	1.03 - 1.92	0.0
gait speed	Weight	739 (15.2)	-3.87	-2.27	0.97	0.73 - 1.29	0.8
<0.8m/s	BMI	744 (15.3)	-3.87	-2.27	1.06	0.80 - 1.40	0.6
	Residuals	587 (12.1)	-3.89	-2.28	1.38	1.03 - 1.84	0.0
Muscle mass and	Height	1320 (27.2)	-3.90	-2.29	1.12	0.89 - 1.40	0.34
gait speed	Weight	1540 (31.7)	-3.85	-2.24	0.88	0.70 - 1.10	0.2
<1.0m/s	BMI	1529 (31.5)	-3.86	-2.26	0.97	0.78 - 1.22	0.8
	Residuals	1422 (29.3)	-3.90	-2.29	1.11	0.89 - 1.39	0.3

Supplementary Table 7. Percentage of underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obese participants for each method of adjusting for low muscle mass using the 20th percentile cut offs

		Males			
Body mass index		Number of particip	oants in body mass i	ndex category (%)	
	ALM/height	ALM/weight	ALM/BMI	ALM Residuals	All participants
Underweight (<18.5kg/m2)	13 (1.3)	0 (0)	0 (0)	12 (1.2)	14 (0.3)
Normal weight (18.5 - 24.9 kg/m2)	628 (62.4)	44 (4.4)	79 (7.8)	401 (39.7)	1218 (23.7)
Overweight (25.0 - 29.9kg/m2)	334 (33.2)	255 (25.5)	401 (39.8)	437 (43.3)	2558 (49.7)
Obese (≥30kg/m2)	32 (3.2)	600 (60.1)	528 (52.4)	159 (15.8)	1357 (26.4)
		Females			
		Number of particip	oants in body mass i	ndex category (%)	
Body mass index	ALM/height	ALM/weight	ALM/BMI	ALM Residuals	All participants
Underweight (<18.5kg/m2)	54 (5.6)	0 (0)	0 (0)	17 (1.8)	63 (1.3)
Normal weight (18.5 - 24.9 kg/m2)	731 (75.2)	58 (6.0)	97 (10.1)	386 (39.8)	1563 (32.2)
Overweight (25.0 - 29.9kg/m2)	178 (18.3)	281 (29.2)	303 (31.5)	370 (38.2)	1820 (37.4)
Obese (≥30kg/m2)	9 (0.9)	624 (64.8)	561 (58.4)	196 (20.2)	1415 (29.1)

		Sa	rcopenia	a No	Sa	rcopenia	ı yes	1 or mo	re falls	2 or mor	e falls
		0 Falls	1 Fall	2+ Falls	0 Falls	1 Fall	2+ Falls	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity S	pecificity
	ALM/height	4219	339	90	440	42	17	0.12	0.91	0.03	0.98
Muscle mass only	ALM/weight	4227	325	92	432	56	15	0.14	0.91	0.03	0.98
(10th percentile)	ALM/BMI	4228	332	87	431	49	20	0.14	0.91	0.04	0.98
	ALM regression	4226	327	90	433	54	17	0.14	0.91	0.03	0.98
	ALM/height	3762	298	80	897	83	27	0.11	0.91	0.03	0.98
Muscle mass only	ALM/weight	3799	270	79	860	111	28	0.14	0.92	0.03	0.98
(20th percentile)	ALM/BMI	3774	292	73	885	89	34	0.12	0.91	0.03	0.98
	ALM regression	3774	284	80	885	97	27	0.12	0.91	0.03	0.98
	ALM/height	2847	214	53	1812	167	54	0.11	0.91	0.03	0.98
Muscle mass only	ALM/weight	2868	203	54	1791	178	53	0.11	0.92	0.03	0.98
(40th percentile)	ALM/BMI	2867	212	48	1792	169	59	0.11	0.92	0.03	0.98
	ALM regression	2863	210	55	1796	171	52	0.11	0.92	0.03	0.98
	30kg	4100	314	78	559	67	29	0.15	0.91	0.04	0.98
Grip strength	26kg	4452	349	93	207	32	14	0.18	0.91	0.06	0.98
	27kg	4395	338	92	264	43	15	0.18	0.91	0.05	0.98
Coit mood	1.0 mps	3669	279	63	990	102	44	0.13	0.91	0.04	0.98
Gait speed	0.80 mps	1647	132	28	3012	249	79	0.10	0.91	0.02	0.98
10th percentile -	ALM/height	4543	364	101	116	17	6	0.17	0.91	0.04	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4551	363	102	108	18	5	0.18	0.91	0.04	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4520	363	96	139	18	11	0.17	0.91	0.07	0.98
(30kg)	ALM regression	4558	364	101	101	17	6	0.19	0.91	0.05	0.98
10th percentile -	ALM/height	4610	373	104	49	8	3	0.18	0.91	0.05	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4609	370	104	50	11	3	0.22	0.91	0.05	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4597	371	99	62	10	8	0.23	0.91	0.10	0.98
(26kg)	ALM regression	4610	372	104	49	9	3	0.20	0.91	0.05	0.98

Supplementary Table 8. Number of male participants with zero, one, or two or more falls stratified by sarcopenia status

10th percentile -	ALM/height	4600	368	103	59	13	4	0.22	0.91	0.05	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4600	367	104	59	14	3	0.22	0.91	0.04	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4589	367	99	70	14	8	0.24	0.91	0.09	0.98
(27kg)	ALM regression	4600	368	104	59	13	3	0.21	0.91	0.04	0.98
	ALM/height	4535	368	100	124	13	7	0.14	0.91	0.05	0.98
10th percentile -	ALM/weight	4497	355	101	162	26	6	0.16	0.91	0.03	0.98
Muscle mass and gait speed (0.8m/s)	ALM/BMI	4481	363	98	178	18	9	0.13	0.91	0.04	0.98
gant speed (0.011/3)	ALM regression	4526	361	99	133	20	8	0.17	0.91	0.05	0.98
	ALM/height	4349	348	95	310	33	12	0.13	0.91	0.03	0.98
10th percentile -	ALM/weight	4310	335	95	349	46	12	0.14	0.91	0.03	0.98
Muscle mass and gait speed (1.0m/s)	ALM/BMI	4309	342	91	350	39	16	0.14	0.91	0.04	0.98
gan speed (1.011/s)	ALM regression	4345	339	94	314	42	13	0.15	0.91	0.04	0.98
20th percentile -	ALM/height	4451	356	97	208	25	10	0.14	0.91	0.04	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4474	352	97	185	29	10	0.17	0.91	0.04	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4424	348	90	235	33	17	0.18	0.91	0.06	0.98
(30kg)	ALM regression	4479	352	98	180	29	9	0.17	0.91	0.04	0.98
20th percentile -	ALM/height	4570	369	102	89	12	5	0.16	0.91	0.05	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4579	365	99	80	16	8	0.23	0.91	0.08	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4566	363	96	93	18	11	0.24	0.91	0.09	0.98
(26kg)	ALM regression	4585	365	102	74	16	5	0.22	0.91	0.05	0.98
20th percentile -	ALM/height	4553	364	101	106	17	6	0.18	0.91	0.05	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4564	360	99	95	21	8	0.23	0.91	0.06	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4547	357	96	112	24	11	0.24	0.91	0.07	0.98
(27kg)	ALM regression	4566	360	102	93	21	5	0.22	0.91	0.04	0.98
	ALM/height	4435	357	97	224	24	10	0.13	0.91	0.04	0.98
20th percentile - Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4369	340	94	290	41	13	0.15	0.91	0.04	0.98
gait speed (0.8m/s)	ALM/BMI	4349	352	89	310	29	18	0.13	0.91	0.05	0.98
Sur speed (0.011/8)	ALM regression	4426	351	96	233	30	11	0.15	0.91	0.04	0.98

20th percentile - Muscle mass and gait speed (1.0m/s)	ALM/height	4045	320	88	614	61	19	0.11	0.91	0.03	0.98
	ALM/weight	4008	294	85	651	87	22	0.14	0.91	0.03	0.98
	ALM/BMI	3971	310	77	688	71	30	0.13	0.91	0.04	0.98
	ALM regression	4028	307	89	631	74	18	0.13	0.91	0.02	0.98
40th percentile -	ALM/height	4333	338	86	326	43	21	0.16	0.91	0.05	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4343	337	88	316	44	19	0.17	0.91	0.05	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4302	334	85	357	47	22	0.16	0.91	0.05	0.98
(30kg)	ALM regression	4342	334	89	317	47	18	0.17	0.91	0.05	0.98
40th percentile -	ALM/height	4525	362	96	134	19	11	0.18	0.91	0.07	0.98
Muscle mass and grip strength (26kg)	ALM/weight	4539	360	95	120	21	12	0.22	0.91	0.08	0.98
	ALM/BMI	4520	357	95	139	24	12	0.21	0.91	0.07	0.98
	ALM regression	4538	358	96	121	23	11	0.22	0.91	0.07	0.98
40th percentile -	ALM/height	4493	354	95	166	27	12	0.19	0.91	0.06	0.98
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4507	351	95	152	30	12	0.22	0.91	0.06	0.98
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4483	348	95	176	33	12	0.20	0.91	0.05	0.98
(27kg)	ALM regression	4508	350	95	151	31	12	0.22	0.91	0.06	0.98
	ALM/height	4236	336	86	423	45	21	0.13	0.91	0.04	0.98
40th percentile -	ALM/weight	4148	324	80	511	57	27	0.14	0.91	0.05	0.98
Muscle mass and gait speed (0.8m/s)	ALM/BMI	4140	326	77	519	55	30	0.14	0.91	0.05	0.98
	ALM regression	4207	328	84	452	53	23	0.14	0.91	0.04	0.98
40th percentile - Muscle mass and gait speed (1.0m/s)	ALM/height	3464	260	65	1195	121	42	0.12	0.92	0.03	0.98
	ALM/weight	3368	250	64	1291	131	43	0.12	0.92	0.03	0.98
	ALM/BMI	3342	253	58	1317	128	49	0.12	0.92	0.03	0.98
	ALM regression	3429	252	65	1230	129	42	0.12	0.92	0.03	0.98

		Sarcopenia No			Sarcopenia yes			1 or mo	ore falls	2 or more falls	
		0 Falls	1 Fall	2+ Falls	0 Falls	1 Fall	2+ Falls	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity
Muscle mass only	ALM/height	3814	430	133	417	49	18	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
	ALM/weight	3815	433	129	416	46	22	0.14	0.87	0.05	0.97
(10th percentile)	ALM/BMI	3820	434	132	411	45	19	0.13	0.87	0.04	0.97
	ALM regression	3805	435	131	426	44	20	0.13	0.87	0.04	0.97
	ALM/height	3393	380	116	838	99	35	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
Muscle mass only	ALM/weight	3396	392	110	835	87	41	0.13	0.87	0.04	0.97
(20th percentile)	ALM/BMI	3407	387	106	824	92	45	0.14	0.87	0.05	0.97
	ALM regression	3395	383	114	836	96	37	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
	ALM/height	2545	283	85	1686	196	66	0.13	0.87	0.03	0.97
Muscle mass only	ALM/weight	2553	287	84	1678	192	67	0.13	0.87	0.03	0.97
(40th percentile)	ALM/BMI	2569	284	78	1662	195	73	0.14	0.88	0.04	0.97
	ALM regression	2557	272	85	1674	207	66	0.14	0.88	0.03	0.97
Grip strength	20kg	3266	362	108	965	117	43	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
Grip strength	16kg	3941	441	141	290	38	10	0.14	0.87	0.03	0.97
Gait speed	1.0 mps	3045	325	77	1186	154	74	0.16	0.88	0.05	0.98
Gait speed	0.80 mps	1228	127	32	3003	352	119	0.14	0.89	0.03	0.98
10th percentile -	ALM/height	4077	463	145	154	16	6	0.12	0.87	0.03	0.97
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4078	466	144	153	13	7	0.12	0.87	0.04	0.97
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4046	465	145	185	14	6	0.10	0.87	0.03	0.97
(20kg)	ALM regression	4087	468	142	144	11	9	0.12	0.87	0.05	0.97
10th percentile -	ALM/height	4180	473	149	51	6	2	0.12	0.87	0.03	0.97
Muscle mass and grip strength (16kg)	ALM/weight	4183	475	150	48	4	1	0.09	0.87	0.02	0.97
	ALM/BMI	4166	472	149	65	7	2	0.12	0.87	0.03	0.97
	ALM regression	4192	476	150	39	3	1	0.09	0.87	0.02	0.97
	ALM/height	4180	473	149	51	6	2	0.12	0.87	0.03	0.97

Supplementary Table 9. Number of female participants with zero, one, or two or more falls stratified by sarcopen	iia status
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------

10th percentile -	ALM/weight	4183	475	150	48	4	1	0.09	0.87	0.02	0.97
Muscle mass and grip strength (16kg)	ALM/BMI	4166	472	149	65	7	2	0.12	0.87	0.03	0.97
	ALM regression	4192	476	150	39	3	1	0.09	0.87	0.02	0.97
	ALM/height	4118	469	139	113	10	12	0.16	0.87	0.09	0.97
10th percentile - Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4039	457	136	192	22	15	0.16	0.87	0.07	0.97
gait speed (0.8m/s)	ALM/BMI	4033	458	140	198	21	11	0.14	0.87	0.05	0.97
gait speed (0.011/3)	ALM regression	4094	463	135	137	16	16	0.18	0.87	0.10	0.97
	ALM/height	3937	445	135	294	34	16	0.14	0.87	0.05	0.97
10th percentile - Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	3882	438	132	349	41	19	0.14	0.87	0.05	0.97
gait speed (1.0m/s)	ALM/BMI	3878	442	135	353	37	16	0.13	0.87	0.04	0.97
gait speed (1.011/3)	ALM regression	3899	445	132	332	34	19	0.14	0.87	0.05	0.97
20th percentile -	ALM/height	3939	444	138	292	35	13	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	3968	456	141	263	23	10	0.11	0.87	0.03	0.97
grip strength	ALM/BMI	3913	444	138	318	35	13	0.13	0.87	0.04	0.97
(20kg)	ALM regression	3983	449	138	248	30	13	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
20th percentile -	ALM/height	4132	464	148	99	15	3	0.15	0.87	0.03	0.97
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4157	471	150	74	8	1	0.11	0.87	0.01	0.97
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4122	466	147	109	13	4	0.13	0.87	0.03	0.97
(16kg)	ALM regression	4155	470	148	76	9	3	0.13	0.87	0.03	0.97
	ALM/height	4013	452	132	218	27	19	0.17	0.87	0.07	0.97
20th percentile -	ALM/weight	3881	445	124	350	34	27	0.15	0.87	0.07	0.97
Muscle mass and gait speed (0.8m/s)	ALM/BMI	3901	440	124	330	39	27	0.16	0.87	0.07	0.97
gait speed (0.011/3)	ALM regression	3983	447	127	248	32	24	0.18	0.87	0.08	0.97
	ALM/height	3642	409	121	589	70	30	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
20th percentile - Muscle mass and gait speed (1.0m/s)	ALM/weight	3538	407	116	693	72	35	0.13	0.87	0.04	0.97
	ALM/BMI	3562	403	112	669	76	39	0.15	0.87	0.05	0.97
	ALM regression	3612	406	121	619	73	30	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
	ALM/height	3752	415	129	479	64	22	0.15	0.87	0.04	0.97

40th percentile -	ALM/weight	3762	426	129	469	53	22	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
Muscle mass and grip strength	ALM/BMI	3677	414	126	554	65	25	0.14	0.87	0.04	0.97
(20kg)	ALM regression	3768	419	129	463	60	22	0.15	0.87	0.04	0.97
40th percentile -	ALM/height	4079	452	144	152	27	7	0.18	0.87	0.04	0.97
Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	4098	462	147	133	17	4	0.13	0.87	0.03	0.97
grip strength	ALM/BMI	4055	455	147	176	24	4	0.13	0.87	0.02	0.97
(16kg)	ALM regression	4093	457	144	138	22	7	0.17	0.87	0.04	0.97
	ALM/height	3825	419	119	406	60	32	0.18	0.88	0.06	0.97
40th percentile - Muscle mass and	ALM/weight	3605	406	109	626	73	42	0.15	0.88	0.06	0.97
gait speed (0.8m/s)	ALM/BMI	3609	401	105	622	78	46	0.16	0.88	0.06	0.97
Sait speed (0.011/3)	ALM regression	3749	411	112	482	68	39	0.18	0.88	0.07	0.97
	ALM/height	3100	339	101	1131	140	50	0.14	0.88	0.04	0.97
40th percentile - Muscle mass and gait speed (1.0m/s)	ALM/weight	2903	324	92	1328	155	59	0.14	0.88	0.04	0.97
	ALM/BMI	2924	318	88	1307	161	63	0.15	0.88	0.04	0.97
	ALM regression	3017	324	96	1214	155	55	0.15	0.88	0.04	0.97

# Chapter 5: Age stratification using the residual adjustment technique for muscle mass

This chapter has been submitted to *Gerontology*. Alexandra Mayhew was responsible for developing the research question and study protocols, applying for data, analyzing data, writing and revising the drafts of the manuscripts. The work is primarily the undertaking of Alexandra Mayhew with guidance from Drs. Parminder Raina and Stuart Phillips throughout the project. Dr. Nazmul Sohel assisted with coding for the data analyses. Thesis committee members, Drs. Russell de Souza, Paul McNicholas, Gianni Parise, and Lehana Thabane provided feedback throughout the project. As an author generated version of a submitted manuscript, no copyright license documentation is required.

#### **Context and background**

In **Chapter 3**, the proportion of sarcopenic participants according to different sarcopenia definitions was assessed for four age groups, 45 to 54, 55 to 64, 65 to 74, and 75 to 85 years. To develop the cut offs for low muscle mass, the sample was restricted to participants aged 65 years and older and the lowest sex-specific 10th, 20th, and 40th percentile values were determined. These cut offs were then applied to each age and sex strata. For muscle mass adjusted by height, weight, and body mass index, the proportion of participants with low muscle mass was approximately equal. For the residual adjustment technique which involves regressing appendicular lean mass on fat mass and height, the proportion of participants with low muscle mass was similar to the other adjustment techniques pooled across all age groups. However, the proportion of participants with low muscle mass was highest in the younger participants and lowest in the oldest participants which was contrary to what was expected. Based on these findings, further analyses were conducted stratifying for age before versus after the residual values were calculated for the purpose of developing the low muscle mass cut offs and for subgroup analyses.

The analyses showed that calculating the residuals in the whole sample before stratifying by age for the cut offs or subgroup analyses resulted in a similar proportion of participants having low muscle mass compared to the other muscle mass adjustment techniques for each age and sex strata. This method of handling age stratification was used for the analyses included in **Chapter 3** and there was not sufficient space for discussion of why the alternative strategies for handling age stratification were inappropriate. Furthermore, there was no guidance available in the literature regarding stratification for age or any other variable using the regression technique for adjusting muscle mass. Therefore, the purpose

Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

of this paper was to discuss the methodological challenges of age stratification when using the residual adjustment technique for muscle mass and justify the method selected in **Chapter 3**.

# Chapter 5: Age stratification using the residual adjustment technique for muscle mass

**Title:** Methodological issues and the impact of age stratification on the proportion of participants with low muscle mass when adjusting for height and fat mass using linear regression in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

**Authors:** Alexandra J Mayhew ^{1,2,3}, Stuart M Phillips ⁴, Nazmul Sohel ^{1,2,3}, Lehana Thabane ^{1,5}, Paul D McNicholas ⁶, Russell J de Souza ^{1,7}, Gianni Parise ⁴, Parminder Raina 1,2,3

Affiliations: 1. Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 2. Labarge Centre for Mobility in Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 3. McMaster Institute for Research on Aging, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 4. Department of Kinesiology, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 5. Department of Mathematics & Statistics, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 6. Population Genomics Program, Chanchlani Research Centre, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, 7. Biostatistics Unit, Research Institute at St Joes, St. Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton, 50 Charlton Avenue E, Hamilton, ON, L8N 4A6, Canada.

#### Abstract

**Background:** Regressing appendicular lean muscle mass (ALM) on fat mass and height is one of several suggested strategies for adjusting ALM for body size. However, special consideration is required when using this technique in different subgroups in order to capture the correct individuals as sarcopenic.

**Objectives:** To provide guidance about how to conduct stratified analyses for the regression adjustment technique using age groups as an example.

**Methods:** Using baseline data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging, sexspecific residuals were calculated in participants before and after stratifying participants by age group (45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75-85 years). Cut offs corresponding to the 20th percentile sex-specific residual values in participants  $\geq$ 65 years were determined first in the residuals calculated in all participants and residuals calculated in only those aged  $\geq$ 65 years. For each set of cut offs, the percentage of age and sex-stratified participants with low muscle mass were compared for the residuals calculated in all participants and the residuals calculated after stratifying by age.

**Results:** In 12,622 males and 12,737 females, regardless of the cut off used, the percentage of participants with low muscle mass decreased with age when residuals were calculated after age stratification. When the residuals were calculated in all participants, the percentage of participants with sarcopenia increased from the youngest to the oldest age groups.

Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

**Conclusions:** Sex-specific residuals in all participants should be calculated prior to stratifying the sample by age group for the purposes of developing muscle mass cut offs or subgroup analyses.

#### Background

Sarcopenia refers to the decline in muscle mass, muscle strength, and muscle function that occurs with age. ¹ It is associated with an increased risk of falls and fractures, an inability to perform activities of daily living, and mortality. ^{2–5} Given the profound costs of sarcopenia to individuals as well as society, there has been substantial interest in finding ways to prevent and treat sarcopenia. However, the field of sarcopenia research has been hindered by the lack of a clear definition and standardized diagnostic criteria. ⁶

Since 2010, four expert group consensus definitions on sarcopenia have been released. ^{6–10} All the definitions consider sarcopenia the combination of low muscle mass with either low muscle strength or impaired physical performance. There is a consensus among the definitions that muscle mass should be adjusted for body size due to the strong correlation between these variables, however there is little agreement about which measure of body size should be utilized. ^{6,11} Four techniques are recommended; dividing by height squared, body mass, body mass index (BMI), and regressing muscle mass on height and fat mass. ^{6–10} Of these methods, regressing muscle mass on height and fat mass has the greatest face validity as it simultaneously adjusts for height and fat mass. ¹² Though BMI includes height and body mass, it is considered a crude measure of body composition as it is unable to differentiate between lean mass and fat mass. ¹³ Despite having the greatest face validity, the regression adjustment technique is not commonly used which may be related to the challenges of using the technique. ¹⁴

Adjusting muscle mass by height, weight, or BMI can be done at the individual level and values are not influenced by other participants. Therefore, the adjusted values refer to the

194

same amount of muscle mass relative to the anthropometric measure adjusted for regardless of the person or sample. Consequently, cut points validated in one sample can be appropriately used in another comparable sample. In contrast, the regression adjustment technique involves creating a regression model (appendicular lean mass (ALM) = intercept + height  $(m^2)$  + fat mass (kg) in a sample of people. The residual value calculated as the actual ALM value minus the model-estimated ALM value is then used to determine if a person has low muscle mass. The residual value for each person is dependent on the regression equation which in turn is dependent on the distribution of the variables in the sample. As a result, even if low muscle cut points are developed in a random, populationbased sample, they cannot be appropriately applied to another population unless the two samples have identical joint distributions of ALM, fat mass, and height. Due to the unavailability of cut points, studies that have investigated sarcopenia using the regression adjustment technique considered the lowest quintile of sex-specific residual values as sarcopenic. ^{15–21} However, a consequence of using the lowest quintile is that sarcopenia prevalence is the same (20%) for all studies, regardless of age, which is problematic for a condition for which the prevalence increases with age.

In order to evaluate how the regression technique identifies those with clinically relevant low muscle mass compared to the other muscle mass adjustment techniques, better understanding of how to use the regression adjustment technique is required. We aimed to provide the necessary guidance for how to handle age stratification when using the regression technique to adjust muscle mass.
#### Methods

Setting and study population - We used data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA), a national longitudinal research platform. There were 51,338 participants aged 45 to 85 years recruited from the ten Canadian provinces at baseline. Participants had to be physically and cognitively able to participate on their own as well as not living in institutions such as long term care to be eligible for the study. The participants were recruited in to one of two cohorts, the Tracking cohort and the Comprehensive cohort. Participants from all 10 provinces were randomly selected for the Tracking cohort (n=21,241) and were interviewed by telephone. The Comprehensive cohort participants (n=30,097) lived within 25-50km of one of 11 Data Collection Sites located in seven provinces. The Comprehensive cohort participants were interviewed in-person and also completed in-depth physical assessments and provided blood and urine samples. Details on the study design have been described elsewhere. ²² Only participants from the Comprehensive cohort (n=30,097) were included in these analyses as the physical assessment data was required. The sample was further limited to those identifying as European as muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical function have shown to vary by ethnicity. ^{23–25} This project uses data collected during baseline (September 2011 to May 2015).

*Clinical measurements* - Trained research assistants collected data on height, weight, and muscle mass. Height was measured twice using a stadiometer and the mean value of the two measurements was used in the analyses. Weight was measured in light clothing using a digital scale. BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height squared. Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) was used to measure muscle mass. The Hologic

Discovery ATM DXA machine was calibrated daily using a spine phantom, weekly using a whole body step phantom, and yearly using a gold standard phantom. DXA provides a valid measure of ALM when compared to the gold standards of computerized tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans. ²⁶

*Operationalizing low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass* - All analyses were stratified by sex. To identify participants as having low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass, individual residual values of ALM regressed on height and fat mass must be available for each participant as well as a cut point that categorizes participants as having low ALM relative to their height and fat mass. We explored the impact of stratifying the sample by age for the 1) individual residual values and 2) the cut points.

For the individual residual values, multiple linear regression was used to calculate the residual value for each participant. The model included ALM as the outcome variable and fat mass (kg) and height (m) as the predictor variables. The first set of models included all participants without age stratification. The second model stratified participants by age (45 to 54, 55 to 64, 65 to 74, and 75 to 85 years) before calculating the residuals.

For the muscle mass cut points, the original EWGSOP guidelines recommend that the lowest 20th percentile of residual values be used to identify people with low muscle mass. ⁷ In order to be consistent with the literature in which muscle mass cut points are typically developed in those with a minimum age of between 60 and 70 years ⁷, cut points were determined in participants aged 65 years and older. The first set of models calculated in the residuals in all participants without age stratification. After calculating the residuals, the sample was then limited to those aged 65 years and older and the 20th percentile residual

values were determined to be the cut points. The second set of models calculated the residuals in only participants aged 65 years and older. The residual values corresponding to the 20th percentile residual values were determined to be the cut points.

The cut-points using the non-age stratified residuals and the residuals calculated in just participants aged 65 years and older were applied to the residuals calculated in the whole sample and the age-stratified residual residuals. Therefore, there were four different strategies used to identify participants with low muscle mass relative to their height and fat mass (**Table 1**).

Muscle mass adjusted for height² (meters), weight (kilograms), and body mass index (BMI, kilograms/meters² was assessed by dividing ALM by each of the measures. Participants were considered to have low muscle mass if their adjusted value was below the sex-specific 20th percentile in participants aged 65 years and older.

*Statistical anaylses* - Of the 30,097 participants at baseline, 1324 were excluded as they were non-European, 3356 were excluded for missing muscle mass, grip strength, gait speed, or BMI data resulting in a final sample size of 25,399 participants. All statistical analyses were completed using SAS (version 12.3).

The percentage of age and sex-stratified participants categorized as having low muscle mass by each of the four strategies for handling age-stratification for the development of cut points and individual residual values were determined. Bootstrap percentile confidence intervals were calculated for each estimate. This technique involves resampling with replacement and calculating the proportion of participants with sarcopenia for each resample. ²⁷ We resampled 10,000 times and identified the values corresponding to the 2.5th

198

and 97.5th percentiles of the 10,000 resamples in order to estimate the 95% confidence interval. This technique has the advantage of only including valid values of parameter estimates in the confidence interval. ²⁷

#### Results

*Participant characteristics* - Table 2 displays the characteristics of the included participants by age group (younger than 65 years and 65 years and older) and sex. The mean age of the participants was  $62.8 \pm 10.2$  years and 49.9% of the sample were males. Younger males and females had greater ALM ( $28.8 \text{kg} \pm 4.4$  and  $19.0 \text{kg} \pm 3.5$ ), grip strength ( $47.3 \text{kg} \pm 9.1$  and  $28.6 \text{kg} \pm 5.6$ ), and gait speed ( $1.03 \text{m/s} \pm 0.18$  and  $1.02 \text{m/s} \pm 0.19$ ) compared to older males and females (ALM:  $25.9 \text{kg} \pm 3.8$  and  $17.4 \text{kg} \pm 3.0$ , grip strength:  $39.4 \text{kg} \pm 8.5$  and  $23.6 \text{kg} \pm 5.2$ , and gait speed:  $0.94 \text{m/s} \pm 0.19$  and  $0.90 \text{m/s} \pm 0.19$ ).

**Distribution of residuals** - For males and females, the overall distribution of the residual values was calculated in all participants versus calculating the residuals in age-stratified groups. In males, the mean for all participants was 0 with a standard deviation of 3.22, while the mean of the residuals for all age-stratified residuals pooled together was 0 with a standard deviation of 3.00. The same values were  $0 \pm 2.22$  and  $0 \pm 2.13$  in females. However, the distribution of the data within each age group was markedly different (**Figures 1 through 4**). In both males and females, when the residuals were calculated after stratifying the sample by age, the residuals of each age group had a mean of 0. In contrast, when the residuals were calculated in the whole sample, there was a gradient of mean values when stratified by age group. The mean residual value for males 45 to 54 years was 1.36

and for females was 0.89 which decreased to -1.93 in males and -0.68 in females aged 75 to 85 years.

*Muscle mass cut point estimates* - When the sex-specific linear regression models were run in participants of all ages and the residual values were then limited to participants aged 65 years and older, the lowest 20th percentile corresponded to -1.61 for males and -2.20 for females. When the sex-specific linear regression models were limited to only participants aged 65 years and older and those residual values were used to determine the lowest 20th percentile, the values corresponded to -2.40 for males and -3.61 for females.

Low muscle mass prevalence - The lower cut points determined using the non-age stratified residual values of -3.61 for males and -2.20 for females identified fewer participants as having low muscle mass compared to the age-stratified residual values of -2.40 for males and -2.20 for females (**Figure 5**). Using the non-age stratified residual cut points, the prevalence of low muscle mass was 12.4% for males and 10.3% for females when the individual residuals were not age stratified (**Strategy 1**) and 14.6% for males and 13.6% for females when the individual residuals were age stratified (**Strategy 3**). In contrast, when using the cut points developed using residual values calculated in only participants aged 65 years and older, 22.4% of males and 23.1% of females were identified as having low muscle mass when the non-age stratified residual values (**Strategy 2**) and 20.5% of males and 21.8% of females were identified as having low muscle mass when the age-stratified values were used (**Strategy 4**). The percentage of participants with low muscle mass after adjustment for height², weight, and BMI was between 13.0% and 13.8% in males and 13.0% and 15.3% in females (**Table 3**).

When looking at the percentage of people with low muscle mass within each age group, the percentage of males and females with low muscle mass increased with age when the individual residuals were not age-stratified, regardless of the cut points used (**Strategy 1** and **Strategy 2**). In contrast, the percentage of males and females with low muscle mass decreased with age when the age-stratified residuals were used (**Strategy 3** and **Strategy 4**).

#### Discussion

This study is, to the best of our knowledge, the first to investigate the implications of age stratification when determining muscle mass cut points and in calculating residual values for a sample using linear regression to adjust ALM for height and fat mass. We found that the most appropriate method of handling age stratification was to calculate the residuals in the whole sample, then stratify the residuals by age to determine cut points and to conduct analyses by age group (**Strategy 1**). Using this message, the percentage of participants with low muscle mass were within approximately 2% of the estimates when ALM was adjusted for height², weight, or BMI for each age and sex strata (**Table 3**).

Stratifying the sample by age prior to calculating residuals for the purpose of subgroup analyses based on age or for developing cut points proved problematic. When the sample was stratified by age before calculating the residuals (**Strategy 3** and **Strategy 4**), the percentage of participants with low muscle mass decreased from the youngest to the oldest age groups (**Table 3**). Muscle mass values are expected to decrease with age indicating that this technique is not appropriate. ¹ When cut points were based off of residuals calculated in participants aged 65 years and older versus the residuals calculated in the whole sample

(**Strategy 2** and **Strategy 4**), the overall prevalence of sarcopenia was higher than expected with over 30% of males and females aged 65 years and older having low muscle mass. In comparison, previous studies have found that between 14.1% and 33.2% of community-dwelling adults aged 65 years and older have low muscle mass. ^{15,16,18,21,28–30} Based on these observations, participants should not be stratified by age prior to calculating residuals regardless of if the purpose of age stratification is for subgroup analyses or developing low muscle mass cut points.

Stratifying by age before calculating the residuals was problematic because of how residuals are calculated. The maximum likelihood estimation technique used in linear regression to calculate the residuals requires that the sum of the residuals for the sample to equal zero. When the sample was stratified by age, the mean value of the residuals for each age group was zero. However, the standard deviation decreased with age (**Figures 1 through 4**). The greater the standard deviation for the age group, the more participants were below the low muscle mass cut off and therefore the higher the percentage of people with low muscle mass. Similarly, when the sample was limited to participants aged 65 years and older before calculating the residuals, the mean residual value was zero. When the data from all participants was used to calculate the residuals, the mean values were -1.17 for males and -0.56 for females as these participants had lower predicted lean mass compared to the younger participants. This resulted in more extreme values for the 20th percentile and the greater percentage of participants with low muscle mass.

The problems we encountered stratifying our sample by age before calculating the residuals extend to any situation in which residuals calculated in one sample are combined or applied to another sample. Residual values are sample dependent and therefore unless two groups

202

#### Ph.D. Thesis - A. Mayhew; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

of participants have identical joint distributions of ALM, height, and fat mass, the residuals from one study will not identify people with the same amount of ALM relative to height and fat mass. This means that cut points for the residual technique, even if developed in a population-based random sample with cut points validated against relevant health outcomes, cannot be meaningfully applied to another sample. Another problem with the residual adjustment technique is that it requires a sample of people in order to run a regression model and calculate residuals which is not practical for clinical settings.

To our knowledge, only one study has assessed the relationship between low muscle mass operationalized using the residual adjustment technique with health. ^{12,31} Cawthon et al. observed that low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass was significantly associated with risk of functional limitations and mortality, but not recurrent falls or hip fractures. ¹² Studies operationalizing sarcopenia as low muscle mass only often do not find significant associations with health, therefore the associations found with functional limitations and mortality are particularly notable. ^{12,32,33} Given this evidence as well as the strong face validity for adjusting ALM simultaneously for height and fat mass, future studies are required to determine if adjusting ALM for height and fat mass, alone and in combination with muscle strength or function, better identifies people at poor risk for health compared to the other adjustment techniques.

To resolve the issue of the residual adjustment technique requiring a sample of people for the regression model and the lack of comparability of residual values between studies, prediction equations, similar to those that have been used for lung function can be developed. ³⁴ A sample of healthy older adults could be used to create sex-specific prediction equations for ALM based on height and fat mass. Variables such as age and ethnicity could be explored for inclusion in the equation. To use the prediction equations in clinical or research settings, ALM would be measured using DXA for an individual. The prediction equation would be used to determine the predicted ALM based on height and fat mass. Subtracting their predicted ALM from actual ALM provides the residual value. Then, this residual value could be compared to a pre-determined cut point to categorize the person as having low or normal muscle mass relative to their height and fat mass. Ideally, cut points for the low muscle mass residuals would be determined by assessing which cut points best predict health outcomes relevant to sarcopenia. In the absence of clinically relevant cut points, the residual value corresponding to the desired percentage of healthy older adults being considered to have low muscle mass relative to height and fat mass could be used.

#### Conclusions

There is a general consensus amongst sarcopenia researchers that muscle mass should be adjusted for at least one other anthropometric measure, but there is no agreement about which measure should be used. Of the suggested options, using linear regression to adjust ALM simultaneously for height and fat mass has the greatest face validity. However, this technique is rarely used, likely due to the lack of comparability of residual values between different samples making standard cut points for low muscle mass unavailable and leading to challenges in handling age-stratification within a sample. Given the high face validity of the regression adjustment technique, more research is needed to understand how this technique compares to adjusting for height, weight, or BMI. One of the barriers to studies using the regression adjustment technique is the lack of guidance on how to handle age-stratification. In our analyses, we explored multiple techniques of handling age-

stratification and determined that the best method of handling age stratification was to run linear regression models in participants of all ages and then stratify the residual values by age to determine appropriate low muscle mass cut points or to conduct subgroup analyses.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was made possible using the data/biospecimens collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Funding for the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) is provided by the Government of Canada through the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) under grant reference: LSA 94473 and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. This research has been conducted using the CLSA dataset, Baseline Comprehensive Dataset version 4.0, under Application Number 160608. The CLSA is led by Drs. Parminder Raina, Christina Wolfson and Susan Kirkland. The opinions expressed in this manuscript are the author's own and do not reflect the views of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging.

#### References

- Rosenberg IH. Sarcopenia: origins and clinical relevance. J Nutr. 1997;127(5 Suppl):990S-911S.
- Kim JH, Lim S, Choi SH, Kim KM, Yoon JW, Kim KW, et al. Sarcopenia: an independent predictor of mortality in community-dwelling older Korean men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014;69(10):1244–52.
- Landi F, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Liperoti R, Russo A, Giovannini S, Tosato M, et al. Sarcopenia and mortality risk in frail older persons aged 80 years and older: results from ilSIRENTE study. Age Ageing. 2013;42(2):203–9.
- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairement and physical disability. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2002;50(5):889–96.
- Yeung SSY, Reijnierse EM, Pham VK, Trappenburg MC, Lim WK, Carel GM, et al. Sarcopenia and its association with falls and fractures in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2019;10(3):485–500.
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Bruyere O, Cederholm T, et al.
   Sarcopenia: Revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing. 2019;48:16–31.
- 7. Cruz-Jentoft A, Baeyens J, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al.

Ph.D. Thesis - A. Mayhew; McMaster University - Health Research Methodology

Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age Ageing. 2010;39(4):412–23.

- Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, Cawthon PM, McLean RR, Harris TB, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. Journals Gerontol Med Sci. 2014;69(5):547–58.
- 9. Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, Bhasin S, E MJ, Newman AB, et al. Sarcopenia: An undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: Prevalence, etiology, and conseuqences. International Work Group on Sarcopenia. Am Med Dir Assoc. 2011;12(4):249–56.
- Chen L-K, Liu L-K, Woo J, Assantachai P, Auyeung T-W, Bahyah KS, et al.
   Sarcopenia in Asia: consensus report of the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia.
   J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2014;15(2):95–101.
- Gallagher D, Visser M, De Meersman RE, Sepúlveda D, Baumgartner RN, Pierson RN, et al. Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: effects of age, gender, and ethnicity. J Appl Physiol. 2017;83(1):229–39.
- Cawthon PM, Blackwell TL, Francisco S, Cauley J, Lee CG, Mc A, et al. An evaluation of the usefulness of consensus definitions of sarcopenia in older men: results from the observational Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) cohort study. J Am Diet Assoc. 2016;63(11):2247–59.

207

- Stevens J, Mcclain JE, Truesdale KP. Selection of measures in epidemiologic studies of the consequences of obesity. Int J Obes. 2008;21:60–6.
- 14. Mayhew A, Amog K, Phillips S, Parise G, McNicholas P, de Souza R, et al. The prevalence of sarcopenia in community- dwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: A systematic review and metaanalyses. Age Ageing. 2018;48:48–56.
- 15. Menant JC, Weber F, Lo J, Sturnieks DL, Close JC, Sachdev PS, et al. Strength measures are better than muscle mass measures in predicting health-related outcomes in older people: time to abandon the term sarcopenia? Osteoporos Int. 2016;1–12.
- 16. Delmonico MJ, Harris TB, Lee J-S, Visser M, Nevitt M, Kritchevsky SB, et al. Alternative definitions of sarcopenia, lower extremity performance, and functional impairment with aging in older men and women. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007 May;55(5):769–74.
- Newman AB, Kupelian V, Visser M, Simonsick E, Goodpaster B, Nevitt M, et al. Sarcopenia: Alternative Definitions and Associations with Lower Extremity Function. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51:1602–9.
- Figueiredo CP, Domiciano DS, Lopes JB, Caparbo VF, Scazufca M, Bonfá E, et al. Prevalence of sarcopenia and associated risk factors by two diagnostic criteria in community-dwelling older men: The São Paulo Ageing & Health Study (SPAH). Osteoporos Int. 2014;25(2):589–96.

- Domiciano DS, Figueiredo CP, Lopes JB, Caparbo VF, Takayama L, Menezes PR, et al. Discriminating sarcopenia in community-dwelling older women with high frequency of overweight/obesity: The São Paulo Ageing & Health Study (SPAH). Osteoporos Int. 2013;24(2):595–603.
- Chalhoub D, Cawthon PM, Ensrud KE, Stefanick ML, Kado DM, Boudreau R, et al. Risk of nonspine fractures in older adults with sarcopenia, low bone mass, or both. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;63(9):1733–40.
- Scott D, Chandrasekara SD, Laslett LL, Cicuttini F, Ebeling PR, Jones G. Associations of sarcopenic obesity and dynapenic obesity with bone mineral density and incident fractures over 5 - 10 years in community-dwelling older adults. Calcif Tissue Int. 2016;99(1):30–42.
- Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, Griffith LE, Oremus M, Patterson C, et al. Cohort profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Can J Aging. 2009;28(3):221–9.
- Capistrant BD, Glymour MM, Berkman LF. Assessing mobility difficulties for cross-national comparisons: Results from the WHO Study on AGEing and Adult Health. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;62(2):329–35.
- Leong DP, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, Lopez-jaramillo P, Jr AA, Orlandini A, et al. Prognostic value of grip strength: findings from the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study. Lancet. 2015;386(9990):266–73.
- 25. Silva AM, Shen W, Heo M, Gallagher D, Wang Z, Sardinha LB, et al. Ethnicity-

Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

related skeletal muscle differences across the lifespan. Am J Hum Biol. 2010;22(1):76–82.

- 26. Buckinx F, Landi F, Cesari M, Fielding RA, Visser M, Engelke K, et al. Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2018;9(2):269–78.
- 27. Carpenter J, Bithell J. Bootstrap confidence intervals: when, which, what? A practical guide for medical statisticians. Stat Med. 2000;19:1141–64.
- 28. Van Kan GA, Cesari M, Gillette-Guyonnet S, Dupuy C, Nourhashémi F, Schott AM, et al. Sarcopenia and cognitive impairment in elderly women: Results from the EPIDOS cohort. Age Ageing. 2013;42(2):196–202.
- Cawthon PM, Marshall LM, Michael Y, Dam TT, Ensrud KE, Barrett-Connor E, et al. Frailty in older men: Prevalence, progression, and relationship with mortality. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007;55(8):1216–23.
- Dufour AB, Hannan MT, Murabito JM, Kiel DP, McLean RR. Sarcopenia definitions considering body size and fat mass are associated with mobility limitations: The framingham study. Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(2):168–74.
- 31. Beaudart C, Zaaria M, Reginster J. Health outcomes of sarcopenia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0169548.
- 32. Schaap LA, Schoor NM Van, Lips P, Visser M. Associations of sarcopenia definitions, and their components, with the incidence of recurrent falling and

Ph.D. Thesis – A. Mayhew; McMaster University – Health Research Methodology

fractures: The Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. Journals Gerontol Med Sci. 2018;73(9):1199–204.

- 33. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Orav JE, Kanis JA, Rizzoli R, Schlögl M, Staehelin H, et al. Comparative performance of current definitions of sarcopenia against the prospective incidence of falls among community-dwelling seniors age 65 and older. Osteoporos Sarcopenia. 2015;26:2793–802.
- Falaschetti E, Laiho J, Primatesta P, Purdon S. Prediction equations for normal and low lung function from the health survey for England. Eur Respir J. 2004;23(3):456–63.

# Table 1. Strategies for operationalizing low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass

	Residuals for cut points developed in all participants	Residuals for cut points developed in participants aged 65 years and older		
Residuals calculated in all participants	Strategy 1	Strategy 2		
Residuals calculated after stratifying by age	Strategy 3	Strategy 4		

	Aged <65 years			Aged ≥65 years				
	Mal	es	Fema	ales	Males Females			
	Mean	SE or	Mean	SE or	Mean	SE or	Mean	SE or
	or N	%	or N	%	or N	%	or N	%
Total population	7286	48.7	7677	51.3	5376	51.5	5060	48.5
Age, years	55.8	5.4	55.5	5.4	73.0	5.6	73.0	5.7
Height, cm	176.6	6.7	163.1	6.3	173.9	6.7	159.9	6.3
Weight, kg	89.0	16.5	74.1	16.9	84.6	14.1	70.9	14.3
BMI, kg/m2	28.5	5.0	27.8	6.3	28.0	4.2	27.8	5.5
Total body fat mass, %	25.5	9.5	29.8	11.0	25.5	8.0	29.6	9.4
Appendicular lean mass,								
%	28.8	4.4	19.0	3.5	25.9	3.8	17.4	3.0
ALM/height ²	9.23	1.19	7.14	1.17	8.56	1.06	6.78	1.04
ALM/weight	32.72	3.37	26.09	3.25	30.90	3.12	24.75	2.86
ALM/BMI	1.02	0.14	0.70	0.11	0.94	0.12	0.63	0.10
Gait speed, meters per								
second	1.03	0.18	1.02	0.19	0.94	0.19	0.90	0.19
Grip strength, kg	47.3	9.1	28.6	5.6	39.4	8.5	23.6	5.2
Chronic conditions								
Heart disease ¹⁰	648	9.0	375	4.9	1403	26.6	772	15.5
Cardiovascular								
disease ¹¹	151	2.1	147	1.9	416	7.8	332	6.6
Diabetes	1108	15.3	1011	13.2	1296	24.2	876	17.4
COPD	259	3.6	341	4.5	348	6.5	408	8.1
Cataracts or								
glaucoma	707	9.9	984	13.1	2652	50.9	3027	61.7
Osteoarthritis	1070	14.9	1632	21.7	1379	26.4	2060	
Depression	937	12.9	1325	17.4	527	10.0	888	17.9
Dementia/Alzheimer's	-	0.1	0	0.1	22	0.4	17	0.2
Disease	7	0.1	9	0.1	22	0.4	17	0.3
Neurological	- 10	0.0		• • •			0.44	. – .
conditions ¹²	648	8.9	1678	21.9	376	7.0	864	
Osteoporosis	82	1.1	616	8.1	202	3.8	1223	24.5
Hypertension	2212	30.5	1884	24.6	2626	49.2	2463	48.9
Peripheral vascular								
disease	214	3.0	309	4.0	380	7.1	386	7.7
Kidney disease	2011	27.7	1960	25.6	1516	28.3	1444	
Cancer	478	6.6	768	10.0	1205	22.5	975	19.3

## **Table 2. Participant characteristics**

¹⁰ Heart disease includes angina, myocardial infarction, and heart disease

¹¹ Cardiovascular disease includes stroke and transient ischemic attack

¹² Neurological conditions include multiple sclerosis, epilepsy, migraine headaches, and Parkinson's Disease

Poor or fait self-rated								
health (%)	635	8.7	572	7.5	454	8.5	417	8.3
Smoking (%)								
Never	6483	89.4	6811	89.1	5056	94.7	4763	95.0
Former	160	2.2	157	2.1	45	0.8	42	0.8
Current	611	8.4	673	8.8	237	4.4	211	4.2
Household income (%)								
< \$20,000	242	3.4	329	4.5	179	3.5	423	9.4
$\geq$ \$20,000 < \$50,000	770	10.9	1200	16.5	1309	25.9	1872	41.8
$\geq$ \$50,000 < \$100,000	2114	30.0	2496	34.3	2235	44.2	1579	35.2
≥ \$100,000 <								
\$150,000	1862	26.5	1661	22.8	866	17.1	423	9.4
$\geq$ 150,000	2051	29.1	1593	21.9	472	9.3	185	4.1
PASE score	172.6	80.3	150.9	74.4	125.5	60.4	107.8	53.2

Ph.D. Thesis – A	. Mayhew: McMa	ster University – Health	Research Methodology





Figure 2. Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height² and fat mass in males by age group when the residuals are calculated after age stratification



# Figure 3. Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height² and fat mass in females by age group when the residuals are calculated in all participants



Figure 4. Residual values of muscle mass regressed on height² and fat mass in females by age group when the residuals are calculated after age stratification





#### Figure 5. Percentage of participants with low muscle mass adjusted for height and fat mass

- Strategy 1 individual residuals calculated in all participants, residuals for cut points calculated in all participants
- Strategy 2 individual residuals calculated in all participants, residuals for cut points calculated in participants aged 65 years and older
- Strategy 3 individual residuals calculated after age stratification, residuals for cut points calculated in all participants
- Strategy 4 individual residuals calculated after age stratification, residuals for cut points calculated in participants aged 65 years and older

#### **Chapter 6: Conclusions**

#### Overview

This thesis explored how the individual components of sarcopenia definitions including the combination of muscle variables used, the technique used to adjust muscle mass, and the cut offs for the muscle variables, impact the proportion of participants with sarcopenia, the agreement between definitions, and the association between sarcopenia and falls.

**Chapter 1** served as an introduction to the history of sarcopenia, how the expert group consensus definitions operationalize sarcopenia, and a literature review of previous studies investigating the prevalence of sarcopenia, agreement between sarcopenia definitions, and the association between sarcopenia and falls. **Chapter 2** is a systematic review and meta-analyses of studies assessing the prevalence of sarcopenia in community-dwelling older adults in population-based studies. The results showed that the prevalence of sarcopenia was markedly different depending on which definition of sarcopenia was used and inspired the research objectives of **Chapter 3** which investigates how using different sarcopenia definitions impacts the proportion of participants identified as sarcopenic and the agreement between definitions.

The details of how each of the studies operationalized sarcopenia collected as a part of **Chapter 2** was instrumental in creating the list of sarcopenia definitions that were used in **Chapters 3 and 4**. Several of the measurement strategies recommended by the expert group definitions were never or rarely used by the studies included in the systematic review and therefore were not incorporated into our list of sarcopenia definitions creating a more

parsimonious set of definitions. The systematic review revealed that a wide range of cut offs for low muscle mass were utilized which typically categorized between 10% and 40% of participants as having low muscle mass. Therefore, we used cut offs corresponding to the 10th, 20th, and 40th percentile of sex-specific muscle mass for participants aged 65 years and older.

**Chapter 3** showed that there was poor agreement between nearly all sarcopenia definitions. However, as there is no criterion standard for sarcopenia, it was impossible to compare the validity of the various sarcopenia definitions. In the absence of a criterion standard, construct validity is the best method of assessing the validity of the different sarcopenia definitions. To test the construct validity of the different sarcopenia definitions, we hypothesised that individuals with sarcopenia are likely to have an increased risk of falls in Chapter 4. While developing the low muscle mass cut offs using the residual technique in which appendicular lean mass is regressed on height and fat mass for our list of sarcopenia definitions for Chapters 3 and 4, we encountered problems with the percentage of participants with low muscle mass decreasing with age. A further investigation of the data revealed that when using the residual technique, the sample should not be stratified by age or other variables until after the residuals are calculated. To our knowledge, there is no guidance in the literature on how to handle stratification when using the residual technique. Chapter 5 provides a detailed discussion of the statistical rationale supporting our conclusion that residuals should be calculated prior to stratifying the sample by age.

This concluding chapter includes a discussion of the sarcopenia definitions included in the analyses, the key findings, clinical implications, strengths and limitations, and opportunities for future research.

#### Selection of sarcopenia definitions

Previous studies have investigated how the use of different sarcopenia definitions impacts the prevalence of sarcopenia, the association of sarcopenia with health, as well as assessing the agreement between definitions. However, these studies are limited by the selection of sarcopenia definitions. Each sarcopenia definition is made up of three components; 1) the combination of muscle variables; 2) the technique used to adjust muscle mass; and 3) the cut offs for each of the included variables. In most cases, existing sarcopenia definitions from the literature, including the expert group consensus definitions, vary based on more than one component. Therefore, in the previous studies it has been impossible to determine which of the three components is responsible for any observed differences in prevalence, the magnitude of the association of sarcopenia with health, and poor agreement between definitions. To accomplish the objectives of this thesis, we required a list of sarcopenia definitions that would allow for the impact of changing each of the three components of sarcopenia to be investigated individually. To understand how sarcopenia is defined in the literature, we reviewed the recommendations of the consensus definitions released by the four expert groups, as well as conducted a systematic review of studies investigating sarcopenia prevalence conducted in population-based samples of community dwelling older adults.  $^{1-5}$ 

Combination of muscle variables - Based on our review of the expert group consensus definitions and systematic review of the literature, three combinations of variables were identified as defining sarcopenia; 1) muscle mass only; 2) muscle mass and muscle strength; and 3) muscle mass and muscle function. The original European Working Group on Sarcopenia (EWGSOP) definition also included the combination of muscle mass with either muscle strength or muscle function. However, the revised EWGSOP definition recommends against this combination and it was therefore not included in our list of definitions. Three of the four expert group consensus definitions for sarcopenia recommend operationalizing muscle strength using grip strength and muscle function using gait speed. The original and the revised EWGSOP include a list of variables that can be used to operationalize muscle strength (grip strength, chair rise test, and knee strength) and muscle function (gait speed, Short Physical Performance Battery, Timed up and Go, and stair climb test). The measures other than grip strength and gait speed are rarely used in the literature with two or fewer studies included in our systematic review reporting using any of the variables and were therefore not incorporated in our list of sarcopenia definitions.

*Method of adjusting muscle mass* – Four different techniques for adjusting muscle mass are recommended by the expert group consensus definitions for sarcopenia and have been used in the literature. Three involve dividing appendicular lean mass by an anthropometric measure, either height squared, weight, or body mass index. The fourth technique calculates the residual values of appendicular lean mass regressed on height and fat mass. Appendicular lean mass was measured using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA). *Cut offs for muscle variables* – Based on the expert group definitions, grip strength cut offs for males include 30kg, 27kg, and 26kg, and for females 20kg and 16kg. For gait speed, the recommended cut offs are 1.0 meters per second or 0.8 meters per second. These cut offs were also used by the majority of studies included in our systematic review and metaanalyses and therefore were all incorporated into our list of sarcopenia definitions. There is less consensus on what cut offs are relevant for low muscle mass. Though many of the expert group consensus definitions for sarcopenia reference cut offs based on previous analyses, there is also a recommendation for studies to choose their own cut offs, often the lowest quintile of sex-specific values of the sample. In our systematic review of the literature, we observed that a wide range of cut off values are used. In the absence of any clear guidance about which cut offs are most appropriate for muscle mass, we chose to create three sets of low muscle mass cut offs for each method of adjusting muscle mass. The cut offs correspond to the 10th, 20th, and 40th sex-specific percentile values. These cut offs captured the range of cut offs referenced by the expert group consensus definitions and what is used in the literature.

*Creating the list of sarcopenia definitions* – Our final list of sarcopenia definitions fit into three categories based on which variables were used in the model; 1) muscle mass only; 2) muscle mass and grip strength; and 3) muscle mass and gait speed. Within each of these categories, sarcopenia was operationalized using each of the four techniques of adjusting muscle mass (height, weight, body mass index, and the residual techniques), using the 10th, 20th, and 40th percentile cut offs. For the definitions including grip strength, the 30kg, 27kg, and 26kg cut offs for males and the 20kg and 16kg cut offs were included for females. The

definitions including gait speed included the cut offs of 1.0 meters per second and 0.8 meters per second. The final list included 72 definitions for males and 60 for females that captured the range of methods of operationalizing sarcopenia recommended by the expert group consensus definitions.

#### **Key findings**

The results of this thesis showed that differences in both the combination of muscle variables used to define sarcopenia and the technique to adjust muscle mass resulted in limited agreement between sarcopenia definitions. In some cases, the differences in operationalizing sarcopenia changed the magnitude of the association between sarcopenia and falls. In males, sarcopenia definitions including grip strength were usually significantly associated with falls, but not definitions including gait speed. Of the definitions including grip strength, those that adjusted muscle mass for weight, BMI, and using the residual technique were associated with falls, but not those that adjusted muscle mass for height. The combination of poor agreement and differences in the strength of relationship of different sarcopenia definitions and health indicate that different sarcopenia definitions should not be used interchangeably as they often are in the literature.

There were several important findings based on the analyses of the strength of the association of sarcopenia with falls. Numerous definitions of sarcopenia were associated with falls in males, but none of the sarcopenia definitions were associated with falls in females. Two other studies that have conducted sex-stratified analyses have had similar findings showing no association between sarcopenia and falls in women. ^{6,7} A key sex-

based difference hypothesized to influence sarcopenia is the menopausal transition in females. The timing of menopause coincides with increases in sarcopenia and it is hypothesized that the hormonal changes associated with menopause are responsible for the changes in muscle mass.¹⁹ However, a recent systematic review and meta-analyses found that hormone therapy during menopause did not attenuate muscle mass loss regardless of type and dose of hormone therapy, time since menopause that hormone therapy was given, and duration of hormone therapy.²⁰ This suggests that menopause alone is unlikely to be the cause of differences in males and females. There is also evidence that the mechanisms leading to sarcopenia are different in males and females and may therefore impact the association of sarcopenia with health. Several studies have observed that reduced insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF1) is associated with sarcopenia components in females but not males. ^{21–23} IGF1 has anabolic properties and therefore and helps the body to synthesize muscle protein in response to stimuli like exercise.²⁴ However, at least one study has observed that IGF1 is associated with sarcopenia in males but not females ²⁵ There is also evidence that the effects of catabolic cytokines leading to increased muscle breakdown such as interleukin IL6 may have a greater impact in males than in females.²⁶

In addition to potential biological differences in males and females that may impact the relationship of sarcopenia on falls, it is also essential to explore gender differences. Being female is a well-documented risk factor for falls. ²⁷ In the CLSA sample, a greater percentage of females fell (13.0%) compared to males (9.5%). However, on average across all sarcopenia definitions, the percentage of fallers in the non-sarcopenic group was 9.0% for males and 12.7% for females, while the percentage of fallers in the sarcopenic group

was 16.4% for males and 14.1% for females. This shows that factors other than sarcopenia, appear to increase the risk of falls more greatly in females than in males. Examples of potential factors include physical activity and socioeconomic status. Across the lifespan, females are generally less physically active compared to males due a number of psychosocial factors which is associated with lower levels of physical function which may increase the risk of falls. ²⁸ Females are also more likely to have lower household incomes, which was observed in our sample with 29.9% of males and 49.3% of females aged 65 years and older reporting household incomes of less than \$50,000. Lower income is associated with poorer living conditions, less access to health care services, and fewer healthy lifestyle behaviours which are associated with an increased risk of falling. ²⁷ In our models assessing the relationship between sarcopenia and falls, we considered genderbased variables by adjusting for physical activity level and income. In addition to conducting sex-stratified analyses, future studies should carefully consider what other gender-based variables may be relevant to sarcopenia.

Our results also show that sarcopenia operationalized using muscle mass adjusted for height squared, was not significantly associated with falls or had a more modest relationship with falls compared to adjusting for weight, BMI, or using the residual technique in males when grip strength was included in the sarcopenia definition. ^{1,3,5} We hypothesize that this result is explained by appendicular lean mass adjusted for height mostly identifying individuals with normal body mass index values (between 18.5kg/m² and 24.9kg/m²) as sarcopenic. In contrast, adjusting for weight and body mass index, and the residual technique identified more obese individuals with body mass index values of 30kg/m² and greater as sarcopenic.

225

The co-existence of sarcopenia and obesity is called sarcopenic obesity and has previously been found to be associated with a greater risk of falling than sarcopenia or obesity alone. ^{8,9} Therefore, because individuals identified as sarcopenic using height adjusted muscle mass have on average a healthier body weight compared to the other muscle mass adjustment techniques, they have an attenuated risk of falling. Interestingly, we did not observe the same attenuation when sarcopenia was defined using muscle mass and gait speed instead of grip strength. A potential explanation is that body mass index is associated with increased grip strength in males. ¹⁰ Sarcopenia definitions capturing mostly obese sarcopenic males may identify individuals at higher risk of falling due to a larger difference in their actual versus expected grip strength compared to their normal weight peers. The attenuation effect was not observed in females. This may be because unlike in males, grip strength was not associated with falls in females. Therefore, selecting primarily normal weight versus obese participants based on the muscle mass adjustment technique does not have the same impact on the results as in males. Additionally, increased body mass index is not associated with increased grip strength in females which means that a single cut off for low muscle mass identifies the same extent of muscle loss in obese females as it does in normal weight females.¹⁰

Finding relationships between definitions utilizing the residual adjustment technique was of particular interest as this adjustment technique has the greatest face validity. ¹² The sarcopenia research community agrees that muscle mass should be adjusted for body size due to the strong correlation between these variables and the residual adjustment technique in may be the most appropriate as it simultaneously adjust for height and fat mass. ^{1,13}

Applying the residual adjustment technique is challenging, particularly when stratifying by age group, as the residuals developed in one group are not applicable to another unless the distribution of ALM, height, and fat mass are identical. Therefore, it is difficult to determine which cut points are appropriate for identifying low muscle mass. The results of this thesis provide guidance about how to apply this adjustment technique by showing that the residuals should be calculated prior to stratifying the sample by any variable. This allows for the residuals in each subgroup to be interpreted in the context of the whole sample. The odds of falling in males with sarcopenia was more than two times higher for many sarcopenia definitions compared to non-sarcopenic males. Though the magnitude of the odds ratio appeared clinically important, the AUC values were 0.56 and lower which indicated that knowing if a participant was sarcopenia only improved the AUC values by less than 0.04 for identifying people with at least one fall, further supporting that diagnosing sarcopenia has limited utility in identifying fallers.

#### **Clinical implications**

One of the primary goals of the sarcopenia research community is to have physicians to routinely diagnosis and treat sarcopenia. ¹⁴ The findings of this thesis highlight two important considerations that should be made before measuring sarcopenia becomes standard practice. Firstly, given the poor agreement between nearly all sarcopenia definitions observed in this thesis, it is unlikely that a treatment shown to effectively manage sarcopenia based on one definition would have the same effectiveness when an alternative definition of sarcopenia is utilized. It is unrealistic to expect clinicians to

understand the nuances of each expert group consensus definition and choose treatment plans accordingly. Secondly, the results of this thesis indicate that more work is required to determine the value of diagnosing sarcopenia clinically. Sarcopenia, regardless of how it was defined, was not significantly associated with falls in females. In males, several definitions were associated with a more than two times greater odds of falling. However, the AUC analyses revealed that at best, males who had fallen at least twice had a 0.56 probability of being sarcopenic. Given the modest AUC values and that sarcopenia is a relatively expensive diagnosis to make due to the cost of the technology required to validly measure muscle mass, analyses studying the cost-effectiveness of diagnosing sarcopenia as a prevention strategy for falls is required. Additionally, more studies assessing the AUC using the outcome of falls should be conducted to replicate the results of this thesis, as well as studies assessing the AUC for other health outcomes related to sarcopenia.

#### **Strengths and limitations**

The key strength of the projects included in this thesis was the technique used to develop the sarcopenia definitions. By reviewing the sarcopenia consensus definitions published by the four expert groups as well as conducting a systematic review of which sarcopenia definitions were used in prevalence studies of community-dwelling older adults, we developed a list of sarcopenia definitions that allowed us to systematically examine each of the individual components making up common sarcopenia definitions. The selection of cut offs for grip strength and gait speed were directly guided by the expert group consensus definitions. However, selecting cut offs for low muscle mass was challenging due to the wide range of values recommended by the expert group consensus definitions and that are observed in the literature. Given the large sample size of community-dwelling older adults available in the CLSA, we were able to create three sets of low muscle mass cut offs for each method of adjusting muscle mass corresponding to the 10th, 20th, and 40th percentile sex-specific values of adults aged 65 years and older in the CLSA. This technique offered two main advantages. Firstly, the cut offs capture the range of values recommended by the expert group consensus definitions and that are used in the literature. This translates into our results being generalizable to other studies. Secondly, this technique identified the same proportion of participants as having low muscle mass across the various adjustment techniques.

The use of data from the CLSA was another strength of this thesis. The CLSA is a national, longitudinal study that includes 51,338 community dwelling participants from the ten Canadian provinces. The 30,097 participants from the Comprehensive cohort who provided in-depth physical assessments at one of 11 Data Collection Sites located in seven provinces were eligible for the analyses. Comprehensive cohort participants were randomly selected from within 25 to 50km of each Data Collection Site. The randomly selected, community-dwelling sample increases the generalizability of the findings. In the analyses assessing the association between sarcopenia and falls, weighted data was utilized which further improves the generalizability of the findings to the Canadian population. Weighted data was not utilized for the agreement analyses as it would have resulted in altering the proportion of participants considered sarcopenic from the standardized values of 10%, 20%, and 40% and may have negatively impacted the agreement. The large sample sizes available for analyses, in particular for exploring the association between sarcopenia and

falls (n=10,008), was advantageous as it allowed for the analyses to be stratified by sex revealing that sarcopenia is associated with falls in males but not in females. Only two previous studies have stratified their analyses by sex, likely due to most studies having insufficient sample sizes. ^{6,7} The majority of sarcopenia definitions (n=22/26) studying the association between sarcopenia and falls in a recent meta-analyses were associated with an increased odds of falling, however, only 12 were statistically significant. ¹⁵ This is likely due to the small sample sizes available with most studies including fewer than 1000 participants. The small sample sizes and low event rates result in large confidence intervals which included an odds ratio of one. Though our sample was larger compared to previous studies, the number of participants with sarcopenia experiencing falls was small for some definitions and results for definitions using the 10th percentile cut offs for muscle mass should be interpreted with caution.

A major limitation of the projects in this thesis is that our results are only generalizable to participants of European ancestry. The literature has previously reported that muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical function vary by ethnicity, which was confirmed in the CLSA sample. ^{16–18} Males and females of European ancestry had significantly greater percent appendicular lean mass, faster gait speed, and greater grip strength compared to non-Europeans (**Table 1**). Due to the small sample size of adults aged 65 years and older that were not of European ancestry (n=235 males, n=139 females), it was not possible to further stratify the non-European ancestry group into more specific ancestry groups. Due to the differences in muscle mass, grip strength, and gait speed, Non-European participants were excluded from our analyses which limits the generalizability of our findings. A second

limitation is that our assessment of the construct validity of sarcopenia was limited to falls. We found that only certain sarcopenia definitions were associated with falls in males and that none of the definitions were associated with falls in females. While the results demonstrate that different sarcopenia definitions are not equally associated with falls and that there are important sex differences to take into consideration, a single project using one outcome is insufficient to establish construct validity. Falls are thought to be one of the most relevant health outcomes related to sarcopenia, but to fully assess construct validity, other important health outcomes such as function and disability also need to be assessed.

#### **Opportunities for future research**

The original objective of this thesis was to advance the goal of identifying a standard definition of sarcopenia that would be applicable to clinical settings. Though we feel this work has been an important step towards developing a unified definition, the results of the analyses also revealed that there may be limited clinical utility for diagnosing sarcopenia which requires further investigation.

The results of assessing the agreement between different sarcopenia definitions robustly showed that for almost all definitions, there is limited agreement and that both the muscle variables included in the definition as well as the techniques used to adjust muscle mass are sources of poor agreement. Several of the expert group consensus definitions recommend either multiple measures for the same muscle variable or two different muscle mass adjustment techniques. ^{1,2,4} The results of this thesis show that this practice results in poor agreement between definitions as well as differences in the strength of the association

of sarcopenia with falls in some cases. Therefore, any efforts to develop a standard definition of sarcopenia should be limited to definitions with only one method of operationalization.

The analyses of the association between sarcopenia with falls has several implications for future research. Most sarcopenia definitions including grip strength were strongly associated with falls in males, however none of the sarcopenia definitions were associated with falls in females. Based on these results, all future sarcopenia studies should conduct sex-stratified analyses in order to detect potential between sex differences. It is unclear why sarcopenia was associated with falls in males and not in females, though two previous studies have had similar findings. ^{6,7} To better understand the discrepancy of results in males and females for falls, future studies should focus on both sex and gender.

It is unclear if the difference in risk for males with sarcopenia versus females is specific to falls, or if sarcopenia is less strongly associated with multiple health outcomes in females. Similarly to falls, few studies have conducted sex-stratified analyses looking at outcomes such as functional disability which one study found decreased and one found similar odds of disability in females versus males, and only one study looked at sex-stratified analyses for mortality risk and found similar odds in males and females. ^{29,30} Further studies evaluating outcomes important to sarcopenia incorporating sex-stratified analyses are required to understand if sarcopenia is associated with health. Additionally, studies should be conducted in other ethnic groups to determine if different sarcopenia definitions better identify risk in participants of different ethnic backgrounds.

232

Future studies assessing the relationship between different sarcopenia definitions with other health outcomes are vital to developing a standard sarcopenia definition. In the context of sarcopenia, there is no criterion standard to measure sarcopenia against and therefore the definition with the strongest association with priority health outcomes should be considered the standard definition. Ideally, longitudinal analyses should be used. It would be more beneficial to predict people that will experience poor health caused by sarcopenia in the future allowing for early interventions to take place. For all analyses looking at the association between sarcopenia and health, the technique of looking at all combinations of sarcopenia variables and muscle mass adjustment techniques across a range of cut points should be utilized. This technique allows for an understanding of how changes in each of the individual components of the sarcopenia definition impacts the relationship between sarcopenia and health and allows the definition with the best construct validity to be identified.

Though several sarcopenia definitions were significantly associated with falls in males, conducting AUC analyses revealed that little knowledge about falls risk was gained by knowing the sarcopenia status of a participant. To our knowledge, only one previous study has assessed AUC values in the context of sarcopenia and the risk of falls. This study reported the change in AUC values of a model with just age predicting recurrent falls versus age and sarcopenia predicting recurrent falls. When sarcopenia was added to the model, the AUC improved between 0 and 0.01, depending on which definition of sarcopenia was used. ¹² Similarly to our study, this shows that knowing if someone was sarcopenic provided little information about if they would fall or not. All future studies assessing the

relationship between sarcopenia and any health outcome should calculate AUC values. If other studies show similarly low AUC values for a variety of health outcomes, the value of developing a standard sarcopenia definition for clinical settings should be assessed.

As the sarcopenia literature continues to evolve, if there are a subset of sarcopenia definitions which demonstrate adequate construct validity, efforts should be made to develop clinically relevant cut offs for muscle mass, grip strength, and gait speed. Previous studies have developed cut offs for grip strength which best categorized participants with limited physical function and muscle mass cut offs for muscle mass which categorize participants with low grip strength. ⁴ It is unclear if physical function is the correct outcome to use to develop cut offs, or if outcomes such as falls, disability, or mortality may be more appropriate. The sarcopenia research community should work towards a consensus of which outcomes should be used for developing cut offs. Consideration should also be given to developing cut offs using longitudinal data to determine values that predict poor outcomes rather than are associated with poor outcomes.

#### References

- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Bruyere O, Cederholm T, et al. Sarcopenia: Revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. Age Ageing. 2019;48:16–31.
- Cruz-Jentoft A, Baeyens J, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age Ageing. 2010;39(4):412–23.
- Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, Bhasin S, E MJ, Newman AB, et al. Sarcopenia: An undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: Prevalence, etiology, and conseuqences. International Work Group on Sarcopenia. Am Med Dir Assoc. 2011;12(4):249–56.
- Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, Cawthon PM, McLean RR, Harris TB, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. Journals Gerontol Med Sci. 2014;69(5):547–58.
- Chen L-K, Liu L-K, Woo J, Assantachai P, Auyeung T-W, Bahyah KS, et al. Sarcopenia in Asia: Consensus report of the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2014;15(2):95–101.
- 6. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Orav JE, Kanis JA, Rizzoli R, Schlögl M, Staehelin H, et al.

Comparative performance of current definitions of sarcopenia against the prospective incidence of falls among community-dwelling seniors age 65 and older. Osteoporos Sarcopenia. 2015;26:2793–802.

- Tanimoto Y, Watanabe M, Sun W, Sugiura Y, Hayashida I, Kusabiraki T, et al. Sarcopenia and falls in community-dwelling elderly subjects in Japan: Defining sarcopenia according to criteria of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2014;59(2):295–9.
- Scott D, Seibel M, Cumming R, Naganathan V, Blyth F, Le Couteur DG, et al. Sarcopenic Obesity and Its Temporal Associations With Changes in Bone Mineral Density, Incident Falls, and Fractures in Older Men: The Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project. J Bone Miner Res. 2017;32(3):575–83.
- Follis S, Cook A, Bea JW, Going SB, Laddu D, Cauley JA, et al. Association Between Sarcopenic Obesity and Falls in a Multiethnic Cohort of Postmenopausal Women. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2018;66(12):2314–20.
- Hardy R, Cooper R, Aihie Sayer A, Ben-Shlomo Y, Cooper C, Deary IJ, et al. Body Mass Index, Muscle Strength and Physical Performance in Older Adults from Eight Cohort Studies: The HALCyon Programme. PLoS One. 2013;8(2).
- Windham BG, Griswold ME, Wang W, Kucharska-Newton A, Demerath EW,
   Gabriel KP, et al. The Importance of Mid-to-Late-Life Body Mass Index
   Trajectories on Late-Life Gait Speed. Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.

2017;72(8):1130-6.

- Cawthon PM, Blackwell TL, Francisco S, Cauley J, Lee CG, Mc A, et al. An evaluation of the usefulness of consensus definitions of sarcopenia in older men: results from the observational Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) cohort study. J Am Diet Assoc. 2016;63(11):2247–59.
- Gallagher D, Visser M, De Meersman RE, Sepúlveda D, Baumgartner RN, Pierson RN, et al. Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: effects of age, gender, and ethnicity. J Appl Physiol. 2017;83(1):229–39.
- Vellas B, Fielding R, Bens C, Bernabei R, Cawthon P, Cederholm T, et al. Implications of ICD-10 for sarcopenia clinical practice and clinical trials: Report by the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research Task Force. J Frailty Aging. 2018;7(1):2–9.
- Yeung SSY, Reijnierse EM, Pham VK, Trappenburg MC, Lim WK, Carel GM, et al. Sarcopenia and its association with falls and fractures in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2019;10(3):485–500.
- Capistrant BD, Glymour MM, Berkman LF. Assessing mobility difficulties for cross-national comparisons: Results from the WHO Study on AGEing and Adult Health. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;62(2):329–35.
- 17. Leong DP, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, Lopez-jaramillo P, Jr AA, Orlandini A, et al.

Prognostic value of grip strength: findings from the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study. Lancet. 2015;386(9990):266–73.

- Silva AM, Shen W, Heo M, Gallagher D, Wang Z, Sardinha LB, et al. Ethnicityrelated skeletal muscle differences across the lifespan. Am J Hum Biol. 2010;22(1):76–82.
- Maltais ML, Desroches J, Dionne IJ. Changes in muscle mass and strength after menopause. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2009;9(October):186–97.
- Javed AA, Mayhew AJ, Shea AK, Raina P. Association Between Hormone Therapy and Muscle Mass in Postmenopausal Women A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(8):e1910154.
- 21. Taekema DG, Ling CHY, Blauw GJ, Meskers CG, Westendorp RGJ, De Craen AJM, et al. Circulating levels of IGF1 are associated with muscle strength in middle-aged- and oldest-old women. Eur J Endocrinol. 2011;164(2):189–96.
- Tay L, Ding YY, Leung BP, Ismail NH, Yeo A, Yew S, et al. Sex-specific differences in risk factors for sarcopenia amongst community-dwelling older adults. Age (Omaha). 2015;37(6):1–12.
- 23. Kostka T, Arsac LM, Patricot MC, Berthouze SE, Lacour JR, Bonnefoy M. Leg extensor power and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, insulin-like growth factor-I and testosterone in healthy active elderly people. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2000;82(1–2):83–90.

- Hameed M, Harridge SDR, Goldspink G. Sarcopenia and hypertrophy: A role for insulin-like growth factor-1 in aged muscle? Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2002;30(1):15–9.
- 25. Payette H, Roubenoff R, Jacques PF, Dinarello CA, Wilson PWF, Abad LW, et al. Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 and Interleukin 6 predict sarcopenia in very old community-living men and women: The Framinham Heart Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003;51(1237–1243):429–35.
- Mikó A, Pótó L, Mátrai P, Hegyi P, Füredi N, Garami A, et al. Gender difference in the effects of interleukin-6 on grip strength - A systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Geriatr. 2018;18(1):1–9.
- 27. Chang VC, Do MT. Risk factors for falls among seniors: Implications of gender. Am J Epidemiol. 2015;181(7):521–31.
- Orsega-smith E, Getchell N, Palkovtiz L. Does gender influence physical activity and psychosocial factors in older exercisers? A pilot study. Women Sport Phys Act J. 2012;21(1):61–70.
- 29. Tanimoto Y, Watanabe M, Sun W, Tanimoto K, Shishikura K, Sugiura Y, et al. Association of sarcopenia with functional decline in community-dwelling elderly subjects in Japan. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2013;13(4):958–63.
- Woo J, Leung J, Morley JE. Defining sarcopenia in terms of incident adverse outcomes. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015;16(3):247–52.

### Table 1. Mean values for anthropometric measures, grip strength, and gait speed in

European and non-European males and females

	Males					
	European (n=5376)		Non-E	uropean ( n =	p-value for t-test	
			235)		comparing	
	Mean	Standard deviation	Mean	Standard deviation	European versus non-European males	
Height, cm	173.9	6.7	169.4	6.7	< 0.0001	
Weight, kg	84.6	14.1	76.9	14.9	< 0.0001	
BMI, kg/m2	28.0	4.2	26.7	4.6	< 0.0001	
Total body fat mass, %	25.5	8.0	22.9	8.0	< 0.0001	
Appendicular lean mass, %	25.9	3.8	24.1	4.2	< 0.0001	
ALM/height2	8.56	1.06	8.36	1.21	0.0050	
ALM/weight	30.9	3.1	31.6	3.4	0.0011	
ALM/BMI	0.94	0.12	0.91	0.13	0.0166	
Gait speed, meters per second	0.94	0.19	0.89	0.21	< 0.0001	
Grip strength, kg	39.4	8.5	35.8	8.1	< 0.0001	
			Fe	emales		
	Europea	uropean (n=5060) Non-European (n = p 139)			p-value for t-test comparing	
	Mean	Standard deviation	Mean Standard deviation		European versus non-European females	
Height, cm	159.9	6.3	156.3	6.5	< 0.0001	
Weight, kg	70.9	14.3	67.5	14.9	0.0029	
BMI, kg/m2	27.8	5.5	27.6	5.8	0.3364	
Total body fat mass, %	29.6	9.4	28.0	9.4	0.0248	
Appendicular lean mass, %	17.4	3.0	16.7	3.4	0.0088	
ALM/height2	6.78	1.04	6.82	1.24	0.3536	
ALM/weight	24.8	2.86	25.0	2.9	0.1587	
ALM/BMI	0.63	0.10	0.61	0.10	0.0100	
Gait speed, meters per second	0.90	0.19	0.83	0.21	< 0.0001	
Grip strength, kg	23.6	5.2	22.6	5.1	0.0120	